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| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2019.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2019
was HK$2,221.9 million (2018: HK$3,291.7 million), a decrease of
33% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to HK$1,345.9 million (2018: HK$1,251.2
million), representing an increase of 8% from 2018.

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31st December, 2019 is higher than last year. Some material items are
as follows:

e an increase in the share of results of joint ventures of HK$546.5
million

e adecrease in turnover of HK$1,069.8 million resulting in a
decrease in gross profit of HK$384.4 million and hence decrease
in taxation of HK$260.7 million. The decrease in turnover
was caused by a decrease in recognised sales for completed
properties as there is no recognised sales for the newly completed
subsidiaries’” development projects during the year

e adecrease in fair value gains in respect of the Group’s investment
properties and transfer to investment properties of HK$82.1
million

Earnings per share amounted to HK$0.89 (2018: HK$0.83), while the
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$16.16 at the end of 2019 (2018: HK$15.85).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has declared an
interim dividend of HK20 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend)
for the year ended 31st December, 2019 (2018 interim dividend
(in lieu of a final dividend): HK20 cents per share) payable on or
around Tuesday, 28th April, 2020 to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Tuesday, 14th April, 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1)

(2)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in lieu
of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2019,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 9th April, 2020 to Tuesday, 14th April, 2020 (both
days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. In order for a Shareholder to
qualify for the interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend), all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited of Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 8th April, 2020.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2020 AGM”)

The 2020 AGM is scheduled to be held on Monday, Tst June,
2020. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2020 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 27th May, 2020 to Monday, 1st June,
2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for a
Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited of Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 26th May, 2020.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property investment
and property management on the mainland in the People’s Republic
of China, as well as property investment and property management in

Hong Kong.

An outline of our achievements in 2019 is described below:

(1)

Total attributable registered sales (including sales from joint
ventures and pre-sales of properties under construction) of the
Group amounted to 184,400 m? in 2019 (2018: 218,200 m?), a
decrease of 15%. A total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 487,600 m2 (2018: 371,100 m2) was completed,
an increase of 31% from last year. For 2019, a total attributable
GFA of approximately 947,800 m2 (2018: 1,036,100 m?) was
under construction at the year end, representing a 9% decrease
over the last year.

Rental income was up by 2% as compared with 2018.

Cyberpark: There are a total of 16 cyberparks over 12 cities. The
overall contribution of our Cyberpark unit has increased. Those
on the Pearl River Delta have been contributing most and we will
concentrate on developing new cyberparks and urban renewal
projects in this region where we have ample manpower and
marketing resources.

Phase 2 Part 1 and Part 2 of Tian An’s urban renewal project,
Tian An Cloud Park, in Huawei New City Area in the Longgang
District of Shenzhen, with GFA of approximately 456,100 m? was
completed in 2019 and the remaining part of Phase 2 with GFA
of approximately 143,300 m2 was completed in March 2020.

For the year ended 31st December, 2019, Asiasec Properties
Limited reported a profit of HK$58.0 million (2018: HK$112.7
million) attributable to its shareholders.
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PLANS FOR 2020

Objectives for 2020 are as follows:

(1) We will continue to adjust the quality of our landbank through
acquisitions and disposals and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

(2) We will adjust our products and pricing as well as the speed of
construction where necessary to assist the sale of our products in
the current environment.

(3) We hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-
utilising equity in order to increase our return on equity.

(4) We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

(1) The Group will retain certain development properties for
investment where we believe these properties will provide
increasing rental streams and corresponding increases in capital
value.

(2) We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark and
urban renewal units where we believe our products are welcomed
by the government and the local market.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In the beginning of 2020, the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) has
spread throughout countries across the world. In January 2020, the
China’s central bank had cut the reserve requirement ratio by 0.50%.
In addition, in March 2020, the US Federal Reserve also announced
quantitative easing (QE) and cut interest rates. These help to relieve
the pressure on the economy of China and the World. Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19, in short term, the property markets in China
and Hong Kong are expected to be weak. We expect the property
markets in China and Hong Kong will be stabilised in the second
half of 2020. We remain confident of the long term prospects of the
property market in mainland China and Hong Kong.
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B APPRECIATION

AABEROBHSEENEINBE—FE | would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and

BERBZBNREAEEZBE - WREHEHK  the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past

RHRBREF  UREFPZEE - year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to
the customers for their trust.

EERE Patrick Lee Seng Wei
ETRE Managing Director

B —_EZFFMAKRA Hong Kong, 6th April, 2020
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment, associate and joint venture investments in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) constituted the most significant source of
revenue to the Group. An analysis is as follows:

(1) Property developments

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and joint ventures) decreased
from HK$2,627.2 million to HK$1,543.1 million compared with
2018. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted of
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2), Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun
Life City (Phase 2) and Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1).

(2) Property investments
During the year, the rental income of the Group increased from
HK$502.8 million to HK$513.8 million, representing an increase of

approximately 2.2%.

(3) Associate and joint venture investments

2019 2018
FEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000

A ERE Contribution to profit:
JEAE & N ala Share of profit of associates 6,410 55,688
SR il Share of profit of joint ventures 925,304 378,774
931,714 434,462
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2. XFEHE 2. MAJOR SALES

2T —NF+_A=F+—HILFE A& For the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group's sales activities
BRHHEEFE(BIERAALDENEENE  (including sales from joint ventures and pre-sales of properties

BHMENTEES) T EEFAEUTIEE ¢ under development) were concentrated principally on the following
projects:
FEfh
HEREEE
Attributable
Gross Floor
Area sold
HE Project Jikes Use F 5 Km?
FHRZEAN(ZH) Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2) [EES Commercial 8,000
YR LB Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park [SES Commercial 1,500
(M —4t) (Phase 4 Part 2)
RERREER (DB K H) Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 5 and 6) &% Commercial 7,600
R MATEIEN Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park [ES Commercial 13,200
(—8R=H) (Phases 1 and 2)
BILRZEBEEH AL H Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park [EES Commercial 9,600
(—Hz=H5) Tian An Centre (Phases 1 to 3)
BMNEG R LR Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City £ Residential 15,500
(=#) (Phase 2)
FERLER(—H) Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1) = Residential 42,900
BEHRTEEN(—H) Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (Phase 1) [ Commercial 1,100
BINKZRIE(ZH) Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2) =E Residential 5,000
BINREL B Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park CEYE Commercial/ 4,300
(—HR=5) (Phases 1 and 2) = Residential
TRRZEIN Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park EEY4 Commercial/ 6,100
(—#) (Phase 1) (B Residential
BERERZHIEN Chongging Tian An Cyber Park [GE4 Commercial/ 16,800
(=8 —HRTHE) (Phases 1, 2 and 5) FE Residential
RERLZE (M) Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4) F= Residential 2,700
RERL S 2 Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City CEVE Commercial/ 14,800
(—Hk=1) (Phases 1 and 2) (Formerly known as = Residential
(AIBRRAREEE) Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port)
RAERL G Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park wE/ Commercial/ 4,300
(—HknH) (Phases 1 and 5) F= Residential
SERTHGH Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park CEYE Commercial/ 22,100
(—5) (Phase 1) = Residential
HIER Other projects FE Residential 8,900

184,400
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3.

LAND PORTFOLIO

The Group currently has a landbank of total gross floor area (“GFA”)
of approximately 9,005,300 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group
is approximately 5,770,500 m2, consisting of approximately 925,800
m2 of completed investment properties and approximately 4,844,700

4,844,700F52K) - EBMANFEYI - B - E  m? of properties under development and for development), located

JH BRI BN B &8 BN IR
R EE MM EERERE X

E=FE BB BMNER -

R-IEBE—NFE+_A=1+—H AEETEL+

AT

(1) REFPRIFZRYE

mainly in Shenzhen, Dongguan, Guangzhou, Foshan, Huizhou,
Shanghai, Wuxi, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing, Nantong, Huzhou,

Chongqing, Dalian, Changchun, Tianjin, Qingdao, Hong Kong,

Australia and United Kingdom.

consisted of the following:

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group’s land portfolio principally

(1) Properties under development and for development

AEEEMN

BHEEE

GFA

[EES S attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

& Region E 53K m? E K m? E 3K m?

R Southern China 504,700 593,100 1,097,800

EH Eastern China 1,216,100 516,000 1,732,100

#=if Northern China 506,700 346,500 853,200

M Australia 61,600 1,100,000 1,161,600

HET Total 2,289,100 2,555,600 4,844,700
2 EREIREYF (2) Completed investment properties

REBAENL

BEEE

GFA

[GES (e attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

i & Region K m? K m? F 53K m?

E=353 Southern China 28,600 232,800 261,400

FEH Eastern China 75,000 394,800 469,800

#ip Northern China 23,600 124,100 147,700

i Hong Kong 2,900 38,000 40,900

HE United Kingdom - 6,000 6,000

st Total 130,100 795,700 925,800
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group always maintains its liquidity at a healthy level with
a balanced portfolio of financial resources. As at 31st December,
2019, the total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$3,546.6 million (2018: HK$2,846.0 million),
providing sufficient working capital for the daily operations of the
Group.

As at 31st December, 2019, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$6,715.3 million (2018: HK$5,681.0
million), including current liabilities of HK$2,828.2 million (2018:
HK$2,278.8 million) and non-current liabilities of HK$3,887.1 million
(2018: HK$3,402.2 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over total
equity) of the Group was 12% (2018: 11%). The borrowings were
mainly used to finance the properties for development and properties
under construction. Increase in finance costs is mainly due to the
increase in borrowings.

Approximately 56% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since most of the investments and operation of
the Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 74% of the Group’s interest bearing borrowings bear interest
at fixed rates while the remainders are at floating rates.

Due to maintaining flexible and sufficient cashflow for acquiring
the potential quality landbank and accelerating construction works
for our development projects, the Group intends to obtain proper
bank borrowings with reasonable pricing terms. The management
continuously monitors its gearing ratio and raises new external
borrowings when necessary.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.
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Pledge on Assets

As at 31st December, 2019, bank deposits of approximately
HK$604.3 million, aggregate carrying values of property, plant
and equipment, development properties and investment properties
of approximately HK$54.5 million, HK$2,355.4 million and
HK$9,749.5 million respectively, were pledged for banking facilities
granted to the Group and a joint venture, mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers and guarantees in respect of utility supplies and
government authorities for the development works.

Contingent Liabilities

Two pieces of properties for development that are held by joint
ventures of the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$88.6
million and a property for development that is held by a subsidiary
of the Company with carrying value of approximately HK$37.9
million are under idle land investigation by the local authorities.
These pieces of lands owned by the joint ventures and the subsidiary
were held under several land use right certificates. The development
of more than half of the pieces of lands were either completed or
under development, except for the portions which are retained for
the remaining development of the whole projects. Further, property
for development that is held by another joint venture of the Group
with carrying value of approximately HK$433.0 million had been
identified as idle land by the local authority. The construction works
for the first phase of development has been completed this year
while the second phase of development has started during the year.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a portion of property
for development that is held by another subsidiary of the Company
with carrying value of approximately HK$12.4 million had been
identified as idle land by the local authority. The land owned by the
subsidiary has been developed by several phases and approximately
half of them were completed, except some phases which retained
for the remaining development of the whole projects. The Group is
currently working diligently to prevent the possible classification as
idle land for those under idle land investigation and taking remedy
action to prevent from prosecution for those had been identified
as idle land, including negotiating the feasibility of development
plans with local authorities. Based on legal advices, the Group has
assessed the issue and considers that the idle land confiscation can
be reversed. In the opinion of the Directors, the economic outflows
caused by above cases are not probable.
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As at 31st December, 2019, guarantees given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and bank facilities
granted to or utilised by the joint ventures as well as guarantees
granted in respect of utility supplies and government authorities
for the property development works amounted to approximately
HK$651.9 million. All the guarantees provided by the Group were
requested by banks and under normal commercial terms. Legal
actions were taken against the Group resulting in possible contingent
liabilities of approximately HK$429.0 million. The Group has assessed
the claims and obtained legal advices, and considers that either it is
too early to assess the range of possible liability at this stage or no
additional provision is required to be made.

PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS
Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m2 with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m2. The
Cyber Park consists of industrial buildings, office and commercial
buildings, cyber technology buildings, deluxe residential apartments
and multifunction clubhouse in an “Urban Industrial Complex”.

The lettable commercial GFA is 49,230 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern to
other cities, including Shenzhen Longgang, Dongguan, Guangzhou
Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Chongging, Tianjin and
Qingdao, so as to develop into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have
area upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will
increase accordingly.
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Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Huawei New City Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Shenzhen Tian
An Cloud Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000 m2 and
plan to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m2. The project
is planned to be developed into a combination of new technology
and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D, commercial,
residential and apartments properties. Phase 2 Parts 1 and 2 with a
total GFA of approximately 456,100 m? were completed in 2019.
Construction work of Phase 2 Part 3 with a GFA of approximately
143,300 m2 was completed in March 2020.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project
has a site area of approximately 118,856 m2 and a total GFA of
approximately 453,100 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An Cyber
Park is used to develop this project. Construction works of Phase
4 Parts 3 and 4 with a total GFA of approximately 139,400 m? are
expected to be completed in 2021 and 2022 respectively.

Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District of
Dongguan. Upon acquiring the land nearby the project in 2012, it
covers land area of approximately 278,987 m? with a total GFA of
approximately 823,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Construction work of Phase 7 with a GFA of approximately 90,000 m?
is expected to be completed in 2021.

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (45.05%)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site area of
approximately 172,796 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 524,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/industrial composite. Phase 2 Parts 1T and 3 with a
total GFA of approximately 231,600 m? were completed in 2019.
Construction work of Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately 180,400
m? is expected to be completed in 2021.
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Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (25 %)

Located in Songshan Lake of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 98,148 m? and a total GFA of approximately 176,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/industrial composite. Phase 1 Part 1 with a GFA of
approximately 84,800 m2 was completed in 2019. Construction work
of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 91,900 m? is expected
to be completed in 2021.

Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang ECO Town (27.03 %)

Located in Zhongtang Town of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 49,765 m? and a total GFA of approximately 149,300
m2. The project is planned to be developed into an intelligent
ecological town with a concept of intelligent interconnection and
ecological efficiency.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large-
scale project has a site area of approximately 513,088 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 712,500 m2. The park development consists of
industrial/office buildings, science and technology buildings, high-
class residential buildings and multi-function clubhouse. Construction
work of Phase 9 with a GFA of approximately 48,600 m? is expected
to be completed in 2021.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (50%)

Located in Guicheng District of Nanhai. Upon acquiring the land
nearby the project in 2012, it covers site area of approximately
165,252 m2 and a total GFA of approximately 479,300 m2. This
project is developing with the similar pattern as Shenzhen Tian An
Cyber Park and planned to be developed into a business district
with hotel/office buildings. Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
Tian An Centre Phase 3 Part 1 with a GFA of approximately 11,800
m? was completed in 2019. Construction work of Foshan Tian An
Nanhai Cyber Park Tian An Centre Phase 3 Part 2 with a GFA of
approximately 81,600 m?2 is expected to be completed in 2020.

Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Huiyang of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 321,447 m? and a
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had been
modified accordingly. Construction work of Phase 3 with a GFA of
approximately 165,600 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.
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Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the
oriental and international residents like to reside and adjacent to
the entrance of the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project
will be developed to a deluxe residential district with a site area of
approximately 339,083 m?2 and a total GFA of approximately 494,400
m2. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of approximately
159,400 m2 was completed.

Tian An 1000 Trees (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of
approximately 58,930 m2. This project has been re-planned as
a commercial and entertainment complex. Design planning has
been approved. Construction work of Western Phase with a GFA of
approximately 62,700 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (30%)

This project is located in Shanghai Songjiang Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 185,590 m2, and a total GFA of
approximately 296,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an industrial district. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 91,800 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (100%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District with a site area of
approximately 118,330 m? and a total GFA of approximately 236,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into an integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Phase 1 Part 1 with a GFA
of approximately 107,200 m? was completed and under leasing and
sales.

Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wujin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favorable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa districts in Changzhou.
The project occupies a site of approximately 473,082 m2,
Construction work of Phase 2 Part 3 with a GFA of approximately
23,800 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.
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Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 203,061 m2 and a total GFA of
approximately 526,500 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into a comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Phase 2 Part T with a commercial GFA of
approximately 58,900 m? was completed in 2019.

Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,204 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 363,700 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Phase 2 with a GFA of approximately 31,900 m2 was completed
in 2019. Construction works of Phases 3 and 4 with a total GFA of
approximately 80,900 m? are expected to be completed in 2020 and
2021 respectively.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area, with a site area of approximately 93,160 m? and
a total GFA of approximately 210,100 m2. The project is planned to
be developed into an integrated business park with comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential
composite. Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately 25,100 m2 was
completed in 2019.

Nanjing La Vita (60%)

This project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district,
with a site area of approximately 8,359 m2. Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 19,200 m2 and Phase 2 is still under the planning
and design stage. The project is planned to be developed into a
commercial building. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 19,200 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite. Phase 1 Part 2 with
a GFA of approximately 24,300 m? was completed in 2019.
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Huzhou Deqing Tian An Cloud Park (30%)

Located in Deqing District of Huzhou, with a site area of approximately
204,336 m? and a total GFA of approximately 459,800 m2. The
project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive commercial/
residential/educational composite.

Chonggqing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongging Tian An Cyber Park is located in commercial centre area
of Dadukou District, Chongqing, with a site area of approximately
357,768 m? and a total GFA of approximately 894,900 m2. The
project is planned to be developed into an integrated business park
with comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Construction work of Phase 5 with a GFA
of approximately 31,500 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in
Dalian Economic & Technical Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 85,800 m2 have been completed.
Master plan for Phase 3 is waiting for approval.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high-class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,192 m?, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 408,400 m? is being developed by stages. Construction
work of Phase 4 Part 3 with a GFA of approximately 57,500 m? is
expected to be completed in 2021.

Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City (50%)
(Formerly known as Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 581,907 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,300 m2. The project is planned to be developed into an
urban integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial
and residential composite. Phase 1 with a residential GFA of
approximately 60,800 m? was completed in 2019. Construction work
for Phase 2 with a residential GFA of approximately 63,900 m? is
expected to be completed in 2021.
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Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiqing District,
Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 312,279 m2 and a total
GFA of approximately 513,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into an integrated business park with comprehensive
science and technology buildings, commercial and residential
composite. Construction works of Phases 2, 5 and 6 with a total GFA
of approximately 239,100 m?2 are expected to be completed in 2020,
2020 and 2021 respectively.

Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Chengyang District, Qingdao, with a site
area of approximately 313,466 m? and a total GFA of approximately
522,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into an
urban integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 1 Part 2 at site A with a total GFA of
approximately 5,700 m2 was completed in 2019. Construction work
of Phase 1 Part 3 at site A and Phase 2 at site B with a total GFA of
approximately 90,300 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Australia
Western Australia Point Grey Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Western Australia, Point Grey, with a site area
of approximately 2,751,864 m2 and a total GFA of approximately
1,442,000 m2. The development application for stage 1 has been
approved. The project has also obtained the Commonwealth &
State Government bilateral approvals for the marina and terrestrial
developments and is currently seeking development approval to
commence the marina early works. The State Government has
now granted an extention to the time limit to achieve substantial
commencement.

New South Wales Enfield Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Enfield, Sydney, New South Wales, with a site
area of approximately 12,619 m? and a total GFA of approximately
10,600 m2. The application of redevelopment the site into residential
accommodation has been approved. The project is planned to be
developed 71 townhouses on the site and the application has been
submitted.

New South Wales Lennox Site (70%)

This site is located in Parramatta, Sydney, New South Wales, with a
site area of approximately 7,048 m? and a total GFA of approximately
67,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed of approximately
425 residential apartments together with commercial/retail space and
car-parking.
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2. FEYPERE
EBRZHD (98%/100%)
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2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%/100%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m2. 18,320 m? were sold, 1,620 m2 were self-occupied and
the remaining GFA of 28,970 m?2 have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is more than 75%.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 262 apartments with
68,660 m?; (2) a clubhouse with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?; and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 980 m2. This project is a leased property. Most of the tenants are
overseas top management from multinational companies.

Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, the most
flourishing shopping district in Nanjing City. The building links up to
the subway station. The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,400 m?
have been leased to a department store. The office building with a
GFA of approximately 10,700 m? have been transferred to property
investment.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m2. Around
half of the total number of units have been sold and the remaining
units kept for leasing purpose.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The total
GFA is 67,210 m2. This 52-storey building has ever been the tallest
landmark building of Dalian. The GFA of 14,790 m? were sold and
the remaining GFA have been transferred to property investment.
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BEPO (74.96%/59.97 %/29.99%)
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REAFESEE (100%)
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Harbour Crystal Centre (74.96%/59.97 %/29.99 %)

Located at Tsimshatsui East, the heart of Kowloon, the shopping
arcade with a GFA of approximately 13,700 m? and car parking
spaces with a GFA of approximately 2,340 m?2 as investment properties
recorded an average occupancy of 99% and the performance of the
rental income was satisfactory.

Harbour Industrial Centre and Oceanic Industrial Centre (24.99%)

The two industrial buildings with a total industrial and godown GFA
of approximately 93,630 m2 and 133 car parking spaces located at Ap
Lei Chau recorded an average occupancy of 56%. With the opening
of South Island Line of MTR, the region becomes more accessible.

Queen’s Centre (37.48%)

Located at Wanchai, a prime district of Hong Kong Island, the total
retail and office spaces of approximately 2,550 m? recorded an
average occupancy of 93%.

Wah Shun Industrial Centre (37.48%)

An industrial building located at Yau Tong with a total industrial GFA
of approximately 12,470 m? and 10 car parking spaces recorded an
average occupancy of 89%.

The Redhill Peninsula (24.99%)

It was built at a round-shaped peninsula situated in Southern District
of Hong Kong towards Tai Tam Harbour and Turtle Cove comprising
of townhouses and apartments. The remaining 39 houses are being
launched for both sale and leasing in batches in the year of 2020.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Dongguan Long Island Golf & Country Club (75 %)

It was built on a site area of approximately 999,990 m? having a 27-
hole golf, driving range, club houses, members’ lodge and other
amenity facilities. The golf course is currently in operation. The club
house is under renovation and is expected to be completed in the
second half of 2020.

South Place Hotel London (100%)

Situated at 3/4 South Place, London, the United Kingdom. The
property leased to South Place Hotel Limited comprises an 80
bedroom luxury boutique hotel with ancillary facilities arranged over
basement, ground and seven upper floors with a total net internal area
of approximately 6,050 m2.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BRM  EEIRE £
TREEER BEER REER  FEEsR
Buildable HEEE Completed  Gross Floor Interest
EEE% tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhRm Fhkm  Fhkm
RIREEA GE HBETHE
AT EHE - RE 138,161 Commercial 863,100 Phased 769,800 113,300 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Construction
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen Dormitory 130,400  Stage 100,400 30,000 50%
1,013,500 870,200 143,300
FIRREHNES G ABBTER
AT EHE - REILE 118,85 Commercial 453,100 Phased 313,700 139,400 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North,
Longgang District, Shenzhen
RERRREH S ABETER
Rm - HHE REHIR 278987 Commercial 739,100 Phased 418,300 90,000 39%
Dongguan Tian An = Construction
Cyber Park Residential 84,100  Stage 84,100 - 39%
No. 1, Huangjin Road, -
Nancheng District, Dongguan 823,200 502,400 90,000
REBHAEYEY GEd ABBTER
R BEE RO 172,79 Commercial 524,700 Phased 344300 180,400 45.05%
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Yan Tian Village, Fenggang Town,
Dongguan
RERNFREAEEE G HBETRE
R DB TR TRERIE 98,148 Commercial 176,700 Phased 84,800 91,900 25%
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Construction
Cloud Park Stage
North of South Industrial Road,
Songshan Lake North Industrial City,
Dongguan
RERERLERLR G G B8R
REM - EE - EEH 49765 Commercial 149300 BRE - - 2703%
Dongguan Tian An Zhongtang Planning &
ECO Town Design Stage
Chajiao Village, Zhongtang Town,
Dongguan
ENRREEHRNGE S HEHTRR
BT - FEBE - ARH7305 513,088 Commercial 667,200 Phased 571,500 48,600 50%
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu = Construction
Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential 45300  Stage 45,300 - 50%
No. 730, Yingbin Road,
Panyu District, Guangzhou 712,500 616,800 48,600
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
BRR  EEIR &9
TREEEE BEE®  BEER  FFEER
Buildable EREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
BEEH HEEE B Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
ThHRm Fhkme Thkm  Fhxm
BUREERE Ed ABTES
fhi - B8R - TR 165252 Commercial 479300  Phased 397,700 81,600 50%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Construction
No. 1, Jianping Road, Nanhai District, Stage
Foshan
ENERAREN BERAE PEBTRE
B ZRE - JokE 321447 Commercial & 783,000 Phased 184,800 165,600 100%
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Residential Construction
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, Huizhou Stage
LEXZEE frx PEETIRE
b BE - EER 339,083 Residential 421,800  Phased 140,600 - 99.99%
TEEDT S WEREE Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & Commercial 72,600  Stage 18,800 - 99.99%
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Caohao Road, -
Minhang District, Shanghai 494 400 159 400 _
RZTH G BT
b ERE - Bl 58930 Commercial 176,900 Phased - 62,700 100%
Tian An 1000 Trees —— Construction
Changhua Road, Putuo District, Shanghai Stage
LERERR MBREE IS
L SEAR10265 4203 Ancillary & 500 Construction - 500 100%
Shanghai Central Garden Commercial — Stage
No. 1028, Jinxiu Road, Shanghai
J:?E?{M?E?ﬁ@ \ B EEIRE
L IR NITIEE 185590  Commercial 296,900  Phased - 91,800 30%
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu — Construction
Songjiang Industrial Zone, Stage
Songjiang District, Shanghai
EgREER i ABHTES
BT BENE - 2HKE0H 118330 Commercial 236,700  Phased 107,200 - 100%
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park — Construction
No. 228, Linghu Road, Wuxi New District, Stage
Wuxi
ENRZHE s HENTRG
BT RER - BREIR 473,082 Residential 137,900 Phased 93,000 23,800 100%
Changzhou Tian An Villa — Construction
No. 2, Fengyuan Road, Wujin District, Stage
Changzhou
EMRREEE [ SERIRG
B RERFRAERARE - 203,061 Commercial 338,800  Phased 223,200 - 50%
B 5605 EE Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 187,700 Stage 187,700 - 50%
No. 588, Wunan Road, -
Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, 526,500 410,900 -

Changzhou
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

xR HRIE KB
TREAER BEER  BEER  FER
Buildable BREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
EEE% tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
ThRm? THAm? Thxm  FhHAm
TEXZHES EEH PEMIER
B RINAESSH 173,204 Commercial 228,700 Phased 81,100 42,300 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park € Construction
No. 55, Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000 Stage 96,400 38,600 50%
363,700 177,500 80,900
HRARHEN [5E AEBIER
BRI LER 93,160 Commercial 210,100 Phased 111,700 - 100%
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Construction
Guanghua Road, Nanjing Stage
BRRIE [5E AEBIER
BRM ZHE  KI1K 8359 Commercial 19200 Phased - 19,200 60%
Nanjing La Vita Construction
Changjiang Road, Xuanwu District, Stage
Nanjing
HERZEEN Bx DB IRE
BiRm - KERRE - RYREH 160367 Commercial 398,200 Phased 114,000 - 100%
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Construction
South of Changping Road and East of Stage
Yongtong Road, Nantong
ANBRRRER [5E REIR
AT - ERE - LE - 2B 204336 Commercial 263200  FEER - - 30%
Huzhou Deging Tian An Cloud Park [f= Planning &
Jin E Shan Village, Qianyuan Town, Residential 196,600 Design Stage - - 30%
Degjing District, Huzhou -
459,800 - -
ERRZYEY 5 HEmIER
R AEDE FER 357,768 Commercial 586,100 Phased 262,800 - 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park fF= Construction
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Residential 308,800  Stage 85,600 31,500 50%
Chongging -
894,900 348,400 31,500
REXZERIE fFE P IRE
A& GERRNRLE - ENER 58,652 Residential 101,300 Phased 85,800 - 60%
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Construction
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical Stage
Development Zone, Dalian
RERZE-H AEREE PEBIRR
REM  BAKE6615H 414,192 Commercial & 408,400  Phased 350,900 57,500 100%
Changchun Tian An City One Residential Construction

No. 661, Guigu Street, Changchun

Stage
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BxR  EERIR &8
TRREER BEER  REER iR
Buildable EREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
BEEH HEEE B Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
Fhkm Fhkm? Thkm  FHAm
RERZSBESH A% AHEIRE
(HBRERZESE) Commercial 934,100 Phased 185,800 - 50%
K2 RER  ZELKIFE 581,907 f%® Construction
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City Residential 385200  Stage 60,800 63,900 50%
(Formerly known as Tianjin Tian An -
Intelligent Port) 1,319,300 246,600 63,900
Jinhan Gonglu No.2 Bridge,
Dongli District, Tianjin
FEREHEN G ABBTES
XRET - BEE  RLHIR 312279 Commercial 215,900 Phased 175,100 40,800 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park fr= Construction
No. T Tianan Road, Xiging District, Tianjin Residential 297,100 Stage 98,800 198,300 50%
513,000 273,900 239,100
EEREBES G AETRE
BE™  HE - Bhko8H 313,466 Commercial 326,000  Phased 103,600 90,300 50%
Qingdao Tian An Cyher Park jied Construction
No. 88, Chunyang Road, Residential 194,900  Stage 158,500 - 50%
Chengyang District, Qingdao -
522,900 262,100 90,300
EZM Point Grey #1 ¥ REk
A2+ Point Grey + Carrabungup Road * 2,751,864 Residential 1372,000 GHatheg - - 76.70%
HE5138 139 67211132 WERES Planning &
Western Australia Point Grey Site Ancillary & Design Stage
Lots 138, 139, 672 & 1132, Commercial 70,000 - - 76.70%
Carrabungup Road, Point Grey, -
Western Australia 1,442,000 — -
FRAENERTELA e S8R
HEERBGTN - B - BHEER 12619 Residential 10,600  REHER - - 7670%
Mitchell Street 4% Planning &
New South Wales Enfield Site Design Stage
4 Mitchell Street, Enfield, Sydney,
New South Wales
HEAAY Lennovt AxREE RER
SEABSN - B - BREE - 7048 Commercial & 67900  FitBE - - 70%
HEHIIIA-339% RIER|EE12-145 Residential Planning &
New South Wales Lennox site Design Stage

12-14 Phillip Street and 331A-339
Church Street, Parramatta, Sydney,
New South Wales

Hit - ERBBE-E-NAF+-AZ+—BZ2ERRR -

Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2019.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

SEEGEEEE

BEEE SEFE#E  Gross Floor Area BHETIEH
HE &% Gross Interest Held Attributable Estimated
Project Name Floor Area by the Group to the Group Completion Year

F5 Km? F7Km?
FINRREAR(ZH=#) 143,300 50% 71,600 2020
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2 Part 3)
AR LB E SR (M =3t kmit) 139,400 50% 69,700 2021 & 2022
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (Phase 4 Parts 3 and 4)
RERREHH (L) 90,000 39% 35,100 2021
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 7)
FREEALEEN (=) 180,400 45.05% 81,200 2021
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3)
REBERAREAEXE (M=) 91,900 25% 23,000 2021
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 1 Part 2)
EMReEBSaE(LE) 48,600 50% 24,300 2021
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (Phase 9)
BILRZREHBEH AL L (ZH ) 81,600 50% 40,800 2020
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Tian An Centre (Phase 3 Part 2)
EMERALER(ZH) 165,600 100% 165,600 2020
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 3)
RETH(FER) 62,700 100% 62,700 2020
Tian An 1000 Trees (Western Phase)
FRRZREE(ZH) 500 100% 500 2020
Shanghai Central Garden (Phase 3)
LBNIXZEA(—H) 91,800 30% 27,500 2020
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (Phase 1)
FINRZRNE(ZH=4) 23,800 100% 23,800 2020
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 3)
TRAZHHEM (AR ME) 80,900 50% 40,500 2020 & 2021
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 3 and 4)
BRRIg(—H) 19,200 60% 11,500 2020
Nanjing La Vita (Phase 1)
BEERRZYHH(RE) 31,500 50% 15,700 2020
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 5)
REALZE M (WH=4) 57,500 100% 57,500 2021
Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Part 3)
RERRZEREZW(ZH) AIBRERLZEER) 63,900 50% 32,000 2021
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City (Phase 2)
(Formerly known as Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port)
KERLZHEH (-8 B8Rk AH) 239,100 50% 119,600 2020 & 2021
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 2, 5 and 6)
FERREBH(—H=# R _H) 90,300 50% 45,200 2020
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Part 3 and Phase 2)
By
Total: 1,702,000 947,800

Wiz FRIBE-ZE—-hE+-A=+—B2&E4ES - Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2019
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

1. W%
PROPERTY
BE SEES
nE BEE® BEER
EHHE Gross &8 Gross
Gross  Floor Area of Fifk#i  Floor Area
L Floor Area  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable ~ fii%
Property Name of Property Space by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FIrKm? FI7km2 FIrKm2
RYIRZEIBH
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park
- RYIRZ AR B RS — 10,540 - 50% 5270 BERMLE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
- RYRZ IR RS — 4,400 - 50% 2200 BEERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
- R BBERAE 20,530 - 50% 10260 HEERHAE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
- MBERZHRAXEAR 13,760 - 50% 6,880 HEERBNE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park Commercial and office
ABH/ERAE 890 - 100% 890 B
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Office
S S Eil YN 850 - 100% 850  MRE
Shenzhen Tian An International Building Office
FY R 2,190 - 100% 2190  fE%E
Shenzhen Jun An Garden Residential
RYRZRE 22,210 - 100% 220  {FE
Shenzhen Tian An Park Place Residential
RIXZER 133,130 - 50% 66,570  HERBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Commercial and office
RXZER 2,910 - 50% 1460  fE
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Residential
RYX LR BB 3,300 - 100% 3300 #EE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial
RYIRZ E R 34,950 - 50% 17480  ARRHLE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial and office
A ABRERRSAEEILE 170 - 74.96% 130 =%
Shenzhen Juning Villa, Xili Golf Course Residential
REAZHIEY, 30,490 - 39% 11,800 &%
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
RERLHBR 500 - 39% 200 f#E
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park Residential
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

BE SEES
n= BEER BEER
EHEE Gross 58 Gross
Gross  Floor Area of Fiik#s  Floor Area
MELR Floor Area  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name of Property Space by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FJ5Km? FrAm? FJrAm?
HEEEARYER 5,250 - 45.05% 2370 EE
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
RERERLZEAELE 12,490 - 25% 3120 EXE
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park Commercial
BMXZ BB RE 123,910 - 50% 61,950  EX
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park Commercial
EMAZEBDHERRE 4,720 - 50% 2360 %
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential
BpIL R LR R BB 27,230 - 50% 13,620 %
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Commercial
BMBHEALRES 26,160 - 100% 26160 %
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Commercial
LBRZZRE 1,570 - 99.99% 1570 #%
Shanghai Tian An Place Commercial
DERZHL 22,350 - 98% 21,900  ERRBLE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial and office
LERZRD 6,620 - 100% 6,60 B
Shanghai Tian An Centre Office
LERERRARBNAE 68,660 - 100% 68,660 X%
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
LEERE 1,520 - 99% 1500  7EE
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
LERIERIE 2,800 - 100% 2,800 fE
Shanghai Elegant Garden Residential
S VSN | 1,420 - 95% 1350  #iniE
Wauxi Tian An Building Office
EHLLTS 2,830 - 95% 2690  EE
Wuxi Redhill Peninsula Commercial
EHRLERS 80,590 - 100% 80,590 B
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Commercial
FMFAHEE 9,090 - 100% 9,00 BEX
Changzhou New City Garden Commercial
FMRZEEY, 45,420 - 50% AT - F
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TRRL B 26,820 - 50% 13410 E%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

BE SEES
LIES BEER BEER
BHEE Gross ] Gross
Gross  Floor Area of Fifk#s  Floor Area
NEER Floor Area  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable ~ fi%
Property Name of Property Space by the Group  to the Group  Use
FJ5Km? FJrKm? FJ5Km?
TBRLHER 5,800 - 50% 2900 %
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Residential
EEvSEil YN 77,100 - 100% 77,100  EERRHAE
Nanjing Tian An International Building Commercial and office
ARRZBES 68,080 - 100% 68,080 ¥
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ABNEBAE 1,450 - 100% 1450 HRE
Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building Office
[ 1,300 - 100% 1300 #E%E
Nantong Jin Xiu Court Commercial
ARAZIE 6,120 - 100% 6120 HE
Nantong Tian An Garden Commercial
HREAREEY, 64,270 - 100% 64270 EE
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERRLHBES 30,110 - 50% 15060 FEZ
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERXRZEHEY, 1,280 - 50% 640 %E
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Residential
T RALR 22,170 - 100% 2,170 EE
Beijing Park Apartments Residential
ERBEAH 560 - 100% 560 fEE
Beijing Lakeside Garden Residential
ERERFO 270 - 74.96% 200 fFE
Beijing Yintai Center Residential
ERIFHELES 260 - 74.96% 190 @H%
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square Commercial
REXZERAR 52,420 - 100% 52,420 HDIE
Dalian Tian An International Tower Office
REXRLBETLE 290 - 60% 170 f%
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Residential
RERLZEH 21,210 - 100% 21210 &%
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial
RERZZEESH (HRAERLERR) 25,540 - 50% 12,770 7%
Tianjin Tian An Xiangyu Smart City Commercial

(Formerly known as Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port)
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

BE SEES
n= BEER BEER
EHEE Gross 58 Gross
Gross  Floor Area of Fiik#s  Floor Area
MELR Floor Area  Car Parking Interest Held  Attributable A%
Property Name of Property Space by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FJ5Km? FrAm? FJrAm?
RERLHER 42,950 - 50% 21480 FEE
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
EEAZHEY, 32,140 - 50% 16070 7%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
EBAZHEY, 980 - 50% 490 =
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Residential
FABRTL 12,880 - 59.97% 7720 %
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
FABETL 830 - 29.99% 250 HE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
FABELIETL 24,720 - 24.99% 6180 I%¥
Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre Industrial
BRBEIETL 68,910 - 24.99% 17220 I%
Hong Kong Oceanic Industrial Centre Industrial
BABRAETL 2,550 - 37.48% %0 HE
Hong Kong Queen’s Centre Commercial
BRERIAE 12,470 - 37.48% 4670  I%
Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Building Industrial
BB S 10,100 - 24.99% 2520  fEE
Hong Kong Redhill Peninsula Residential
BAERFL 1,280 - 74.96% 9%0
Hong Kong Billion Centre Commercial
BAXE 210 - 74.96% 160 %
Hong Kong The Wings Residential
EANE 220 - 74.96% 160 %
Hong Kong Forfar Residential
EABEYS 100 - 74.96% 80 fEE
Hong Kong South Horizons Residential
CEGs 6,050 - 100% 6,050 A5
South Place Hotel London Hotel
1,344,890 - 925,830




4

MERBEREESR

FEhEREERAT

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

y
r}.

2019445

33

BE SEES
LIES BEER BEER
BHEE Gross ] Gross
Gross  Floor Area of Fifk#s  Floor Area
MELT Floor Area  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable ~ fi%
Property Name of Property Space by the Group  to the Group  Use
FJ5Km? FJrKm? FJ5Km?
LERZHL-BRE - 7,780 98% 7620  EE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LEXRZH -8R - 330 100% 330 EE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERZREE-BRE - 2,410 100% 2410 EE
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERREXBNLAE-EE - 2,510 100% 2510 EE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERRBLRNRE - 10,600 - 100% 10,600  &Ff
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Clubhouse Clubhouse
EHAZSRE - 3,670 - 100% 3,670 B
Wuxi Tian An Manhattan, Clubhouse Clubhouse
ERARTLO-ERE - 2,340 74.96% 1760  BE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
14,270 15,370 28,900
Mt . ERBE-ZZF-NAF+-A=+—RAZEHRER - Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2019.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of
the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report.
The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
31st December, 2019, except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reasons for such deviations as explained below. The
Board will review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.
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THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eleven directors (“Directors”) in total,
with five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:

Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)

Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau

Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 76 to 81. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Board, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has had four INEDs representing not less than one-third of the
Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence and
considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, four Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meeting during the year ended 31st
December, 2019 are set out below:
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EEE25) THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

EESEFE) Board Process (continued)

e/ BIEEZRY
Number of meetings attended/held

FHMEEE ERZEEE  RRAE
Remuneration Audit General
Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee Meeting

YTES: Executive Directors:

RIEW (FIZ/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 3/4 0/1
TRE(EFHLE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 4/4 0/1
BH(5/ER) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 3/4 01
L2 Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4 11
HEE Tao Tsan Sang 4/4 11
FHTES: Non-Executive Directors:

ZRE(FE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 4/4 11
BHE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 4/4 2/2 0/1
BYFHTES: INEDs:

i Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 4/4 11 2/2 0/1
S HE Jin Hui Zhi 4/4 17 2/2 0/1
MEL Ngai Wah Sang 4/4 ”n 2/2 0/1
BER Lisa Yang Lai Sum 4/4 1”1 2/2 11

KEFGRTXERBCFETZAIEREEE  The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
RN 2FLERE  2FNTHEE F covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
EREREFZTE2MEGZIERZEE2E  budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’
) BRANLERS - ®EER - UKEM  appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations
BEABELVBEEE - EESCHHAFEBE  made by the Nomination Committee), material contracts and
ZRTITHERAS - WHHITEEEG(HEA  transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant
BRTEMBESE)ET EE - EFEEK policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
AAREREZBEE D HIELIWIAEZEES]  responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
o WK BESESEDRG NER - UHER  supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
HEBE IR TAR BI SR — 2K written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board and
management of the Company have been formalised and set out in
writing and will be reviewed and updated by the Board from time
to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, a written procedure has been established since June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.
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EECRHEEXRR Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

EREEXRRTE  EERhLFEIHELAES For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’

AARNREEEH L 2 X REBERIN  EEL  attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the

B 2EEEENT management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

SRBRERBRED
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HRERESEIEH
a1V 1)V
#E/83
Attending trainings/
MR ERERN briefings/seminars/
Reading Z#ER  conference relevant to
Name of Directors Regulatory Updates Site Visit Directors’ duties
HITES: Executive Directors:
REW (EIL/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) v /
FRB(EEFELE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) v/ /
Ew(5#E%) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) v v/ v/
B Edwin Lo King Yau v v
gL Tao Tsan Sang v v
FHTES: Non-Executive Directors:
ERE(LE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) v v
BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi v /
BUFHTEE: INEDs:
Ly Francis J. Chang Chu Fai v / v
ES Jin Hui Zhi v v/
e Ngai Wah Sang / /
BER Lisa Yang Lai Sum / / /
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in December
2013 which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board
diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.
Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the
Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of
the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005, and subsequently updated in April 2012 and
January 2019.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations
to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible for
re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
(including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years commenced
from 1st January, 2019.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following AGM and in
both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Messrs. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Jin Hui Zhi and Ngai
Wah Sang, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, being
an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the
nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. The
objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes to
the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, a
formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in
place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director
(to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it
arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by
the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by
the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity
of the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of
the responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and the
procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2019, no Nomination Committee meeting
was held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
way of circulation. In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2019 AGM and 2020 AGM;

(ii) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the independence of each INED; and

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
extension of the retirement age under the employment contract of
the Managing Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Messrs. Francis J.
Chang Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Jin Hui
Zhi, Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above deviation are summarised
as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
control senior management and thus must be able to control their

compensation; and

(iii

=

there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2019 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2019. In 2019 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended
31st December, 2018;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2018 and the increment in
salary for the year 2019 of the Executive Directors; and

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
Directors’ fee for the year 2019.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service
contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements whereas
detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors during the
interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also
disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 16th August,
2019. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the “Employee and Training” section contained in the Directors’
Report on page 96.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code,
but with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

(iii) ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive

Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.

-
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the
code provision) whether management has performed its duty to have
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as
this would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either
to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors
but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not
in a position to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced but it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2019 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2019. In 2019
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the interim results review for the six
months ended 30th June, 2019 (“2019 Interim Review”) and the
final audit for the year ended 31st December, 2019 (“2019 Final
Audit”) of the Group;

(ii) reviewed the independent review report/audit completion
reports/audit progress report from the external auditor and the
management’s response in relation to the final audit for the year
ended 31st December, 2018, 2019 Interim Review and 2019
Final Audit;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2018, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2019 and for the year ended
31st December, 2019 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;



CEEARE

RLHEEEBRAR
201955k

49

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEEZEEH)
EREES ()

(iv) EHBAREARETE(NEET
BE ) mELZ MERERT AT B BB AT & 5D

e

v BHLEZREFSMAERAKTESA
WA R MM ISERBEE T ENEIR -
BTERENMEBAREGEE TG
FIFRIE R IRE 2 B

Vi) BERRAEEERRRERE  BAUR
EEMERSNRE  AREALTRS
BERRE  AEERHBRERARE
B AR N BRI RE R
5

i BHREAEEGHAEE 2 ARELR
PIEBB I FAAEF R ¢ R

(vii) BRI SIEREESHELERTRMEBK

HITEES

WTZEER _ZETWFE_AKY - BAlAD
BB HAK - BEATESFRELLET
ZEEXF)  BHLE  BRETERMEE
T AREESEREFEDRE - TR
EQERTESEMERT 2R AEEER
ZHBE—RERRIEGE  EREATRZES
ZENREBEAESTEFTSREMEZE
BRI c BARBRMBMEBERE - TE
BEevBEBSEEN _TTN\F=ZAELE
Al REBR T \F+_AELEH -

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(iv) reviewed the internal audit plan and internal audit review
reports prepared by the Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA
Function”);

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated
reports on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Whistle Blower Policy, Procedures for the Identification and
Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Related Party Transaction

=

(vi

Policies and Procedures, Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and
Internal Control Procedures;

(vii)reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

(viii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
Whistle Blower Policy.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of five members, including Messrs. Patrick Lee
Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Ma Sun, Edwin
Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang, all being Executive Directors, and
Mr. Chew Chee Choong, being the Group Chief Operating Officer.
The Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of

management and control of the activities of the Group as are vested
in the Board, save for those matters which are reserved for the Board’s
decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of reference of
the Executive Committee. The terms of reference of the Executive
Committee were revised in March 2008 following the adoption of the
Whistle Blower Policy by the Company, and subsequently updated in
December 2018.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Executive Committee (continued)

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cindy Yung Yee Mei is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Yung is an associate of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
During the year, Ms. Yung undertook over 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2019, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 98 to 105.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. In 2019, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 48b to the consolidated financial statements and under the
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section contained in the Directors’
Report on pages 71 and 72.

Internal Audit

The Head of IA Function reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The internal audit plan and internal audit review reports were
prepared by the IA Function and issued to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information (“Policy”) effective on Tst January, 2013 with respect
to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines
and procedures to the Directors and relevant officers of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to
the public on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and
relevant officers in possession of potential inside information and/or
inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality
of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall
be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes
in circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements from time to time.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external
auditor is set out as follows:

TET

Services rendered for the Group
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HK$’000

Audit services 5,040
Non-audit services (including review of

compliance of Occupational Retirement

Scheme Ordinance and review of interim

results, continuing connected transactions

and working capital forecast) 1,158

Total 6,198

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees
or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the
Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) should also be available to
answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

During the year, the 2019 AGM was held on 22nd May, 2019. The
attendance record of the Directors at the 2019 AGM is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at
a Shareholders” meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Registered Office in accordance with the Companies Ordinance
and the Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall
be in the form of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and
concisely set out the Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the
Company’s business scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
in April 2012, and subsequently updated in December 2015. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state
the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy effective on 1st January,
2019. The Company’s Dividend Policy aims at providing reasonable
and sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a
position of financial stability which allows the Company to take
advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may
arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/
or may declare interim dividends or special dividends. Proposal or
declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration
of the Company’s and the Group’s operating results, accumulated
and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment
requirement and future expansion plan as well as general economic
conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial
performance and position of the Company and the Group. In addition,
as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also consider
the dividends received from its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent
on the dividends received from those subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend
and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 6th April, 2020

| -
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APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Company”) believes in
delivering long term, sustainable value creation to our shareholders.
In doing so, we recognise that the choices we make will have an
impact on the communities in which we carry on our business and
we should make such impact a positive one. The Company has
adopted a Sustainability Policy which covers our principles in the
area of employment and labour practices, business integrity, the
environment and the community and we shall endeavour to embrace
these principles as part of our practice and governance to contribute
to the sustainable development of society and the environment.

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has overall
responsibility for the Company’s strategy and reporting in respect
of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues and has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which are put in place to identify, evaluate
and manage the risks of different businesses and activities, including
the ESG-related risks. Based upon the assessments made by the
Company’s senior management, subsidiaries’ respective management
and the external auditors, the Board considered that such systems are
effective and adequate.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected
Key Performance Indicators (“KPI1”) that are material to the Group
and its stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 31st December,
2019. This report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in this
annual report, and was approved by the Board on 25th March, 2020.

REPORTING SCOPE

The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the
ESG Guide within the scope of sustainability, the below are the
list of issues that are considered to be material and relevant to the
Group. The priorities are set based on management’s view as well as
conclusions from stakeholders” engagement. We regularly engage key
stakeholders in daily operations through meetings, events and other
communications and feedback channels. A survey was conducted
with a sampling of staff selected from various departments and project
managers to understand their specific views on the relevance and
materiality of various ESG aspects. Based on management’s assessment
as well as the survey results, the aspects and KPIs relevant for this
report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.2
Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.4, B6.5
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2

Other relevant issues

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPI A1.1, A1.5, A1.6

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1, A2.3

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general
disclosure, KPI A3.1

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.1,
B3.2

Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure
Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPl B8.1, B8.2

All other aspects of KPI not mentioned above were concluded to be
not relevant for disclosure.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of
provisions by the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide.
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. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general
approach towards environmental issues. We endeavour to:

— observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond
minimum requirements;

- prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste;

— make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials;

— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the
environment and natural resources; and

- engage our staff, customers and partners to promote
environmentally sustainable business practices and constantly
re-assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

The Group’s principal business activities are the development of
apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties,
property investment and property management in Mainland
China, as well as property investment and property management
in Hong Kong. The construction-related works for our property
development projects are outsourced to independent contractors
who are subject to various relevant environmental laws and
regulations, including those relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste, efficient use of energy,
water and other raw materials, noise pollution control, air
pollution control, water pollution control, sewage drainage
system and waste treatment. We work closely with our
contractors to achieve creative, elegant and green designs while
being compatible and sensitive to our environmental and social
responsibilities.

This report does not include the disclosure of all the
environmental KPls as they are not considered material or
relevant as a conclusion of our stakeholders’” engagement as
well as management’s view. Instead, we have discussed our
general approach and effort to reduce the Group’s environmental
footprint in various aspects.
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Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities
and direct participating in construction works. Emissions
produced directly by the Group only related to the 76 (2018:
75) executive passenger vehicles in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. These are used for senior staff’s local travel only as well
as for entertainment. It is therefore that the scale and usage are
immaterial given the size of the Group’s assets and staff.

Except for the emissions, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
generated by our engaged contractors, which will be subject to
their own environmental statistics and management, the other
emissions produced by our direct businesses are mostly on a
“second degree” basis as incurred during occasional business
travels which is infrequent and the hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are also very rarely produced by our office operations.

For the property development business, we keep track of the
relevant national and regional laws and regulations, such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental
Impact Assessment, the Ambient Air Quality Standards of the
People’s Republic of China, the Environmental Quality Standard
for Noise of the People’s Republic of China, etc. The Group
strictly monitors and supervises our contractors to go beyond
the minimum requirements of the relevant laws and regulations
and avoid the violation made in our projects. During 2019, the
Company has no material violation of the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to above environmental aspects.

The activities of the property investment and property
management businesses are mostly carried out locally in project
offices in Mainland China and Hong Kong. In line with our policy
to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, the offices in most
cities are equipped with video conferencing facilities to minimise
the need for face to face meetings and keep business travelling
to a minimum. Only a small percentage of employees travel for
business is noted. There are no relevant laws and regulations
applicable to our business on this aspect.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We have adopted a series of internal control policies and
procedures to enhance the efficiency in consumption of resources
including energy, water and paper. With 1,427 (2018: 1,429)
staff across the Group, we consume considerable amounts of
electricity and paper and with the efficient use of such, we hope
to minimise our impact on the environment whilst we grow our
businesses. Water consumption is not material to our business as
it relates mainly to the personal consumption of our staff or for
their personal hygiene.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings
and reduction in paper consumption are circulated to all staff at
head office and project offices. For instance, staff are reminded to
switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or
during the time working outside the office and wherever possible.
Energy efficient office equipment is always preferred in making
purchase decisions. During 2019, the Group’s total electricity
consumption was approximately 28.5 (2018: 32.4) million kWh.

Since December 2014, electronic board paper systems have been
promoted and implemented throughout the Group, allowing
our directors of the Company to access meeting papers online
anytime, anywhere with the use of portable electronic devices,
improving Board efficiency whilst saving papers.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes were
implemented to improve efficiency and to reduce paper usage:

— electronic bank statements;
- recycling schemes of office equipments and supplies; and

— internal electronic administration and communication
platform.
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. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property development business, the Group encourages

and implements the green design by strictly control the
contractors to implement various environmental protection
management measures. The contractors are requested to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations and are required to:

sprinkle the construction sites regularly to reduce the dust
raising;

wash the cars and trucks when entry in and out the sites;

install temporary noise barriers and strictly follow operation
hours;

build waste water collection pipes and pools to collect
household and construction waste water and ensure that
hazardous waste water is properly discharged;

separate recyclable and non-recyclable construction wastes
and ensure they are properly treated; and

request to use energy saving systems and facilities, such as
solar panel, LED light, electric sensor system, double layer
glass window, external wall with thermal insulating material
and natural lighting concept, etc, in order to meet our green
design idea.
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. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property investment and property management businesses,
eco-friendly options are often considered and where possible/
appropriate are implemented in operations and maintenance
works.

These include:

— use of solar panels on the roof top to generate clean energy
in supporting operation;

— install sensors to turn off lighting and air-conditioning
automatically when not in use;

- replace energy wasting lights with LED lights;

— use of double layer glass window for better thermos-
insulating effects to reduce energy consumption;

— use of reclaimed water for toilet flushing where appropriate;
- place the recycling bins in the prominent place to encourage
waste separation awareness amongst our staff and customers;

and

— check the lighting, air-conditioning and water pipe systems
regularly to prevent the lost of natural resources.

Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s business has no
direct impact on the environment and natural resources.
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. SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

The Company is substantially an investment holding company
and with subsidiaries involve in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property
investment and property management in Mainland China, as well
as property investment and property management in Hong Kong.
Our people are our most important assets that drive the long term
development and sustainability of the Company. The Group’s
policy on employment is as follows:

—  observing relevant laws and regulations;

— being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair
practices relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare for our staff;

— providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and
protecting employees from occupational hazards;

— promoting a good work-life balance for staff;
— investing in training and professional development of our
staff for the purpose of improving their knowledge and skills

for discharging duties at work;

- maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a
transparent two-way communication; and

—  preventing child and forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)

In Mainland China, staff employment is subject to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China. In Hong Kong, the Group’s
employment of staff is subject to the Employment Ordinance,
the Minimum Wage Ordinance, as well as the Employee’s
Compensation Ordinance. The Group has no known non-
compliance with the above relevant regulations.

Our compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest
periods, welfare) need to be competitive with other peers in
the similar sectors and in general exceeds the minimum as
required by the relevant regulations. Owing to the nature of our
businesses, work related injuries, occupational health issues and
the incurrence of child labour are not significant risk factors.

Further information on the Group’s human resources is also
detailed in the section headed “Employee and Training”
contained in the Directors’ Report on page 96.

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working
environment for our staff. On top of this, well-being programs
such as those promoting a good work-life balance are regularly
offered to staff.

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group employs a total of 1,427
(2018: 1,429) staff in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Australia.

Number of staff breakdown

kB
By Gender

2019

36%

Z

£ Female

B 2 Male
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous
learning in our organisation. Heavy emphasis is placed on
staff training which is tailored to equip our workforce with the
necessary knowledge and skills relevant for their work, as well
as to build our talent pool. Management is involved, together
with professional trainers, in designing training programmes to
meet the demands of the workplace. Training content and topics
are set to cover the key aspects of our operations. Management
development initiatives currently include courses on the second
language training, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws,
data privacy, technical skills, debt collection skills, product
knowledge, computer skills, customer service techniques,
communication and complaints handling. Workshops for
managerial and supervisory staff are provided and are intended
to enhance our employees’ career development. There are
also workshops specifically for managerial staff on career
development, team building and people management skills.

On top of internal training, the Group also provides a study
subsidy for staff to advance their education outside of office
works. During 2019, staff training across the Group amounted to
5,000 (2018: 3,661) hours in total.

Training hours breakdown

RIER &2
By Gender

2019

51%
21 Female

B 51 Male
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Development and Training (Aspect B3) (continued)

Training hours breakdown (continued)

BERE S
By Grade

2019

—MRET  General staff
W BEEEET Managerial staff

58%

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group’s main business suppliers include designers,
contractors, constructors, construction material suppliers, sales
and leasing agents, services providers, providers of information
technology and communication, legal and other business services
as well as vendors for office supplies. Their prices, suitability and
reputation are the main factors in engagement and procurement
decision making.

The Group only engages local contractors with possession
of relevant qualification in relevant aspect and level of the
construction works. At least three independent potential
contractors and suppliers would make or be invited to make the
tender for site projects and we conduct tendering procedures on
the assessment and selection. We have well defined policies on
selecting of suitable contractors and suppliers by checking their
registered licenses, qualification level, relevant experience and
our project size. Those contractors and suppliers are selected
carefully based on track record of good practices, reputation and
are subject to benchmarking, audits and rotation.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5) (continued)

In order to ensure the quality of the construction works, products
and services supply, our construction as well as products and
services supply contracts typically contain warranties for quality
and completion time. The contractors are also responsible
to supervise and monitor the construction works seriously.
Our engineering department regulates and monitors the cost
control and construction progress closely during construction
with periodic on-site inspection and stringent quality control
procedures. The suppliers are required to be evaluated and
screened by the Group based on established procedures for the
quality of products and services as prescribed by the contracts.
We also set out provisions to the contractors and suppliers for
occupational safety, good environmental practices and social
responsibility and ensure they have no violation of the relevant
laws and regulations of Mainland China.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

For the property development business in Mainland China, our
projects follow the relevant guidelines, laws and regulations
on property quality announced by the provincial and Central
governments. Our project engineers regularly inspect the building
materials and construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations to
construct reasonable quality and safety building and meet the
acceptable reliability level. During 2019, there were no known
cases of non-compliance with the above laws or regulations.

For the property rental and management services, the Group
enhances our facilities and equipment to improve service
quality. We endeavour to maintain a close relationship with our
customers and pursue customers’ satisfaction.

Owing to the nature of the property development business where
a high price product is involved, reputational risk monitoring and
preventions are of utmost importance. We have various measures
in place to minimise risks. Results and response to property
quality are monitored on a timely basis. The Group provides
comprehensive after-sale services including handling customer
complaints and supervising the repair and ongoing maintenance
of the properties developed. During the defect liability period, we
forward the defect to our engineering department or contractors
to follow up all the substandard works reported by the purchasers.
Contractors engaged for construction are tightly monitored as
discussed above.
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Product Responsibility (Aspect B6) (continued)

For the business of property rental and management services, we
have a reception desk in property management office for each
project. We pay close attention to the customer dissatisfaction
and forward the complaint to relevant departments for follow-
up. During 2019, the complaint rate is low and most of the
complainants accepted or were satisfied with our replies. The
Group put the best effort to response instantly to the problem and
complaint submitted by the tenant.

Servicing the property purchaser and tenant in Mainland China
and Hong Kong, we place a very high priority to uphold the
customer data privacy. Measures and clear guidelines are in
place to ensure customer’s relevant data are protected against
unauthorised or accidental access, processing or erasure.
Appropriate levels of security protection were implemented by
appropriate physical, electronic and managerial measures to
safeguard and secure customer’s personal data. In addition, our
Employee Manual requires employees to keep confidential of the
information which includes customer information and states the
proper procedures of handling customer data.

Anti-corruption (Aspect B7)

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate
employees’ direct reporting of any unlawful conduct, any
incident of corruption, avoidance of internal controls, incorrect or
improper financial or other reporting to senior management. This
policy is either circulated to employees periodically or included
in the Employee Manual of the Group to facilitate employees’
easy access and refresh employees’ awareness of reporting.
During 2019, there were no known cases of non-compliance with
the above laws or regulations.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel for our customers and undertake the
responsibility of a good corporate citizen contributing to the
community by encouraging our staff to enroll in charity and
social services.

In Hong Kong, we participated in Walk for Millions in January
2019, Skip-A-Meal in June 2019 and Mooncakes for Charity
in September 2019. The volunteering activities were recorded
proactive participation. We hope that through the volunteer
activities, we can help the underprivileged in the community, like
low-income senior citizens, senior citizens living alone, children
education, environmental conservation, etc, by offering our care
and concern.

Total donations of HK$14,000 (2018: HK$1,151,000) were paid
to charitable institutions during 2019.
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2019 are set out in notes 50, 51 and 52
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s revenue and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2019 is set
out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Managing
Director’s Statement (“MDS”) on page 6. Particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year are provided in item (ii) of note 54 “Events after the
Reporting Period” to the consolidated financial statements. Future
development of the Company’s business is set out in the MDS on
page 7. An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the MDS and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 15.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling

major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing
external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the
Board on the above.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due
to movements in market factors and which can be further divided
into interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 48b “Financial Risk Management
Objective and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports
regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under
review are affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in China. The policy change, interest rate
change, reserve requirement ratio change, demand-supply imbalance,
house price indexes and the overall economic conditions may induce
a material adjustment on the Group’s business, financial position and
results.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection legislated by the local government for developing and
managing the properties. The Group meets the criteria and standard
of noise pollution control, air pollution control, sewage drainage
system and construction waste treatment for construction as well as
encourages to make green in our projects.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on the
environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimising consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

Further information on the Group’s environmental issues also detailed
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 56 to
70.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 106 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK20 cents per share
(in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2019
(2018 interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend): HK20 cents
per share) payable on or around Tuesday, 28th April, 2020 to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 14th April,
2020. Details are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$335,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$208,559,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$348,363,000 and has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$8,009,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2019 are set out on pages 24 to 33.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the
end of the year.
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BORROWINGS

Bank loans and other borrowings which are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 35
and 36 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Ma Sun

Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article 105(A) of the articles of association of
the Company (“Articles of Association”), Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, Dr.
Moses Cheng Mo Chi, Messrs. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai and Ngai
Wah Sang shall retire from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year are available on the
website of the Company under the “Corporate Governance” section.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, aged 65, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than forty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 68, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is
the chairman and an executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited
(“ASL”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is a
cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Ma Sun, aged 79, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited (now known
as Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited) in 1984 and was then
transferred to the Group in 1985. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Besides holding a Bachelor’s Degree
in Electrical Engineering, he has extensive experience in electrical
engineering and over thirty years of experience in China commercial
business, financial investment and property development.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 59, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance Professional. He
had served various executive roles in several companies in Hong
Kong including as company secretary for public listed companies.
Mr. Lo is also an executive director of each of Allied Group Limited
(“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of the Company, and ASL, a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 55, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in October 2009 and was re-designated from the Financial
Controller to the Finance Director of the Company in July 2019. He is
also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the
Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field. Mr. Tao is an executive director of ASL, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 51, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from the
Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he
worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and an executive
director of each of AGL and Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited, both
are substantial shareholders of the Company. He is a non-executive
director of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC Resources”) and the non-
executive chairman of Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”).
Mount Gibson is a company listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange. Mr. Lee was previously the chairman and non-executive
director of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He
is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (the Managing Director of
the Company) and the brother-in-law of Mr. Chew Chee Choong (the
Group Chief Operating Officer of the Company).
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 70, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is a practising solicitor and the consultant of P. C. Woo &
Co., a Hong Kong firm of solicitors after serving as its Senior Partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng is currently the chairman of the
Insurance Authority. He is also a member of the Financial Leaders
Forum and the Aviation Development and Three-runway System
Advisory Committee. Dr. Cheng was the founding chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary
President and Chairman Emeritus. He was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong and the chairman of the Main Board Listing
Committee and the GEM Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and a remuneration committee member of the
Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong. He was also the chairman
of the Education Commission, the Free Kindergarten Education
Committee, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
former Chief Executives and Politically Appointment Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment on Civil Servants.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong as independent non-executive director and non-executive
director, including China Mobile Limited, China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, K. Wah
International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited,
The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited and Towngas China
Company Limited. He was previously an independent non-executive
director of ARA Asset Management Limited (which was formerly
listed in Singapore) and a non-executive director of Kader Holdings
Company Limited.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis Johnson Chang Chu Fai, aged 65, was appointed an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia
University in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada
since 1977. He has over forty-two years of experience in banking,
corporate finance, investment and management and has held various
executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed
companies. Mr. Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres
Consultancy Limited and an independent non-executive director of
APAC Resources.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 60, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the
business market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai
Horizon Investment Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”) and the deputy
president of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai.
Shanghai Horizon is a company principally engaged in the investment
of three major industries, namely bio-engineering, environmental
protection and energy-saving and medical. Mr. Jin was formerly chief
member of Youth Work Ministry, chief member and deputy director
of Research Department, member of Standing Committee and minister
of Youth Work Ministry of China Communist Youth League Shanghai
Committee.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 61, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and dealing with business
development and investments and previously worked for international
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
Mr. Ngai is currently an independent non-executive director of Real
Nutriceutical Group Limited.

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 53, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-
executive director of each of AGL, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Chew Chee Choong, aged 48, is the Group Chief Operating Officer
and a member of Executive Committee of the Company since January
2019. He joined the Group in October 2005 and was previously the
General Manager of the Group. Mr. Chew is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over twenty years of experience in
the fields of property construction and development. Mr. Chew is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Hu Aimin, aged 71, is the Director — Special Projects of the Group.
He joined the Group in April 2010 and was previously Deputy
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company from April 2010
to September 2012. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hu graduated from the Hunan University of China
with a Master’s Degree in Management. He has over forty years of
experience in administrative management, corporate governance and
human resources management.

Liu Kin Sun, aged 49, is the Group Financial Controller since July
2019. He joined the Group in June 1999. He is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an
associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Liu had worked in an international accounting firm for six years.
He has extensive experience in accounting, financial management
and China business field.

Chen Saifang, aged 68, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. She joined the Group in April 2004. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chen was
graduated with specialization in finance. She worked at the provincial
level institutions and listed companies in the mainland and Hong
Kong for more than forty years. She has extensive exposure and
working experience in finance, investment, project and corporate
management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management (continued)

Song Zhu Feng, aged 59, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing Hua
University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He
has over thirty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Zhou Zhimin, aged 59, is the General Manager of the Property
Management Department of the Group. He joined the Group in April
1998. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhou graduated from the University of Mannheim in Germany with a
Licentiate’s Degree in International Economic Relations. He has over
twenty years of experience in the fields of real estate development
and property management.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) has an unexpired
service contract with the Group which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-

Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2020 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.
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As at 31st December, 2019, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun,
Directors, had the following interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

BRROR HERTRG

HERD 2B BB EDE

Number of Approximate %

shares and of the total
EEpA AEER underlying number of RERME
Name of Directors ~ Name of companies  shares interested issued shares Nature of interests
FRRIE ZA/NS) 733,269,096 48.86% Hiigs
Lee Seng Hui the Company (HtzE1) Other interests

(Note 1)
DEMERRAR 930,376,898 74.96% H At fEas
([EEREHEE |) (Bizt2) Other interests
Asiasec Properties (Note 2)
Limited (“ASL”)
S5 ARA] 47,945 0.003% (BN 3
Ma Sun the Company Personal interests
(AEBRBEEAZHEHR)
(held as beneficial owner)
CERCS: = 6,232 0.001% & A=
ASL Personal interests
(NEBEmBEEAFZNHEHR)
(held as beneficial owner)
MisE - Notes:

1. FRBEEERTSREZLIRIRELET Alee 1.
and Lee Trust(2#{57E) Z{55EA © Lee and Lee
TrustiZhlit & EBARAR([HAEEE]) B BITR
EBE A 74.95%(BIEFRE A E 2 BAES) -
WG ERB A EBRARBRMP 2 - M
BAEERERIEBREER74.99%Ee 2 B
NRAEAME(EB)BRAR([BEHEDRAR
AR HEA R -

Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the
trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust
controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares of Allied
Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests) and
was therefore deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which AGL
was interested through Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL"), its 74.99%-owned
subsidiary.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by virtue of his interests in the Company, was deemed to be
interested in the shares of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and therefore an associated corporation of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO.

2. ERFRBEERARBZ#E  RBRERE 2
TRME(RARRZIE2EMEARME LA
NRLZ AEAE (R R RS R EEIEXVERD)

Z R DS -

All interests stated above represent long positions.

3. LFERSHDESR - 3.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao
Tsan Sang are directors of ASL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property investment and property management;

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property development and investment and property management;

3. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”) which is engaged in the
business of money lending;

4. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APAC Resources which, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

5. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is
a director of AG Capital Limited (a subsidiary of AGL) which is
partly engaged in the business of money lending; and
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
(CONTINUED)

6. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL,
SHK, APAC Resources and ASL. AGL, APL and SHK through
their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property development and investment and property
management. APAC Resources, through its subsidiary, is partly
engaged in the business of money lending. ASL, through certain
of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property investment and property management.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship or
shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the businesses of such companies.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services as
detailed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
on pages 88 to 93, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has

fg o maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
TERRERHMA T ZER SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER

REFMAM R-FT-AF+-A=+—8"
RIEBEZMEROIFEIBFRREMFEZE
A - HAEARRBMD RABRN R
PRI

PERSONS’ INTERESTS

To the best of Directors’” knowledge, as at 31st December, 2019,
the following Shareholders had interests in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:

BERROKHEBEROZBE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

BARER
(AERBERBA
55 EH)
Personal
Interests

(held as
beneficial
owner)

EEER
(8%

2 1)
Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

BT

R EE 2
BABEDH
Approximate %
of the total
number of
issued shares

HitfEz
Other
Interests

Total
Interests

BRAH

Name of Shareholders

BAE(FB)ARAR([HMEHE]) - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.86%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL") (Hiat1) (Hizt2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
BMAEEEERAR([HEER]) - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.86%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (Hat3) (Hist2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.86%
(H1it4) (Kiet2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
Penta Investment Advisers Limited - - 284,451,570 284,451,570 18.96%
(AREEBEBA (Kiets)
FhHR) (Note 5)
(held as
investment

manager)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

FERRREMAL 2R )

EERORAEREZHE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

BRAEH

Name of Shareholders

BAREE
(AEREBA
EEE)
Personal
Interests
(LELES
beneficial
owner)

Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

HitfEz
Other
Interests

SRR
Total
Interests

BT
RG2Sz
AT D

Approximate %
of the total
number of
issued shares

Vigor Online Offshore Limited 121,920,000 = = 121,920,000 8.12%
(“Vigor Online”)
China Spirit Limited (“China Spirit”) = 121,920,000 = 121,920,000 8.12%
(Hfate)
(Note 6)
3R - 123,920,000 - 123,920,000 8.26%
Chong Sok Un (Hist7)
(Note 7)
SKK Special Situation Fund (“SKK”") 99,420,400 - - 99,420,400 6.63%
Argyle Street Management Limited - - 99,420,400 99,420,400 6.63%
(“Argyle Street Management”) (AREEEA (H:t8)
H01A) (Note 8)
(held as
investment
manager)
Argyle Street Management Holdings - 99,420,400 - 99,420,400 6.63%
Limited (“Argyle Street Holdings”) (Hi7£9)
(Note 9)
FeR fi - 99,420,400 - 99,420,400 6.63%
Chan Kin (Brzt10)

(Note 10)




=
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FERRREMAL 2R )

Hiat

10.

11.

B BAfEHFine Class Holdings Limited 2 2% {8
X 7]China Elite Holdings Limited ([ China Elite])#¥
B MATERIRBALE 2EWNBAR - RS
HbEE AR EHES China Elite %A < IR 17 2 R4 o

I F RS

,f/\ °

WERA Z R —1#t733,269,096 A% f%

BMASEEABMAMED BITRNAEL
74.99% @ BIRGIFRABAWEMBEZRNZ

g o
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#lee and Lee Trust(ZHE(ZFE) 25 A © Lee and
Lee TrustiZHilE & S E B BTN AL 74.95%
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SEMBAEZRMD 2 -
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([ Diamond Success |)#576 22,000,0008% i1 © §
31 22+ % BI#E B Diamond Success & China Spirit
FEEEITRA - R EA A Diamond Success
KChina SpiritF7#58 < B < #eas ©

RHEArgyle Street ManagementiZ {2 &%} - Argyle
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Argyle Street Holdings# 5 Argyle Street Management
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ManagementFfi#5§8 2 {0 2 2
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PRFs A 2 Bt 2 iz -

RZZ-NFE+ZA=+—0  LilMmAREES
RHERDIZE336IRMEMFE 2 SR MAH 2 1#
mEBR -

RLHEEEBRAR
201955k

87

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

The interest was held by China Elite Holdings Limited (“China Elite”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings Limited which in turn was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of APL. APL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which China Elite was interested.

The figure refers to the same interests of APL in 733,269,096 shares.

AGL owned approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of APL
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was
interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number
of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests)
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was
interested.

These include (i) an interest in 265,896,570 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 18,555,000
underlying shares of the Company.

China Spirit owned the entire issued share capital of Vigor Online and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Vigor Online was
interested.

The interests include (i) 121,920,000 shares held by China Spirit; and (ii)
2,000,000 shares held by Diamond Success Limited (“Diamond Success”). Ms.
Chong Sok Un owned the entire issued share capital of Diamond Success and
China Spirit respectively and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which Diamond Success and China Spirit were interested.

Based on the information provided by Argyle Street Management, Argyle Street
Management owned the entire issued voting share capital of SKK and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SKK was interested.

Argyle Street Holdings owned the entire issued share capital of Argyle Street
Management and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Argyle Street Management was interested.

. Mr. Chan Kin owned approximately 50.94% interests in the issued share

capital of Argyle Street Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which Argyle Street Holdings was interested.

. All interests stated above as at 31st December, 2019 represent long positions as

recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7th
February, 2017 and the 2018 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company entered into a sharing of administrative services
and management services agreement (“2017 TACI Services
Agreement”) with AGL on 7th February, 2017, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to reimburse AGL the actual costs
incurred in respect of (i) the administrative services, including
the corporate secretarial services, provision of registered office
address, utilities services including water, electricity, telephone
(including international telephone services) and internet,
photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and other services
ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation of the
Group provided by AGL (“Administrative Services”) and (ii) the
management services, including the management, consultancy,
strategic, internal audit, management information system
consultancy and business advice services provided by the
senior management and the selected staff of AGL to the Group
(“Management Services”) for a period of three years commenced
from 1st January, 2017 to 31st December, 2019.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being the Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of the Company, a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services and also one of the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together
with his personal interests, controlled approximately 74.95% of
the total number of issued shares of AGL as at 31st December,
2019, is deemed to be interested in the 2017 TACI Services
Agreement. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, by being an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services, is deemed to be interested in
the 2017 TACI Services Agreement.

The aggregate amount of the costs paid by the Group in respect of
the Management Services provided by AGL under the 2017 TACI
Services Agreement for the year ended 31st December, 2019 was
HK$51,555,000.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28th
September, 2018 and the 2018 Annual Report of the Company,
on 28th September, 2018, Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd., an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lessor,
entered into a leasing agreement (“2018 Leasing Agreement
V”) with United Asia Finance (Free Trade Zone Dalian) Limited
(“Dalian UAF”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK,
as lessee to renew the leasing of office premises in Dalian Tian
An International Building, No. 88 Zhongshan Road, Zhongshan
District, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC for a term commenced
from 1st July, 2018 to 30th June, 2019 at the monthly
consideration of RMB212,239.34.

After the expiry of the 2018 Leasing Agreement V, the same
parties entered into a leasing agreement (“Exempted 2019
Leasing Agreement V”) on 30th May, 2019 to further renew the
2018 Leasing Agreement V for a term commenced from 1st July,
2019 to 30th June, 2020. The transaction contemplated under
the Exempted 2019 Leasing Agreement V is exempt from any
disclosure obligations under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

The consideration paid, which included rental and management
fee, under the 2018 Leasing Agreement V for the year ended 31st
December, 2019 was RMB1,273,436.04.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 31st
March, 2017 and 20th May, 2019 and the 2018 Annual Report
of the Company (where applicable), on 31st March, 2017, (i) the
Company as tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2017
Sub-Tenancy Agreement 1”) with AP Administration Limited (“AP
Administration”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL, as landlord;
(ii) the Company as tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement
(“2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement I1”) with AGL as landlord; and
(iii) ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2017 Sub-Tenancy
Agreement I1l”, together with 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement
I and 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement I, “2017 Sub-Tenancy
Agreements”) with AP Administration as landlord. Pursuant to
the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement I, AP Administration agreed
to sublet to the Company a portion of office premises in Allied
Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(“AKB”) for a term commenced from 1st April, 2017 to 31st
March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of HK$29,100 (from 1st
April, 2017 to 31st May, 2017) and HK$33,400 (from 1st June,
2017 to 31st March, 2019) respectively. Pursuant to the 2017
Sub-Tenancy Agreement I, AGL agreed to sublet to the Company
certain portions of office premises in AKB for a term commenced
from 1st April, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly
consideration of HK$215,400. Pursuant to the 2017 Sub-Tenancy
Agreement Ill, AP Administration agreed to sublet to ASL a portion
of another office premises in AKB for a term commenced from 1st
June, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of
HK$122,200.

On 20th May, 2019, the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreements were
renewed. The renewal of the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreements
constitute connected transactions and the details are set out in
the next section under “Connected Transactions”.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The considerations paid, which included rental, management
and air-conditioning charges, under the 2017 Sub-Tenancy
Agreement |, 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il and 2017 Sub-
Tenancy Agreement lll for the year ended 31st December, 2019
were HK$100,200, HK$646,200 and HK$366,600 respectively.
The aggregate consideration paid under the 2017 Sub-Tenancy
Agreements for the year ended 31st December, 2019 was
HK$1,113,000.

AGL is the holding company and hence an associate of APL (which
is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company). Dalian UAF is a subsidiary of SHK, which in turn is a
subsidiary of APL, and hence an associate of APL. AP Administration
is a subsidiary of APL and hence an associate of APL. Therefore, AGL,
Dalian UAF and AP Administration are regarded as connected persons
of the Company. Accordingly, the entering into of the 2017 TACI
Services Agreement, the 2018 Leasing Agreement V, the 2017 Sub-
Tenancy Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transaction regarding the
sharing of the Administrative Services under the 2017 TACI Services
Agreement is fully exempt under Rules 14A.73(8) and 14A.98 of the
Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the 2018 Leasing
Agreement V and the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreements are subject to

the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. Whereas, the transaction regarding the
sharing of the Management Services under the 2017 TACI Services
Agreement is subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions regarding (i) the sharing of the
Management Services under the 2017 TACI Services Agreement; and
(ii) the transactions contemplated under the 2018 Leasing Agreement
V and the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreements, and have confirmed that
the transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the respective agreements governing the transactions
on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transaction regarding the sharing of the Management
Services under the 2017 TACI Services Agreement and the continuing
connected transactions contemplated under the 2018 Leasing
Agreement V and the 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreements in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter confirming that nothing has come to its attention that cause it
to bring to the attention of the Board pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Event after the reporting period

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2nd January,
2020, on 2nd January, 2020, (i) the Company entered into a sharing
of administrative services and management services agreement (“2020
TACI Services Agreement”) with AGL; and (ii) ASL entered into an
internal audit services and management information system services
agreement (“2020 ASL Services Agreement”) with AGL.

Pursuant to the 2020 TACI Services Agreement, the Company
agreed to renew and extend the terms of the 2017 TACI Services
Agreement for a period of three years commencing from Tst January,
2020 and expiring on 31st December, 2022 and to reimburse AGL
the costs incurred in respect of the Administrative Services and the
Management Services. The relevant annual cap in respect of the
Management Services for each of the three financial years ending
31st December, 2022 shall be HK$63,000,000, HK$69,300,000 and
HK$76,300,000.

Pursuant to the 2020 ASL Services Agreement, ASL agreed to renew
and extend the terms of an agreement entered into with AGL for
a period of three years commencing from Tst January, 2020 and
expiring on 31st December, 2022 and to reimburse AGL the costs
incurred in respect of the provision of the internal audit services
and the management information system services by AGL to ASL
and its subsidiaries. The relevant annual cap for each of the three
financial years ending 31st December, 2022 shall be HK$360,000,
HK$396,000 and HK$436,000.

In accordance with the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing
Rules, details of the continuing connected transactions subsequent to
the year-end date will be included in the next published annual report
and financial statements of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 20th
May, 2019, on 20th May, 2019, (i) the Company as tenant
entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2019 Sub-Tenancy
Agreement 1”) with AP Administration as landlord; (ii) the
Company as tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2019
Sub-Tenancy Agreement II”) with AGL as landlord; (iii) ASL as
tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2019 Sub-Tenancy
Agreement [11”) with AP Administration as landlord to renew the
2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement |, 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement
Il 'and 2017 Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il respectively for a term
commenced from 1st April, 2019 to 31st March, 2021; and (iv)
ASL as tenant entered into a sub-tenancy agreement (“2019 Sub-
Tenancy Agreement IV”, together with the aforesaid sub-tenancy
agreements entered in 2019, “2019 Sub-Tenancy Agreements”)
with AGL as landlord, pursuant to which AGL agreed to sublet to
ASL a portion of office premises in AKB for a term commenced
from 1st April, 2019 to 31st March, 2021. The rental payment
made by the Group under the 2019 Sub-tenancy Agreements was
capital in nature, and was regarded as an acquisition of assets of
the Group at the commencement date of the 2019 Sub-Tenancy
Agreements. Pursuant to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
16, a property leased under the 2019 Sub-Tenancy Agreements
would be recognised as right-of-use assets, in which the aggregate
value for recognising AKB, which is owned as to 100% by the
head landlord, being a joint venture of APL, as right-of-use
assets pursuant to the 2019 Sub-Tenancy Agreements would be
HK$7,789,100.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7th
November, 2019, Kirshman Limited (“Subscriber”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of ASL, has been confirmed by Sun
Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited (“Issuer”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SHK, on the allocation amount of US$10 million
to the Subscriber out of the total issue of the principal amount
of the first tranche note of US$350 million, being part of the
guaranteed 5.75% medium term note programme of the Issuer
(“Subscription”).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

As APL is a substantial shareholder of the Company and AGL is
the holding company and hence an associate of APL, and both AP
Administration and SHK (including the Issuer) are subsidiaries of
APL, AGL, AP Administration and the Issuer are connected persons
of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. As a
result, the transactions contemplated under the 2019 Sub-Tenancy
Agreements and the Subscription constitute connected transactions
of the Company. As the applicable percentage ratio(s) (as defined
in the Listing Rules) for the Company in respect of the transactions
contemplated under each of the 2019 Sub-Tenancy Agreements and
the Subscription exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the entering into
of the 2019 Sub-Tenancy Agreements and the Subscription are only
subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular and the shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

OTHER INFORMATION
Financial assistance to affiliated companies

Since that the financial assistance by the Group to affiliated
companies and guarantees given by the Group for facilities granted
to affiliated companies together in aggregate exceeded 8% under the
assets ratio defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules continued
to exist as at 31st December, 2019, the Group is required to comply
with Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of unaudited combined statements of financial position of those
affiliated companies prepared from their financial statements as at
31st December, 2019 and adjusted, where appropriate, to conform

with the Group’s accounting policies:

TR
HK$’000

FEMBEE Non-current assets 18,997,476
MENEE Current assets 30,897,836
mEBBE Current liabilities (15,782,990)
FERBEE Non-current liabilities (20,117,511)
IEERS HE Non-controlling interests (157,687)
BEFRE Net assets 13,837,124
AEBERGEEEFE Net assets attributable to the Group 5,775,909
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Qualified
Professionals

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group including its subsidiaries
but excluding associates and joint ventures, employed 1,427 (31st
December, 2018: 1,429) persons. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group recognises the importance of continuing professional
education and development, and appropriate courses are arranged on
a periodical basis as well as subsidies are granted to employees who
take job-related courses.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2019 is listed below:

REBEFEHL
University
Graduates

55 AT
Age 55 or Below

55 £
Age Over 55

BB

Hong Kong
E5g

Northern China
B

Eastern China
27

Southern China
Hfat - FEMAEFAEEABRSHE Z BN ©

EREEE T AKE AR BILEE
REREBABIEIIRE - BOARFAIRET
MHZEERRHBETHRATH - TEEE
AEH M & RS MBMARM L - 1270
46 °

FEEFRHER

RER > REBRAKRAUES 2 HEHFE MK
SESRARMERERE 2 RKEBRBESEAESR
THEARRE MR AREEH)5% 5 28% ©

BERAA - BAARA A BT IR R B5% L
EEVEE - (5% 2 EEUE A S R
WA SR B R BB A AR 3
3% -

29 (81%)

24 (86%)

74 (64%)

18 (78%)

32 (89%) 23 (64%) 13 (36%)

27 (96%) 24 (86%) 4 (14%)

82 (71%) 103 (90%) 12 (10%)

20 (87%) 22 (96%) 1 (4%)

Note: The numbers in bracket show the percentage of management staff in the region.

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 11, 12 and 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers were approximately 5% and 28% of the
Group's sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Save for the Company’s purchase of its own shares on the Stock
Exchange as disclosed below, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares during the year ended 31st December, 2019.

ENRKEALR

(R &t A B X A1)

EERDEE BEREEE Aggregate

Number of shares Purchase price consideration paid

repurchased per share (before expenses)

BT BT

HK$ HK$

6,122,000 3.45 21,120,900
DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$14,000 during the year.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to 55.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 6th April, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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/$
TO THE MEMBERS OF

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
106 to 283, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

BREZER
Key Auditor Matter

EMRELTRERRERSRZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRRYE BRRTYEFRURECRIVNEFE 2MHE
Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties

R BEREZHFERDE(FERRDE]  ERTY
¥ ErRTYWEDRERINEFE(HEEWED
MEEEESBAREZSEE AABERFERYMEZATN
e RERTPYERFEHEEYER 2 AIERFE( AR
FEDERERAE R-_T-NF+_A=+—H &
EEBERTEREYE4016593,00087T - HERPWE
2,229,928,00078 70 K 4 #5E #) 5 2,608,674,00078 7T (4571
(%) - BmESRRFPEARKMBE(THE]) - FE
KOBM

We identified the valuation of the Group’s properties for
development (“PFD”), inventories of properties under
development (“PUD”) and inventories of completed
properties (“PFS”) as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgments involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount of PFD and the net realisable
value (“NRV”) of PUD and PFS. As at 31st December,
2019, the Group had PFD of HK$4,016,593,000, PUD
of HK$2,229,928,000 and PFS of HK$2,608,674,000
(collectively referred to the “Properties”), all of which
are situated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), Hong Kong and Australia.

HPEHEEERBHGHFERYE  BRTOMELEHED
2 HEZFHERERFBE

Our procedures in relation to evaluating management’s
assessment of the valuation of PFD, PUD and PFS
included:

o FHEFHERZBES  BEHREFEIME
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

s FRUBEBBTEMLRTSEE  HRGBETER
Z2B(BREMEDE  BREE FEHIEN
KMEREMFHAMRA 2R E) 2 M
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and the significant inputs including
properties market price, gross development value,
developer’s profit and discount rate adopted by
management and the Valuers by comparing to
entity-specific information and market data;

s EBHBERGERMENRERDPYEZMEETARKK
A BEREBUNEBERFAEKA - MEHGEZ
RAZ &Y &

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD, on a sample
basis, by comparing them to actual development
costs of similar properties of the Group; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMRELTERERRERSEZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREVE  BREDYEGFEURECRIVEFE 2MEE
(%)

Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties (continued)

BEEREBELSERIRNE([FHEED ) ET2AE
EERERYMEZARESENERTFYEZAJERF
B REKERNSREEBHB 2 ETER2H  BIE%E
FaE FRERIGENMREIRE - I BRER2E &
SECRTIRE 2 ERAERAN G TRFERRYE R
AR Z RIRELA -

Management determined the recoverable amount of PFD
and the NRV of PUD based on valuations performed
by independent and qualified professional valuers (the
“Valuers”). The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit
and discount rate. In addition, management estimated
future cost to completion of PFD and PUD with
reference to the actual development cost of the Group’s
completed projects.

BEBERETHR  BRETE  FERRMNZERE
BZBEUMEBRSBUNEME O OER - 82EH
HEMERZERMEETHEEMR 2 AIEHFE -
Management determined the NRV of PFS with reference
to the estimated market prices of PFS, which takes into
account a number of factors including recent prices
achieved for similar property types in the same project
or by similar properties in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Australia.

EREREZ T  BHE T NF+-A=+—HILF
B HIEEWE 2 RMET,801,0008 TIA RFERME
REEE42,368,000/8 TR B T R ©

Based on management’s assessment, the write-down of
PFS of HK$1,801,000 and impairment loss on PFD of
HK$42,368,000 were recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended 31st December, 2019.

s BBEZ2EHEEEAXAELBYEMRS LT ER
MEEEMAHEENE A EEZERL B
REHFY BEREEGERTE - FEREMNEMHE
MGZEE  FEEREMAZAELBMEZEA
1 o

* Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling prices of PFS used by management with
reference to recent market prices achieved in
the same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness of
the comparable properties used by management
based on our knowledge of the Group’s businesses
and the real estate markets in the PRC, Hong Kong
and Australia.



B & BEKRE (A

XL ERERRAR
201955k

10T

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

HRELEHE)

RREKRSER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMRELTEERRERSRAZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REMFEZGE

Valuation of investment properties

BABRENE 2 HEERSBRESLSTE  RRASES
RERAMBHRRERM S EELERABEEAAEBEY
NEEHE -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.

B EMIERRMT1I7ARE - EEEZREME
BAURPE  FERREZRAE  (REHG  TEHEM
EBIE RZE-NF+ZA=Z+—BZAREER
12,380,751,000/87C °

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties which
represent office buildings, car parking spaces, residential
units and hotel located in the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United Kingdom were carried at fair value of
HK$12,380,751,000 as at 31st December, 2019.

BB AREMEDNZEFGMET ZHERAAE
BEE - HEDE  REMRZEERRLTIZ2HZH
BRSBTS IRRM 178 - MEKBRSREREH
Bz ETERRRLIZ28  BEEHKREE  BERK
smE - ER Bz TSEMES  MHEMEEER - &
RAEOENEERE - BRE BEXLHEEE

All of the Group’s investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuations performed
by the Valuers. Details of the valuation techniques,
significant assumptions and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent
on certain significant assumptions and key inputs that
involve management’s judgments, including term vyield,
reversionary yield, market unit rent of individual unit,
market unit sales rate, developer’s profit and risk rate,
discount rate, growth rate and estimated rent.

RPERRERAENR 2 EEZRFBRIE
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the valuation of
investment properties included:

o GHARMEEDZBSES - BB REEIM
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

o EMIEMZAEBENITE  MEMHIRR - 4
BN EZRER  HEMAzERABRE T
E280:

e Understanding the Valuers’ valuation process and
methodologies, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuations;

o HETTERBZITEARBRZAEE Rk
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions to industry norms; and

s FBRUBEBBEZARLMSHE FHEEER
AHERTATER Az T2 2Bz BB -

* Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuers by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to entity-
specific information and market data.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Keung To Wai, David.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 6th April, 2020
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A B &K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BEZ-NF+-_A=+—RALFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
k=3 THExT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 5 2,221,904 3,291,719
THERA Cost of sales (1,223,628) (1,909,020)
EF Gross profit 998,276 1,382,699
= PN E Other income and gains 7 311,563 320,912
mEkDHER Marketing and distribution expenses (50,946) (54,060)
1TEE F Administrative expenses (343,774) (342,400)
HgE &R Other operating expenses (10,802) (19,791)
FBBERAABERE  Netincrease (decrease) in fair value
ZeMEEZAREE of financial assets at fair value
FEANCRLA) through profit or loss 70,435 (68,246)
EBIEREAABERE  Netincrease (decrease) in fair value
ZBRARFE S 2 AAEE of equity securities at fair value
SFIEANCHA) through profit or loss 12,850 (29,597)
RN E R 2 S F R EEE Net impairment losses on loans receivable (277,419) (741)
ERIMEFEERS Fair value gain on transfer of
BREWMEZ AAEBE inventories of completed properties
Wegs to investment properties 17 101,743 229,137
KEMERREBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
2 properties 17 246,620 201,283
BRIWETE Write-down of inventories of completed
VERIE] properties (1,801) (4,014)
FERME Impairment loss on properties for
BIEEE development 18 (42,368) -
HERYE Amortisation of properties for
e development (55,724) (26,111)
BB Finance costs 8 (186,030) (155,964)
FE(EEE S N R A Share of profit of associates 6,410 55,688
JEREERERT Share of profit of joint ventures 925,304 378,774
B A0 AT g ) Profit before tax 1,704,337 1,867,569
IR Taxation 9 (348,765) (609,458)
N A Profit for the year 10 1,355,572 1,258,111
RERL R NEETT - Profit for the year attributable to:
RATIRE Owners of the Company 1,345,942 1,251,202
FEPE AR R Non-controlling interests 9,630 6,909
1,355,572 1,258,111
BT #BTT
HK$ HK$
BRREAT| Earnings per share 13
FHA Basic 0.89 0.83




RRFEREBRAR

201955k 1 07

meREaRRAEMr2zE R E X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE_Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
FERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IR A Profit for the year 1,355,572 1,258,111
Hip2m (B H) W Other comprehensive (expense) income
TeEMHBERRN Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
IER :
BERENEHMES Exchange differences arising on translation to
ZERER presentation currency (456,601) (314,492)
JE(REEE N B R AEME  Share of other comprehensive expense of
ZHEEEER associates and joint ventures (142,182) (64,920)
FBHM KSR Net change in fair value of equity instruments
NRBEREZ A at fair value through other comprehensive
TEAREEZFEH income (66,720) (66,636)
FREMEERER Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
RABEREZ A an equity instrument at fair value
TARAREBEZE through other comprehensive
ZIREFR I R 2 income 1,210 3,603
RER RN EMER Surplus on revaluation of properties and
ZWERBENEER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
BHAHR to investment properties _ 4,210
R IR E Y5 Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
MR E L ZIRE properties upon transfer to
HiEns 2 investment properties - (6,039)
(664,293) (444,274)
BRI FIReE R DA E Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
B=mmIER ¢ profit or loss:
BMEBINEGFIES 2 Exchange differences arising on translation of
EHER foreign operations 2,174 (67,605)
HAl Others 423 763
2,597 (66,842)
AEFHEMEPEER Other comprehensive expense for the year (661,696) (511,116)
REERHEWEERE Total comprehensive income for the year 693,876 746,995
AEE2MmW(BER)4E% Total comprehensive income (expense) for
JE1ETT the year attributable to:
RARIRE Owners of the Company 688,546 759,152
IR 2 Non-controlling interests 5,330 (12,157)

693,876 746,995
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e BRI KR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R=E—nE+=A=+—8
At 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
B FET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE R&E Property, plant and equipment 15 204,679 234,312
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16 38,548 -
KEME Investment properties 17 12,380,751 13,622,280
FRREYE Properties for development 18 4,016,593 3,818,333
WEFERMEZ Deposits for acquisition of properties
e for development 189,367 193,245
THFERE BN EFK  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 - 39,212
HEE - MFEkEa Other assets — properties interests 16,168 17,225
N AN W T Interests in associates 20 2,891,108 2,891,331
RE B 2w Interests in joint ventures 21 6,526,622 5,304,245
B E = Loans receivable 29 318,846 264,305
BBERE AR EMEEE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 22 173,267 114,790
FHiREMEEIREIE AR Equity instruments at fair value through
BERECKRATA other comprehensive income 23 354,996 211,698
RgtE et Club memberships 4,261 10,500
RETHIAE = Deferred tax assets 40 311,393 116,962
27,426,599 26,838,438
MENEE Current assets
MEGFE Inventories of properties 24
—EREA — under development 2,229,928 1,797,689
—B®T — completed 2,608,674 3,993,950
HEmfFE Other inventories 25 1,461 415
i YNCIlSEN Amounts due from associates 26 92,792 202,792
BEPERR Amounts due from joint ventures 27 1,047,977 1,333,437
FEFER R Amounts due from non-controlling
KRR interests 28 17,778 18,391
FEURE TR Loans receivable 29 1,089,269 1,369,144
R 5 R H M EUWERK - Trade and other receivables, deposits
e RIERHK and prepayments 30 556,885 331,494
THFERE BN EFR  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 19 - 892
FBBRE AR EMERE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
SEEE profit or loss 22 32,968 229,885
FBBRIZAABEKRIEY  Equity securities at fair value through
&N profit or loss 31 56,973 49,390
TR TR Prepaid tax 8,911 2,791
R{EEIR Z SRITER Pledged bank deposits 47 604,298 552,663
RITETF MRS Bank balances and cash 2,942,277 2,293,386
11,290,191 12,176,319
DEAFEEE Assets classified as held for sale 32 2,332,834 -
13,623,025 12,176,319
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e BRI K (&
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

RZZE-NFE+=-A=+—H
At 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
BiEE FET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
mEBE Current liabilities
R 5 R E A FERTBR TR Trade and other payables 33 2,242,469 1,859,071
EHaE Contract liabilities 34 1,081,448 1,991,420
HEAaE Tax liabilities 1,478,223 1,431,416
Mt BB Interest-bearing borrowings 35 1,438,604 1,328,035
D BER Interest-free borrowings 36 1,389,614 950,768
7,630,358 7,560,710
HAOBAGFEEEL Liabilities associated with assets
HEaE classified as held for sale 32 1,078,688 -
8,709,046 7,560,710
RBEEFE Net current assets 4,913,979 4,615,609
BEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 32,340,578 31,454,047
BAREE Capital and reserves
A& Share capital 37 3,788,814 3,788,814
fEfm Reserves 38 20,462,162 20,094,264
RARRREG 2 Equity attributable to owners of
Tz the Company 24,250,976 23,883,078
IR Non-controlling interests 1,344,195 1,369,933

fEmEsE Total equity 25,595,171 25,253,011
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e %R R X (&)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

R=ZZE—hF+=A=+—H
At 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
bz FET FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

FRBEME Non-current liabilities
f BAE K Interest-bearing borrowings 35 3,887,081 3,402,238
—ZHBEZEREAESUWA  Deferred rental income from a tenant 39 15,982 24,800
MPzHEEES® Rental deposits from tenants 21,312 22,145
FEEFIAAE Deferred tax liabilities 40 2,821,032 2,751,853
6,745,407 6,201,036
32,340,578 31,454,047

TEHNE106EEF 283 B2 A KIMART  The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 283 were
R-ZE-FTENANAKESSRBNIEET  approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6th

o WH NIBESERERESE April, 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
FHE Rt
Director Director

EZE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

\Z - NE+-A=1+—BLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019
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KRR
Attributable to owners of the Company
EXGE  TOREE FBRER
B Special  Exchange  EfffifkE  EhEE  Zied Non-  [E%#E
Share capital  translation  Revaluation Other  Retained %5 controlling Total
capital reserve reserve  reserves  reserves  eamings Total  interests equity
L TR T T THL TR L L THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hit38)
(i)
(note 38)
(Note i)
R=F-\F-A-H At Tst January, 2018
(RE5) (originally stated) 3,788,814 1,417,669 952,217 61,387 (329,167) 17,534,360 23,425,280 1,459,760 24,885,040
SHEREDNTE Effect on changes in accounting policies - - - (77,903) - 77,903 - - -
RZZ-\F—A—-B(Ej|)  AtlstJanuary, 2018 (restated) 3,788,814 1,417,669 952,217 (16,516)  (329,167) 17,612,263  23,425280 1,459,760 24,885,040
HERSIIERFEL L Exchange differences arising on
EnzR translation to presentation currency - - (297,565) - - - (297565 (16927)  (314,492)
HERNERRELY Exchange differences arising on
EizR translation of foreign operations - - (67,605) - - - 67,605) - (67,605)
EEBERRRASEE2  Share of other comprehensive expense of
Eft2EER associates and joint ventures - - (64,920) - - - (64,920) - (64,920)
FBEMPERERLABEE  Netchange in fair value of
BEZRATARGEE equity instruments at fair value
LEEE through other comprehensive income - - - (64,955) - - 64,955) (1,681)  (66,636)
FREGIENERAR Deferred tax effect on change in fair
BERE/BRAIA value of an equity instrument at
MrEEZEDZ fair value through other
FEMENEE comprehensive income - - - 3,603 - - 3,603 - 3,603
RERZRENERY Surplus on revaluation of properties and
NEREREER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
EfiRs to investment properties - - - 3,156 - - 3,156 1,054 4210
RERZRENZRY Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
WEEEZELERE properties upon transfer to
724 investment properties - - - (4,527) - - (4,527) (1,512) (6,039)
it} Others - - - - 763 - 763 - 763
RERER Profit for the year - - - - - 1,251,202 1,251,202 6,909 1,258,111
KAEERE(BR)WREE Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year - - (430,090) (62,723) 763 1,251,202 759,152 (12,157) 746,995
REEEBEB R ENR Transfer of revaluation reserves to
BARBEREZRA retained earnings upon disposal of
TERBRERERE equity instrument at fair value
eyl through other comprehensive income - - - 4,601 - (4,601) - - -
REAE Dividend recognised as distribution
(Hi#4) (note 14) - - - - ~ (301,354 (301,354) - (301,354)
REDET Dividend distributed to
kiR non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (77,670)  (77,670)
WoZ—JE+=B=+-F  At31st December, 2018 3788814 1417,600 522127 (74638  (328404) 18557510 23,883,078 1369933 25,253,011
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

HE-ZT-hF+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

ARARRES
Attributable to owners of the Company
*h Ej
BrfhE  TEER FERES
R& Special  Exchange  EfifiE  HitRE  2iER Non-  ERHH
Share capital ~ translation  Revaluation Other  Retained &3t controlling Total
capital reserve reserve  reserves  reserves  earnings Total ~ interests equity
Tn Tn TEn TEn TER TER TEn TEn TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hiit3s)
(hi)
(note 38)
(Note i)
REE-N\Ft-A=1+-8 At 31st December, 2018 3,768,814 1,417,669 522,127 (74,638)  (328,404) 18,557,510 23,883,078 1,369,933 25,253,011
BERSTIERAEL L Exchange differences arising on translation to
EiZE presentation currency = - (453,602) = = - (453,602) (2,999)  (456,601)
BESIERRELL Exchange differences arising on translation of
EizE foreign operations = = 2,174 = = = 2,174 = 2,174
EEBERAARAELEL Share of other comprehensive expense of
At2EER associates and joint ventures - - (142,182) - - - (142182 - (14218
FREMRENGRAABE Net change in fair value of
REZRFIELLEEZ equity instruments at fair value through
b 4 other comprehensive income - - - (65,419) - - (65,419) (1,301)  (66,720)
FREM2ENERALEE Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
REZREIALLEEL an equity instrument at fair value through other
29 EEHENTE comprehensive income = = = 1,210 = = 1,210 = 1,210
Eft Others - - - - 423 - 423 - 423
TR Profit for the year = = = = - 1345942 1,345,942 9630 1,355,572
TEEZE(BR) hReE Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year = - (593,610) (64,209) 423 1,345,942 688,546 5,330 093,876
ElEREbE ENEE Share of other reserve of joint venture = = = = 1,827 = 1,827 = 1,827
-FHEARRREERNER Transfer on voluntary liquidation
(fstii) of a subsidiary (Note ii - - (35,059 - - 35,059 - - -
-AeetEEREERNER Transfer on voluntary liquidation
(Histiii) of ajoint venture (Note i - - (5,310) - - 5,310 - - -
REAE Dividend recognised as distribution
(Hit14) (note 14) - - - - - (301,354)  (301,354) - (301,354)
REAET AR ER Dividend distributed to non-controlling interests - - - > S = = (31,068)  (31,068)
RAER 7 Repurchase of shares (note 37) - - - - - @ @) - @)
RZF-NET-A=+-H At 31t December, 2019 3,788,814 1,417,669 (111,852)  (138,847)  (326,154) 19,621,346 24,250,976 1,344,195 25,595,171
Mzt Notes:
iy MNZEBE—NF—A—BE-_Z—IFt+—A=+— (i) Revaluation reserves of the Group as at 1st January, 2019 and 31st
B AEBSEGHHERESBHEMEIERESRAR December, 2019 comprise the investment revaluation reserve arising from
BERECRATAAABEABRMELZIRES the fair value adjustment on equity instruments at fair value through other
HREEE - ARNEREREERMESEMEL comprehensive income and property revaluation reserve arising from
VB - revaluation of properties upon transfer to investment properties.
iy REBE-Z—AE+-_A=+—HIEFER —f (i) During the year ended 31st December, 2019, a subsidiary, which was
AR EE A RAEAMB([FRE ) sEM L B E R 2 M established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and was inactive, was
BARE BREEE - AIE X )ZEF#35,059,000% voluntarily liquidated. Exchange translation reserve of HK$35,059,000 was
TLEERE BT o released to retained earnings.
(i) RBE-_Z—HFE+-_A=t+—RHILtEER " —H (iiiy  During the year ended 31st December, 2019, a joint venture, which

RPBEEFMRZIAENERZEEMEEEREEE -
HIE 3 F B RE5,310,000/8 T B S B E KE0EF) o

was established in the PRC and was inactive, was voluntarily liquidated.
Exchange translation reserve of HK$5,310,000 was released to retained
earnings.
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mERETRY X
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE_Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
TR TET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BR A 1 Profit before tax 1,704,337 1,867,569
HE Adjustments for:
O L Other income and gains
—BREKA - Dividend income (6,281) (3,767)
—RITFEARERER - Interest income on bank deposits and
VN loans receivable (220,078) (273,035)
- REAEREZFEBRA — Interest income from joint ventures (25,975) (8,008)
FRRRRAABEREL Net (increase) decrease in fair value of
TREEZ AR BET financial assets at fair value through
(s o) profit or loss (70,435) 68,246
BRRRRAABEREL Net (increase) decrease in fair value of
BAESZ DA BEE equity securities at fair value through
(Em)E D profit or loss (12,850) 29,597
—ZEP ZEER WA Deferred rental income from a tenant (7,991) (8,267)
ERINEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories of
REMEZ PABE completed properties to investment
Wiz properties (101,743) (229,137)
RENFAABEZEM Increase in fair value of investment properties (246,620) (201,283)
BERINEFEZRE Write-down of inventories of completed properties 1,801 4,014
FERMERERE Impairment loss on properties for development 42,368 -
RBAFEEHHREK Recovery of receivable written off
R B in prior years (21,774) -
R & REEE Net impairment losses on loans receivable 277,419 -
FEMEEEE DAl Share of profit of associates (6,410) (55,688)
RS &P E RN Share of profit of joint ventures (925,304) (378,774)
BMERA Finance costs 186,030 155,964
FEREE Depreciation and amortisation 71,840 47,272
—HeErEER B Gain on liquidation of a joint venture (29) -
HERFTHENE  BEREEZ  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off of property,
B M) plant and equipment 167 (78)
HEESEHR L Operating cash inflows before movements
EEREMA in working capital 638,472 1,014,625
MEFERD Decrease in inventories of properties 116,118 904,598
FRRNERBESEE Increase in properties for development and deposits for
VIE Pk s acquisition of properties for development (698,924) (2,271,092)
EwFs(gm)md (Increase) decrease in other inventories (1,046) 1,537
R REMRUERER - (Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables,
e MIERE M) E D deposits and prepayments (207,011) 145,121
FRERRANBEREL Decrease in equity securities at fair value
BAEHRD through profit or loss 5,558 1,739
RIE 2 BT 5 )R (Increase) decrease in restricted bank deposits (91,388) 470,112
25 REMEMERTEM Increase in trade and other payables 663,639 358,094
aRaEHY Decrease in contract liabilities (822,786) (442,460)
HPzBeke(RL)EMm (Decrease) increase in rental deposits from tenants (95) 6,579
(AR )RELEER RS Cash (used in) from operations (397,463) 188,853
ERTREMCERER - LHEER  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”),
([Hi2ER]) - BIMER overseas tax and Hong Kong Profits Tax
BRMEH paid (143,079) (103,771)
REMEREHRRH PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded 1,504 397
(AR)REEE£K 2B EFE  NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (539,038) 85,479

-
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mERER B X (A
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
i3 TR TET
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
REXH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BIH S Interest received 234,779 248,511
BREAERENRE Dividends received from joint ventures 323,234 245,708
BUkBEBEMEENGEIRAL  Dividends received from equity instruments at fair

BEREIRATEMNRE value through other comprehensive income 3,408 2,101
PUREEBIBRIEAABERE Dividends received from financial assets

JERBENRE at fair value through profit or loss 699 657
BENE  BELEHE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (8,009) (5,073)
HENE - BER Proceeds on disposal of property,

REME plant and equipment 62 476
BERENE Purchase of investment properties (335) (4,016)
HEREMER Proceeds from disposal of investment properties,

BERMG net of value added tax 7,341 12,548
WE-HashE Acquisition of a joint venture - (1,495,701)
BEABERRAABMEREZ  Purchase of financial assets at fair value through

PHEE profit or loss (23,130) (396,855)
BEAREMIENRGEERAR Purchase of equity instruments at fair value through

BERE/BRATA other comprehensive income (204,441) (42,134)
REEBEMEERERAR Proceeds from return of capital of

BEREIRATEMNEAR an equity instrument at fair value through

RIBFTE other comprehensive income - 28,919
REEBERRANBERE Proceeds from return of capital of financial assets at

LEREENERREME fair value through profit or loss 222,222 -
RE—AELEEENFUR Receipt from liquidation of a joint venture 10,420 -
RETEER Advances to joint ventures (690,153) (441,933)
RELEER Repayment from joint ventures 85,510 61,182
BENEER Repayment from associates 110,000 121,454
HEER Loans repaid 744,251 265,678
RTER Loans advanced (795,892) (1,112,476)
FEIEIR 2 RITIE 2 R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 1,986 179,075
BIEEREZRITERZEA Placement of pledged bank deposits (53,789) (550,000)
BRBEERZREFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (31,837) (2,881,879)
MEXH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ZARAEE Payment on repurchase of shares 37 (21,121) -
BAFIE Interest paid (245,903) (203,961)
BARE Dividend paid (301,354) (301,354)
BN FIERRERR S Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (31,068) (77,670)
HERITREMER New bank and other loans raised 3,341,890 1,557,395
HEREFIREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (1,959,288) (1,087,483)
REHEATER Advances from associates 9,820 6,128
RERBEER Advances from joint ventures 496,362 932,111
HEAELERER Repayment to joint ventures (35,531) (3,128)

REWEXK RS FE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,253,807 822,038
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REBRETRY X (A
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2019 2018
TR THT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BeRBELEEER NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
BmOED)F8 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 682,932 (1,974,362)
R-A-BZRER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BeZEER AT 1ST JANUARY 2,175,526 4,194,781
INESLARRE s 8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (40,393) (44,893)
R+-A=t-Bz2 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
BeRBEEEEER AT 31ST DECEMBER 2,818,065 2,175,526
RERRLEE ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
BEAEBEAM CASH EQUIVALENTS
RITEFLRRE Bank balances and cash 2,942,277 2,293,386
B RRE 2 RIERHE) Less: restricted bank deposits (Note) (209,248) (117,860)
2,733,029 2,175,526
BEENBAGEEET L Bank balances and cash included in
BITEERRS assets classified as held for sale 85,036 -
2,818,065 2,175,526

et - SREBITFRRBERITETRIEE - %88 Note: The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash which
TRFRERANETNYERRIBL R HRARE can only be applied in the designated property development projects or held

(= in the custody of the court.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BEZ-NF+-_A=+—RALFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

1. B¥E

ARZPEREERAR(ARADR—RER
BEMKLZ ARER AR - ERNETEH
BRPAERAR(TBRA]) LW - KRR
M eI REI R E 22 E BN AFR
[RR]ER—EIPIEE -

ARBIREKBAR (R AEE]) EZ2EE
MEZRRIIE - REMEEERREER
ARBZWEEESARE(TARE]) - AX
SEZABREBHETFEEE - RAMHR
ZAFREER(ET)2Y - SBRARTNY
BEEMAMTR - EREARAF 2 EHH)T
ARRIZEE([EX)R/ETLIRZEELZ
2HE% -

2. EAEEBMBRERED(EFEMK
HER ) 2 # 7T RAERT A

REFERFER BB K REER
ZHTR] RAEFT 2

RAEE - AEBEEREATIHEES
EAE([EEGTEAE ) RMHZ BB R
EER 2 AT RIERTA

BEMBREENS 165 HE

EE(ABRMERERE  FEHRECTHREE
ZEE)-RRBELHR

BN GRS ER BEAREZBNR
FORETA K

EEg LR FEIZIERT - R
FE195BFIA HE

RS REENARALLEY
E28FUERTA iR

BN GRS E ERUBEREEN-_F—RF
CHES E R FRNFENH

1. GENERAL

Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its
securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office which is
also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are property development
and investment, provision of property management and investment
holding. The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”) as the Group conducts most of its operations in the PRC.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency
of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Dollars”) which is different from the
functional currency of the Company, as the directors of the Company
(“Directors”) consider that Hong Kong Dollars is the most appropriate
presentation currency in view of its place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:
HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments
Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERERMBHRELEN(EEBMHK
HEEA ) 2 # 7] RISRT A ()

RAFEBRFERZEEMBREER
ZHTRT RAERT A (48)

BRTATRESN  AEERABR MRS LR
ZHET RIERT A AEERNAFE RBEFE
ZHBRARMRK, SHRZERE P BR
RZPBWBEATE -

2.1 EARMBBREEAF1REE
AEBERAFEHXERBT SRS ZEL
F165% - BEPBRELENFIHIRE LSS
FHERIE 1 79R [ E | BRI RE -

HEZES

AEECERARENR  HRATRERAEEER
ERE17E TR (BARMBRERELZEE)
BEFARET ARSI RESHE M
MIRHEZANEREEBREEAF 16
5o MEBET IR SESHENGHAL
SREMULER - At - AREWEEHNTEE
BEXREABZRCREREZRL -

AR T NF—A—BAH 2RI LH{EHRZ
BH - AEBRRBBMERELERF1655M
FRTRAEEZERENE—HANREESE

=HE -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”, and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease” and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has
not reassessed contracts which already existed prior to the date of
initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1st January, 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERERMBHRELEN(EEBMHK

HEA ) 2 # 7] RISRT A ()

2.1 BERAMBHRELEUE163RAEE)
ERABA

AEECEPEAEEYBRELNE 1637
R-T-hF—-—A—HEBEXERBERRFF
& - BREMAZEAEENBIRENF
FERMLEE R W E|ET -

ERERREEEMEHREERE 165 ER
ERCER AR - AEEEREREBE LS
ERF17HROEREERELHENZAE
EZER FEZEMHESNRBEEANER
BEHR(BEEAHEHN T RERB L2
EARGRNEETNEREREEENTEER

&) e

RIBEH - ERABEBUHRELENF 165K
WHEERHERE -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1st January, 2019.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained earnings and comparative information has not been
restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS 16
at transition, the Group applied the practical expedient of electing
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases
with lease terms ending within twelve months of the date of initial
application, to leases previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts.

On transition, no lease liability is recognised upon application of
HKFRS 16.

R-Z-h#&
-A—H

As at 1st
January,
2019

THET
HK$’000

R-ZF—/\F+-_A=1+—H
WE 2 REHEAIE
B HERE R —RHEE

Operating lease commitments disclosed as
at 31st December, 2018
Less: Recognition exemption — short-term leases

1,915
(1,915)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

TENFT-A=TRLLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERSEMBHRELED ([ FEBFE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HEEA ) 2H T RIEETA (&) TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 BEMEREERE165EHEE) 2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
EABREA (&) As a lessee (continued)

RZEBE-NF—A—AZ2EREEEREMER The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1st January, 2019
BAT : comprises the followings:

EREEE BRRME
Right-of-  Properties for
use assets development

Bt aE THETT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HEREBHISHREER]  Right-of-use assets relating to operating
FIMERCEHE leases recognised upon application
ARANEHELE - of HKFRS 16:
3 Az TR A Reclassified from prepaid lease
MERFEFHE payments on land use rights (i) 40,104 -
BEEAFER Amount included in properties
MERH B for development (ii) - 3,342,421
40,104 3,342,421
=HER By class:
HELH Leasehold lands 40,104 3,342,421

Bt : Notes:

() MRPBEzHRELM 2 EBNFR=_ZE—-N\E+=A (i)  Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC were classified as prepaid
=t+—HBoEALMEREZANEER - ERA lease payments on land use rights as at 31st December, 2018. Upon
EBVBREERE 16550 - HinE AR FENE application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portions of prepaid lease
ERZmERIERBEH S B 4892,0008 7T payments on land use rights amounting to HK$892,000 and HK$39,212,000
%39,212,0008 TEEM AP EHAEEE - respectively were reclassified to right-of-use assets.

(i) RAEZEELZREBREEXAR=ZZ—/\U (i) Payments for leasehold lands and directly attributable costs in the PRC

FT_RA=+—BE2BATERYE - EEAE were classified as properties for development as at 31st December, 2018.
BB HRELNEIHE  TRRYVESER Upon application of HKFRS 16, properties for development amounting to
3,342,421,0008 TR AFEREEET B EER HK$3,342,421,000 were considered as right-of-use assets and included in

BRYES - properties for development.
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BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERERMBHRELEN(EEBMHK
HEA ) 2 # 7] RISRT A ()

2.1 BERAMBHRELEUE163RAEE)
ERHBEA

BREEMBHREERE165RABRGEX - KN
SEBARASBRESEBAZEERRIED
ERHEE - EERZFHERERERRER
REBM B MEENF165EAR - MELEER
WHEET

@ RERBEBYBHREERNF165EE - B
BHEAHNTHRMEBEEAHNCIL
BRERERBRABNHEES ORIEB
WRAHER T —NF—A—BEFTH
AR - ERARRAEAKER -1
F-A—BNEEMBRRARUELE -
Am R-F-NF-A—HERE A
KRR ZEFTHENNAERIERE
RHHEERRIZEREERSWA -

b) EEABEBUHEMEERE 16558 - 2
B AREAES RS NG SEAE LSS
ERF17ROBE RN EER - R
BREBVHHREENF16RHEREDN
EE - RERSVIFEFEREEEMRD
A WEABRARRNBEREROZ
g ZFEUAREAFR ZRAMFB®R
RIBEATE °

© RZT-NF-A—BEXRE  A&KECE
ERBEARHBEHRE LB 15HRADEAL
RETSEHERIFHEERS - OB E
REBHAEERNEE 2HRAMBEHRRL
BEATE -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but accounts for these leases in
accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and
comparative information has not been restated.

(@) Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application relating
to the same underlying assets under existing lease contracts
are accounted as if the existing leases are modified as at 1st
January, 2019. The application has had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1st January,
2019. However, effective on 1st January, 2019, lease payments
relating to the revised lease term after modification are recognised
as income on straight-line basis over the extended lease term.

(b) Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as rights and obligations under leases
to which HKAS 17 applied. Based on the definition of lease
payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right-of-use assets and were adjusted to reflect the
discounting effect at transition. The effect has no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
current year.

(c) Effective on Tst January, 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 15
to allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and non-
lease components. The change in allocation basis has had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current year.
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HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERSEMBHRELED ([ FEBFE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HEEA ) 2H T RIEETA (&) TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 BEMEREERE165EHEE) 2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

ERBLHHEA ()

As a lessor(continued)

UTASR-ZE—NF—A—BZEAUEMR The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
MEPHERZSEER AL - REEARTE  in the consolidated statement of financial position as at Tst January,
B ERIER o 2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been

included.
RiE
AR BERMBERE
—E-N\F ERIZE165
+t=A=+—AH R=ZF-h#%&
P28 2 BREE —A—HZ
Carrying fREE
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under

reported as at

HKFRS 16 as at

31st December, Fiikd 1st January,
2018 Adjustments 2019
THETT FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
TR Prepaid lease payments on
ERHEER land use rights 39,212 (39,212) -
FREEE Right-of-use assets - 40,104 40,104
REBEE Current assets
TR Prepaid lease payments on
TERHEER land use rights 892 (892) -
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BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 sets out how to determine the accounting tax
position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The
interpretation requires the Group to determine whether uncertain tax
positions are assessed separately or as a group and assess whether it
is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment
used, or proposed to be used, by individual group entities in their
respective income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty
is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected
value.

The application of HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 in the current year has had no
material effect on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether
a prepayment feature meets the condition of representing solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding (“SPP1”), the party exercising the option may pay or
receive reasonable compensation for the prepayment irrespective of
the reason i.e. prepayment features with negative compensation do
not automatically fail SPPI.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had no
material effect on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=1+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. BREEMBEEEA(EBHS
&R |) 2 T RBITA ()

22 BRABEBMBRELZNNEMITR
BAIEANETBREBREE(E)

BEBETERFE28FMNEET A RBE 1 AR
BELFZRAEZ

ZEEITAER-—HEBY —HWHEARHE
R REARGEERETERBBRIKIR
BORFREN 87 BRABTENBRESE
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(BRERERTE) ° I ERBBYBREE
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SR ERIF28RAETTRER EAELE S RE
SEREEAFEE )
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BB ASEEHREEEREFREN—I0
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KRETEBAMRE —Z  IARAFEEERZ
LRI AEZEREVBEHMERLFAZER ST
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entity applies HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”), including the impairment requirements, to
long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity
method is not applied that form part of the net investment in the
investee. Furthermore, in applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, an
entity does not take into account adjustments to their carrying amount
required by HKAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-
term interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or
assessment of impairment in accordance with HKAS 28).

As at 31 December 2019, amounts due from joint ventures of
HK$1,397,287,000 are considered as long-term interests that, in
substance form part of the Group’s net investments in the relevant
joint ventures. However, the application of the amendments in
the current year has had no impact on the amounts reported and/
or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements as
the Group’s existing accounting policies are consistent with the
requirements clarified by the amendments.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The annual improvement packages amended the following four
standards.

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

The Group recognises the income tax consequences of dividends in
profit or loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to
where the Group originally recognised the transactions that generated
the distributable profits. This is the case irrespective of whether
different tax rates apply to distributed and undistributed profits.
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BE_Z-NF+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

For any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the related
qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing
becomes part of the funds that the Group borrows generally when
calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

When the Group obtains control of a business that is a joint operation,
the Group applies the requirements for a business combination
achieved in stages, including remeasuring its previously held interest
in the joint operation at fair value. The previously held interest to be
remeasured includes any unrecognised assets, liabilities and goodwill
relating to the joint operation.

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

When the Group obtains joint control of a joint operation in which
the Group previously participated in but did not have joint control,
the Group does not remeasure its previously held interest in the joint
operation.

The application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle in the current year has had no material
effect on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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E-T-NF+-_A=t—HLEE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. ERSEMBHRELED ([ FEBFE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HEEA ) 2H T RIEETA (&) TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

22 EREBHMBEMELENMEMBETR 2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
CHEN=REE - )84 -6, of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

EB#HEEAEXNEEHEHEEER New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

Fral RIEET 3K
RNEFETEREREBUATDEMEEARLEZKE  The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
BB SRS ERIFET MR AN to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
BRUBRERAFI7R  RREL HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'
e R ERE EBRHTER? Amendments to Definition of a Business?
EEIES HKFRS 3
BEMBMERAE05 REEFHAHENA Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
REBGERE26% HAEE R and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
EETAR BEHREITA Venture’
ERETEAEIRREE EXUNTEE Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*
SEERIESRET A and HKAS 8
EEMBRELERER - FREERE Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
BEGEAFIIFIAR HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
BRUBRERUETR
EHEN
L KT —F— A — B2 &R 2 FEBRER L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021
> EARNKEREAR-ZT_TF—HA—Hzxz%MK 2  Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
BEEEFEBEFRE Ak BETNERE O acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
REEWE on or after 1st January, 2020
3 NSEETER) B Hisk 2 12 BRia eV F R B A K 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

¢ RIETF AR ERBFEHRBER 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020

B bl BRI RS IR E LB ET RIEETASN - £ In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a revised
BTN EREMSEREN —_ZF—\FMH  Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
o HERETIAI BB GRELEBIZA Y Its consequential amendments, the “Amendments to References to
BERERNSI B ZEBIIAR BN —_ZE_ZFF—  the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards”, will be effective for
R—Rsz &FABFEHRRAER - annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020.

B T ATl 2 BB RS RAEJERIFNRT MIERTA  Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
SN BEEFEHERAMEEME BT HHREXD]  the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and
el RAEFT AR A B R ETE H4REE®R  amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
REKBERTZE - consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
The amendments:

e add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The election on whether to apply the optional
concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

e clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of
activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs; and

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on
goods and services provided to customers and by removing the
reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is
on or after the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1st
January, 2020, with early application permitted.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality
judgments. In particular, the amendments:

e include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which
the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

e replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

e include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than simply
referring to “users” which was considered too broad when
deciding what information to disclose in the consolidated
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1st January, 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
of other new and amendments to HKFRSs (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
e reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

e introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a new
liability definition that is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability
and an equity instrument;

e discusses historical cost and current value measures, and provides
additional guidance on how to select a measurement basis for a
particular asset or liability;

e states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset
or liability; and

e discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references
in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework,
whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of
the framework. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2020, with earlier application
permitted. Other than specific standards which still refer to the
previous versions of the framework, the Group will rely on the New
Framework on its effective date in determining the accounting policies
especially for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise
dealt with under the accounting standards.

The Directors anticipate that the application of these amendments
may have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in future periods should such transactions, events or conditions arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since Tst January, 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

For investment properties and certain equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which are transacted at
fair value and a valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs is
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below:
Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.
Inventories of properties are transferred to investment properties at fair
value when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
an operating lease. The difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Properties for development

Right-of-use assets for leasehold lands included in properties for
development is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises the consideration for
acquisition of land use rights and other costs are directly attributable
to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary for it to
be capable of development of the properties. The consideration for
acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold land held for future
development. The costs that are directly attributable to bringing the
leasehold land to the condition necessary for it to be capable of
development of the properties are capitalised as costs of properties for
development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties include
land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for
capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair value. All of the
Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for
as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment
will be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner occupation. Transfer from investment
property to property under development will be made where there is
a change in use, evidence by the commencement of construction for
property for sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at
fair value to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at
the date of change in use.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it
is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party.
The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount at the
date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated to use tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except when
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.



e MB®RWNE (E

XL ERERRAR
201955k

137

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=1+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3. EEETHE M)
REEFSNNBAE)
BERFTER WA - THERIEERIEEZ

&

STRBEANRENERERREBEHAKERN -
BRIz S R ILEE T RPN E Y RISIEY
RERSAHNRBE YL RGHEEEERE
AHERERBA - RERAASEERAMNK
ARISIEGIREANTTA ©

EREENTR  NMRASEARESERASE
HESRIEEERNBENEEERHENEER
ZRE - AIAKRERAREERAAZRENE
BRORHERBULA °

EENHEHHZFE

KEEEXR5ER @ WA E &N 3REE (AR
BTN REEFPIAKEEARNEE N EIAE
BPERKBHEEF - AREHREREREEN
TEMARAERENSHE - ERBEBRT -
BHESEENRERD - BRI EAEE
B #) B AR TE 2l & A& 07 K9 TE B SR 16K
BT EENRER AIREFE

AR E MR R EER PR —F
MEK  AEBRBATHREZAENE
ZHREBNTRAB IR SE -

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests are having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group'’s interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded
as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is
regarded as met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control
of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met,
regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell which continue to be measured in accordance
with the accounting policies as set out in respective sections.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 or initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term;

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCl”)
and accumulated in the revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and gains” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net increase (decrease) in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL” and “net increase (decrease) in fair value of equity securities
at FVTPL” line items.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-
controlling interests, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and loans
receivable) and other items (financial guarantee contracts) which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.



e MB®RWNE (E

XL ERERRAR
201955k

151

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BEZT-NFt-A=1T—RHLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

3. EESEE®)
EMITAEE)
THEEE)

ETRMEECZRERMBERRER(E)

(iv) iLHHE

EREMBTRRSE T HEREMEREER
BEREHNAMRE - fl0 > EX5HTER

BEACDEAWERFE  AKBEFHSRE
E- CHEEnNeREEDAEIIAKEED
B (ZEEERER(WER)) 2@ 8Ta
BEHHIA) o EHBRBURRER =M - [EIRER
BEFIRGR B ER

v) BEEEERAG B RIER

BHEEEENGERROTRN  BOME
e B8 (BII2 4B RS 1R IR ) LA B a2 40 LB
YRR ER o FHEZ KRBt RE K PTiE A By B 18
ERBREEERAENELRIE - BHRER
B R B 1 5t R R — B R R AL R g e &
8 BREBR AR R IEmMEE o

—BmE - BHREEEBERESANEN TR
SENFA KRS NS EASL B TEHKER
FIAEREREZHMERE  WIEE XERRE
ERERTREEE -

A BERER - NEERBRBAERNT
A2 GFREBAZONIBER TMEL A - |
it FEHEEATERN TREANEERE

EHEREBEBRRASEBERNSAA - EBA
HAEMEAA LRI EFIRIBZRE -

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee contracts
(continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Other than financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire. On derecognition of a
financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as
at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
revaluation reserves is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation
reserves is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Equity instruments (continued)

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-free
borrowings, trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of property,

plant and equipment less their residual value over their estimated

useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Owned properties Over the unexpired lease term of
the leasehold land or 40 years,
whichever is shorter

20% — 30% or over the lease term
of the leasehold land,
whichever is shorter

20% — 33%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment and motor vehicles

Ownership interest in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire

consideration are allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interest in leasehold land and buildings (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
(upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments on land
use rights” (before application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified
as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land under HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
earnings.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other
than freehold land and properties under construction less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effect on the consolidated financial statements would not
differ materially from individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of twelve months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of their useful
lifes. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lifes and the lease
terms.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of inventory and investment properties as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets
that meet the definition of inventory are presented within “properties
for development” and “inventories of properties (properties under
development and completed properties)” respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1st January, 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value model.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as
part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective from Tst January, 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on
foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group'’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation which are attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong
Dollars) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in exchange translation reserve. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the exchange translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses, the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the investment property portfolios of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures and concluded that investment properties
held by the Group and its associates and joint ventures are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
deferred taxation on investment properties of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures, the Directors have determined that
the “sales” presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the
Group is subject to income taxes and LAT on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.
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4. BEEESTHERIBEMMATZ2E
ERR (&)
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FREHEE 2REBE(REE i) ki AE
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F :5,791,639,000/8 7T ) JHIR A AN K A] B3R )F
ENREEAR EEEREBIYASEREE
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el eERERFYEFE 2 AEIRF
B HEKBRISREEEIBH 2 ETEESR
- DEBREE  BEFOBFRERE -
gtoh - EBERXEAEBE R TIEE 2 ERH
BN RNEAERFERYERERTYETE
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Revenue recognition from sales of properties at a point in
time

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. Significant judgment is required
in determining whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers relate to creation of an enforceable right to payment for the
Group. The Group has considered the relevant local laws that apply
to those relevant contracts. Based on the assessment of the Group’s
management, the terms of the relevant sales contracts do not create
an enforceable right to payment for the Group. Accordingly, the sales
of properties is considered to be performance obligation satisfied at a
point in time.

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties

Properties for development of HK$4,016,593,000 (2018:
HK$3,818,333,000) are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any identified impairment loss (for leasehold lands) or the lower
of cost and net realisable value (for freehold lands), while inventories
of properties of HK$4,838,602,000 (2018: HK$5,791,639,000) are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The management
determined the recoverable amounts of properties for development
and the net realisable value of inventories of properties under
development based on valuations performed by the independent
and qualified professional valuers (the “Valuer”). The valuations are
dependent on certain significant inputs that involve the management’s
judgments, including gross development value, developer’s profit
and discount rate. Besides, the management estimated future
cost to completion of properties for development and inventories
of properties under development with reference to the actual
development cost of the Group’s completed projects.
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4. BEEETHERFABEM MG 2E
BRIR(#)

THEMMGT 2 EERRE)
FRBEWERYRFEZ1GE(E)

EREEEETRE BEETE  FELR

Mz FRIREB 2B BRE S BRI

HWET% WSEERTYERFE 2 METMENR
EORTYEFE 2 A& FE -

EREIEE 2T %zi —NF+=A
—+—BLEFE  # %F#@%Zﬂfﬁrgﬂa
42,368,000 L(ZZ— N\F : E)LARERT
YEFE 2 FE,801,0008 7T (8 — )\4F :
4,014,000/ 0 ) RIERIERR ©

RAABEBERIGEBE

AHBHREBNME - ETAKBZEERA
REEFE -EFTFTREAABENEZEES
BETERZH -

KAt —BEENAABER  AREEAA
HEENTHSABREE - MLEE—F2
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties (continued)

The management determined the net realisable value of inventories
of completed properties with reference to the estimated market prices
of inventories of completed properties, which takes into account
a number of factors including recent prices achieved for similar
property types in the same project or by similar properties in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Australia.

Based on the management’s assessment, the impairment loss on
properties for development of HK$42,368,000 (2018: nil) and the
write-down of inventories of completed properties of HK$1,801,000
(2018: HK$4,014,000) were recognised in profit or loss for the year
ended 31st December, 2019.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are
not available, the Group engages Valuer to perform the valuation. The
Directors work closely with the Valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments.

When determining the fair values of investment properties,
assumptions and key inputs that involve significant judgements,
including term yield, reversionary yield and market unit rent, are
adopted.

Notes 17 and 48c provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of
the fair value of various assets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation
have been announced by local tax bureaux in certain major cities,
however, the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and
payments of the development projects with local tax bureaux in those
cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgements are required
in determining the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes.
The Group recognises these liabilities based on the management’s
best estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Provision of ECL for loans receivable

The Group determines the ECL for loans receivable based on
probability of default and loss given default for each individual loan as
each of them have different loss patterns.

In determining the ECL, the Group engages the Valuer to perform
the calculation of ECL taking into account on each of the borrower
and their guarantor’s background, repayment history of their loans
and forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. The Directors work closely
with the Valuer to determine the appropriate default rate and loss
given default rate. At every reporting date, the probability of default
and loss given default are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Information
about the ECL for loans receivable is disclosed in note 48b.
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5. WA 5. REVENUE
(i) MAZE (i) Disaggregation of revenue
2019 2018
FTHER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REBERE R At a point in time
BERTIEHEE Sales of completed properties 1,543,083 2,627,241
BB R Over time
MEER Property management 134,779 128,400
EfthiE Other operations 30,234 33,290
B RAREWA Revenue from goods and services 1,708,096 2,788,931
HE Leases 513,808 502,788
2,221,904 3,291,719

(i) FFENNENEE

BRUEFEZDENRANREFDEERTY
EEdE(AERXNEEREBETAIIBAZE
R TY%) i EERER -

FEERIA ARG 281 - ERMIREE
BEREAMBRRARZRBEBERZIIRE
MBIME -

MEREEERRARRTRBEROETAE
REER R - ARTFPRSKEWEREARE
1017 B OB P s SR A 25

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains the control of the completed
properties, which is the completed property stated in the sale and
purchase agreement being delivered.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are presented as contract liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property management fee income is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.
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5. WA

(i B REZEITREREFSHNNRTELN

BfE

REVEHEARIEERTENEE(RE
TTRED RETT) RSB RIEFHEREA
MR

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) regarding contracts for
sales of properties and the expected timing of recognising revenue are

as follows:

2019 2018
FTHET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—FR Within one year 1,235,474 2,046,552

ZR—FETER More than one year but not
M more than two years 29,044 16,625
ESNES More than two years 4,385 5,315
1,268,903 2,068,492

MEEERBOENE AT - NEBEY
RO IRE B AR HEESBNIRE - A&
BIEERAATHNREZ  AKEAEL
BERE 7 SRERWA - REZEMBREE
AIB1RBAE - DEEXFRBITANNRS
BT T LAHEE

Contracts for the property management services have various year
terms in which the Group bills fixed amount for each month of
service provided. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient
by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5. WA#®) 5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(iv) HE (iv) Leases
2019
TERT
HK$’000
MEREME - For operating leases of properties:
BElE s BURN —IEHE 1R 3L Lease payments that are fixed or depend on
—IAtLEMHEEFRIE an index or a rate 477,252
PEURR —IEEIR S —IB Variable lease payments that do not depend on
LR EEEAEFIA an index or a rate 36,556
513,808

6. DHEEH

AEERAFEREZWATERBEFTBENREE
PR 2 7% - AEB  ERERTVEER=
HEEER - MERR  MERBEREMEE
(TEBEMEERE) - A WERTAQ
AATER(RSLERKE)RERD IR
ERASBNZAEEA 2/ MEEDFTE
FRIE=ZHFERS - ROERESH - £E
B—HELTOMEREMNB AR ZEEEE -
AEBYERZ ETNERENBRA A2
BRLENHORZT - At ABRBR A
FEXRE BEMAGBEDEAREZHMBY
ERERY—HRE WA -

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’s
basis of organisation is determined based on three main operations:
property development, property investment and other operations
that comprises mainly property management. Similarly, the Group’s
reportable and operating segments, reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company, the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
also focused on these three main operations. For the property
investment segment, it includes business activities of a listed property
investment subsidiary. No reportable and operating segments of the
listed property investment subsidiary are separately presented as
its results, assets and liabilities are prepared and reviewed together
with the Group’s other property investment activities for the internal
performance assessment purposes.
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6.

AEERAERZWARBETZREETE
REBEEZFEY - AREZ2DEBEA -~ %

DEERE)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group’s revenue for the year and assets are derived mainly from
activities carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. An

E -EBEIEBERUSZHREELED I oM analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
T by reportable and operating segment is as follows:
LIE 3295 MERE Hitt& &
Property Property Other =
development  investment operations Consolidated
FERT FHERT THERT THERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-2-N¥1+=A For the year ended 31st December,
=t-HLEFE 2019
2 EBHA SEGMENT REVENUE
HoMHE External sales 1,543,083 513,808 165,013 2,221,904
ES RESULTS
DEREF(EE) Segment profit (loss) 397,406 613,353 (10,819) 999,940
ﬁf@lﬂl?\&uﬁm Other income and gains 311,563
KRBz bERER Unallocated corporate expenses (352,850)
BEKA Finance costs (186,030)
FEMRE AR (E18)%F  Share of (loss) profit of associates (2,557) 8,967 = 6,410
IEaE R EREM Share of profit of joint ventures 602,687 207,254 115,363 925,304
BREE AR Profit before tax 1,704,337
RZE-I#& As at 31st December, 2019
t+t=B=t-H
BE ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 10,354,836 13,937,015 34,387 24,326,238
B’:\H’é **"TZT%E Interests in associates 200,428 2,690,680 = 2,891,108
REELE I ER Interests in joint ventures 2,660,461 3,626,006 240,155 6,526,622
cYNCIUSE Amounts due from associates 2,563 90,229 = 92,792
SEPERK Amounts due from joint ventures 948,295 = 99,682 1,047,977
KEDBZCEEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,164,887
BEEE Consolidated total assets 41,049,624
afE LIABILITIES
HHEE Segment liabilities 5,446,267 2,414,657 165,221 8,026,145
PN ok A =011 Unallocated corporate liabilities 7,428,308
atEaE Consolidated total liabilities 15,454,453
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MERR MERE HipE
Property Property Other |t
development  investment  operations Consolidated
THET TR THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-E-—NE For the year ended
+=A=+—-BiLEE 31st December, 2019
Hivsx OTHER INFORMATION
BERD @M Amounts included in the measure
BB N mEE of segment profit or loss or
o ey B segment assets:
EFEEEVESE Addition to non-current assets 701,763 2,269 3,236 707,268
TER#Y Depreciation and amortisation 61,664 7,154 3,022 71,840
HEMTEDE  BEL Loss on disposal and write-off
BB ER of property, plant and equipment 100 64 3 167
ERIMEFEERES Fair value gain on transfer of
LBYE Y N (EE inventories of completed
& properties to investment properties _ 101,743 _ 101,743
WENENRBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
10 properties = 246,620 - 246,620
BRIMEFE Write-down of inventories of
HiE completed properties 1,801 _ _ 1,801
BBBEEAAEERE  Netincrease in fair value of equity
ZBRAEFEHRZAAEE securities at fair value through
SN profit or loss = = 12,850 12,850
BRBEIZ AR EMEREE  Netincrease in fair value of
ZEREEZ A ARBME  financial assets at fair value
AN through profit or loss - - 70,435 70,435
FEEMERE Impairment loss on properties for
E518 development 42,368 = = 42,368
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6. DEER L) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEER MERE Hth 238
Property Property Other =X
development investment operations Consolidated
THET THETT TET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEZZ—N\E+=H For the year ended
=+—BHLtEE 31st December, 2018
7 EBIA SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMHE External sales 2,627,241 502,788 161,690 3,291,719
ES RESULTS
7w A (&) Segment profit (loss) 861,912 682,936 (7,414) 1,537,434
E A YA R as Other income and gains 320,912
ReeDH o EEEA Unallocated corporate expenses (269,275)
& A AN Finance costs (155,964)
FE(EH = N A (B 18) Share of (loss) profit of
gl associates (589) 56,277 - 55,688
JEE & EBERN Share of profit of joint ventures 186,949 167,673 24,152 378,774
B AR B Al Profit before tax 1,867,569
R-E—-NF As at 31st December, 2018
+=A=+—H
&E ASSETS
DEEE Segment assets 9,998,416 13,796,057 47,582 23,842,055
NN W iy Interests in associates 209,618 2,681,713 - 2,891,331
RE SR R Interests in joint ventures 2,284,224 2,827,431 192,590 5,304,245
kNI Amounts due from associates 2,563 200,229 - 202,792
BEDERR Amounts due from joint ventures 1,264,933 - 68,504 1,333,437
REDE b EEE Unallocated corporate assets 5,440,897
aftaEE Consolidated total assets 39,014,757
&f LIABILITIES
DEEE Segment liabilities 4,603,578 2,404,756 108,316 7,116,650
REEDEEZNEAR Unallocated corporate liabilities 6,645,096
EHEaE Consolidated total liabilities 13,761,746
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6. DEER#)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER  MERERE  HMEE
Property Property Other &Pt
development investment operations Consolidated
TAT TAT TAET TAET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BEZZ—N\E+=H For the year ended

=+—HLEE 31st December, 2018
HipEx OTHER INFORMATION
BIIER D B0 Fl 5k Amounts included in the measure

R DB E of segment profit or loss or

AR segment assets:
ERBEECEE Addition to non-current assets 2,313,345 5,873 1,227 2,320,445
e M o Depreciation and amortisation 31,515 12,555 3,202 47,272
HE M - Loss (gain) on disposal and write-

i K 5t < 18 off of property, plant and

(Uezs) equipment 10 (110) 22 (78)
BERTIYEFEEAESE  Fair value gain on transfer of

REMEZ ARBE inventories of completed

Wz properties to investment

properties - 229,137 - 229,137

REMELAEBEZ Increase in fair value of investment

0 properties - 201,283 - 201,283
ERIMEFEY Write-down of inventories of

ﬁfﬁ completed properties 4,014 - — 4,014

BIEFEAAEERE  Net decrease in fair value of equity

Zﬂx$a§‘%‘2’\"t{ﬁ@ securities at fair value through

R profit or loss - - 29,597 29,597
FBEFRAABERE  Net decrease in fair value of

ZimﬂéEZA/LfﬂE financial assets at fair value

FRLA through profit or loss - - 68,246 68,246

ﬂ%i&&i%%%%BE?A%BZ%&;EEAW*BFW;
MAEESEHER B - HEbaF (Ei8)EE
&5 BHREAEF (EENEE)  EPLES
BRI AR - BEERA - ERBE QT
REEREGN(BE)RAREDEB L OER
Ao WhERTARARNTESRE RS IR
FHERBEEEMZEE -

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each
segment without allocation of other income and gains, finance costs,
share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures and unallocated
corporate expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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6. DEER (&)
& E R

AEERBHINEE 2 WAR R DT IRIREE
HERBARNERmBELE M IEREEER
HEEH(TEERKRERREMERTA
BN REENRERE) HRZFEEN
WEAE - FHOT

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the geographical location where the services

were provided or the goods were delivered, and information about the

carrying amount of non-current assets excluding loans receivable and

other financial instruments, club memberships and deferred tax assets
by the geographical location of the assets are detailed as follows:

HIMEFBA
Revenue from
external customers

FREBEERAE
Carrying amounts of
non-current assets

2019 2018 2019 2018
FET T FH&T FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
s The PRC 2,131,584 3,196,388 20,474,868 20,916,978
B Hong Kong 53,351 56,327 4,024,197 4,008,078
[ United Kingdom 28,609 26,881 745,695 718,200
SEM Australia 8,360 12,123 1,019,076 476,927
2,221,904 3,291,719 26,263,836 26,120,183

FEEF2ER Information about major customers

REMEFE  AEBAREHEHE—HINEPZ
52 WANZEAREB R AT0%A L -

No revenue from transaction with a single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for both years.
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7. HEM AR W= 7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2019 2018
FTERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR B A Dividend income
— I Lk, — unlisted shares 2,223 2,111
— kg — listed shares 4,058 1,656
RITE A EIWA Interest income on bank deposits 50,153 51,195
FEWE R & Interest income from loans
WA receivable 169,925 221,840
KEEEREZMSWA Interest income from joint ventures 25,975 8,008
BT F E B ES Recovery of receivable
FEMBR T 2 BT written off in prior years 21,774 -
T ON Subsidy income - 103
Hip A Other income 37,455 35,999
311,563 320,912
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8. MEMA 8. FINANCE COSTS
2019 2018
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT - Interest on:
RITER Bank loans 232,955 203,095
HthEM® Other loans 8,205 2,907
BRLHE Loans arrangement fee 3,409 259
244,569 206,261
B BAER Less: amount capitalised
BRPYWE on properties under
] development (58,539) (50,297)
186,030 155,964
9. FHi1E 9. TAXATION
2019 2018
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
XHBLE The charge comprises:
AR IR Current tax
—HBMEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax 3,995 10,676
—BHNHIE — Overseas Tax = 3,423
— M EPEMESEH - PRC Enterprise Income Tax 104,546 265,983
— T IIRET ~ LAT 111,587 160,867
220,128 440,949
BEEE (BRERE) (Over) under provision in prior
BETR years
—HEMEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax 4 50
— N IE — Overseas Tax (6,495) (1,196)
—HRRAPEMEH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (1,932) 2,993
(8,423) 1,847
211,705 442,796
RIERR IR (A15E40) Deferred tax (note 40) 137,060 166,662
348,765 609,458
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HE-T-NF+-A=1+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

9. BIE#E)

RZE—NE=ZA=-+—H8 FBILLER
B2017F R (BE]) (B7H)EAIER(E
=])  BREMAFFSHESE - ZEARRNZ
E-—NF=ZAZT+N\BERIKEER  TRKX
BHZBR AL - EMAEHFNEREFET
HEERNEEEENE2008 B THFER
1£8.25% % - MR iB2008 B T FE g%
16.5%EF o TFEFE MR G FISHEGHEERL
MEBEREAOFEBEEN6.5%ME — TR
B - Bt RAFER  BEAFNEHREE
2008 B T8 (h ET FE T B A 128.25% 5T B M
BiB2008 8 T A (E ET R R ADE A5 1216.5%
B -

RIFR B EMEREMNCEMSBEEEIE
Bl REMBEFERN - BREATFEMERTN
TR E25% ©

BINHIARIZARBEIZIRTTHEE R -

T HIRE TR 2 B T IR AARE T B BOE ARG A
Rl HERE - LHIRERRBERERNRE T
R FFRREIRIE R R

LR RERRG R R S BMGTH
2008 15% - B=FENF—H—HHXK - R
BIRK S 2 Bt 2 Bl EE A 5m F) 0k T IR RA%
EEZRBASMNTEEMERITARESH
EMBRESEIR27IEERINERETER
SNEBEREERMEFEIVRERINEIRE
PERINHPEHTEEBEN - KD IRAF)
ZIRERTE S 131,314,000 7T K 47,884,000
BT ARE-_T—AER_T—N\F
TZA=T—RLEFEZEAEREERA -

9. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (“Bill”) which
introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28th March, 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, starting
from the current year, the Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Laws of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Overseas Tax is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant countries.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC to “non-residential”
shall be subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax and withheld by
the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law

Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises

investors since 1st January, 2008

and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$31,314,000 and
HK$47,884,000 on the undistributed earnings have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31st
December, 2019 and 2018 respectively.



1 80 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2019

e MB®RWNE (&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

9. BIE#E)

AEEBAS HEESIBERAEN 2 4R

9. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the

N consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
2019 2018
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRA B4 A Profit before tax 1,704,337 1,867,569
EEAPMEHEE25% Tax at the domestic income tax
SHEZBIEM) rate of 25% (Note) 426,084 466,892
JEEEE AR R e B Tax effect of share of profit of
A 2 BB associates and joint ventures (232,929) (108,616)
B AS 2 Tax effect of expenses not
MIATE deductible for tax purpose 15,912 22,026
FERTIAZ Tax effect of income
HIERE not taxable for tax purpose (17,505) (27,018)
RIERT IR E R H A Tax effect of tax losses and
AHMRERERZ other deductible temporary
I E differences not recognised 96,788 71,064
FABERERTIA Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
[E518 K A AT 3R losses and other deductible
TRERZ temporary differences
mIaRE previously not recognised (68,885) (40,275)
WBARTRHEZ Effect of different tax rates of
TE subsidiaries (18,110) (13,083)
ROIRER] 2 Withholding tax on undistributed
TEIRHE earnings 31,314 47,884
THIEER T E Effect of LAT 124,286 188,480
BEFE (BREERE) (Over) under provision in
BET R prior years (8,423) 1,847
EAth Others 233 257
REFHIAXH Tax charge for the year 348,765 609,458

Krat - ARBERERZBEARR DA RE T BELHE
2B (ANh B ST E)

Note: The domestic tax rate (PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction

where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

10. REEm A 10.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2019 2018
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RF R Profit for the year has been
EF0kR arrived at after charging
(FFA) (crediting):
M - BB RE Depreciation of property, plant
e and equipment 16,202 21,612
B BAER Less: amount capitalised
ERPYE in properties under
i} development (1,288) (2,050)
14,914 19,562
W& Depreciation/amortisation of:
EfhEE Other assets — properties
—EER interests 494 500
FERYE Properties for development
(Hfazi) (Note i) 55,724 26,111
EREEE Right-of-use assets 708 -
T EREZ Prepaid lease payments on
BRI THER land use rights = 1,099
FrEMEEH Total depreciation and
k= amortisation 71,840 47,272
BETEBR(BREEEME) Staff costs (including Directors’
(Hfazii) emoluments) (Note ii)
—FekEMER — Salaries and other costs 242,417 239,397
—RIKBAE R — Retirement benefits costs 30,451 31,406
— - B — Less: amount capitalised in
ERPYE properties under
G| development (19,394) (16,704)
BT EBMAEE Total staff costs 253,474 254,099
KEREWMERZ Gross rental income from
GEEA N L investment properties (513,808) (502,788)
B NFRNESE Less: direct operating expenses
HEWAZ from investment properties
BREMED that generated rental
HERLEER income during the year 115,245 111,183
(398,563) (391,605)
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

10. RFEER (2) 10.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)
2019 2018
TET THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZE RN & Auditor’s remuneration 7,057 7,827
FEZERAEERB Cost of inventories recognised as
iR expenses 925,518 1,632,504
FIE N E51E Net exchange loss 7,527 4,620
HE T MERATR(BEER Urban land use tax included in
HipEEER) other operating expenses 3,275 3,443
HE R Loss (gain) on disposal and write-
BB P off of property, plant and
EiE (Wa) equipment 167 (78)
AR RETZ Short-term lease payment/
R ERES operating lease charges in
KEHEER respect of land and buildings 7,606 8,401
HisE - Notes:
() FEEVEHEUERZZEATOHAEN®ERRY ()  Amortisation of properties for development is recognised in profit or loss on a
B@mA o straight-line basis over the term of the relevant land leases.

(i) BIEMINBIERMTEN LM F46FTIHENE (i) The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee
BESNBTETESRIARFRIZEETHETIZE as disclosed in note 11 and note 46(a) for certain Directors as well as
EREAR - management personnel who are not Directors or staff of the Company.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

11.E5ME 11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEEN T+ —6((ZZF—/\F : +=f7)& The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven (2018: twelve)
EZBE0T - Directors were as follows:
2019
e/ RisE BEE RIRBR

REMEN  ABEzRS AR

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EEWE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme st
fees benefits payments contributions Total
TERT TERT TERT TET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Hiati)
(Note i)
HITES Executive Directors
RIEH, Song Zengbin 10 2,160 769 - 2,939
Rk fE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 20 3,424 3,615 = 7,059
5] Ma Sun 10 3,589 2,555 318 6,472
BEW Edwin Lo King Yau 20 1,388 3,905 64 5,377
HRE Tao Tsan Sang 20 2,184 2,714 202 5,120
80 12,745 13,558 584 26,967
HFlBERZHTEEMEENEEEEARDRRASE  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in
EES/ connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
FHTES Non-Executive Directors
TRE Lee Seng Hui 10 4,765 29,205 104 34,084
58 Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
20 4,765 29,205 104 34,094

FHRBERZIERTEEMEEANESEAARATR,  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as

FEMBRAZEE IR directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
ByEHT Independent Non-Executive
B2 Directors

BB (Hritii) Francis ). Chang Chu Fai (Note i) 10 92 - - 102

SBL(MET)  Jin Hui Zhi (Note ii) 10 92 - - 102

REL(Hitii) Ngai Wah Sang (Note i) 10 118 - — 128

BRBIR(Watii) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note ii) 20 184 - - 204
50 486 - — 536

LRBR 2 BUFTESHEHNESERARLTE The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for
R/ REMNBARZEF MR - their services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiary.

k] Total 61,597
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11.E5M& @) 11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2018

e/ REE iz EREF

KEMBER  AEc® HEIGEA

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EE ok service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme W=t
fees benefits payments  contributions Total
FAL FAEL FAEL FAEL FAL
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(Hiizi)
(Note i)
HITES Executive Directors

RIBW Song Zenghin 10 2,160 420 - 2,590
&N Patrick Lee Seng Wei 20 3,346 3,723 - 7,089
5] Ma Sun 10 3,589 2,688 318 6,605
BET Edwin Lo King Yau 20 1,346 3,904 62 5,332
gL Tao Tsan Sang 20 2,106 2,495 194 4,815
FRIB(#1:Fii))  Lee Shu Yin (Note iii) - 88 220 2 310
80 12,635 13,450 576 26,741

FPBERZHBTEEMSENEEEERARKRAE  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in

E=%2 R o connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

FHTES Non-Executive Directors

FpE Lee Seng Hui 10 4,878 34,544 99 39,531

HRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
20 4,878 34,544 99 39,541

FPRBRZIERTEEMEENEREIERARLRR,  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as

SHB AR CEF 2RI ¢ directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
B EHAT Independent Non-Executive
2 Directors

EL§5¥8 (M7#2ii)  Francis ). Chang Chu Fai (Note i) 10 86 - - 96

SJE(WzEi)  Jin Hui Zhi (Note ii) 10 86 - - 96

REL(H32i1) Ngai Wah Sang (Note i) 10 111 - - 121

BRI (Hitii) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note ii) 20 172 - - 192
50 455 - - 505

FBR B FHITES IS AR REER The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for

ARAR/SEMBARZES 2R their services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiary.

Pk Total 66,787
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TENFT-A=TRLLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

MN.EEME@)
At -

() ZFBEERZFEASHAERINTHBAEEZE
B —FEERBERES -

(il BIERTERLHELL SEXELE  RELE
FENGBRLLZIREER T NFER -

(i) FHBEENR T N\F—ANBEHE -
FREXEBTARRITRARIBE - kR
A EREE 2 e BREERTRAERMIRYG
ZHBE -

RBEE_ZE—NF+-_A=t+—BEEZ_Z
—N\F+-_A=+—BILtFE  UESENRE
I -

ETESEN " EELRRTEAERER LA
AIEB S - Z AR MAEBIREEERY -
WHAEBRZEEEREMIIERARRES
ZEBEABMBRREKERERER  ZE
BEACREEMNT460FHBECERE A
o FMZERBNIREREAENALES
B2 SEEE - WA HEE FlES -
MO EE 539,431,000 T ( — T — )\ F :
44,833,000/87T) * WEBIFELERA -

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i) The amounts represent the actual discretionary bonus in respect of the
preceding year approved and paid to respective Directors during the year.

(i) The service fees of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi, Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa
Yang Lai Sum are revised in 2019.

(iii) Mr. Lee Shu Yin resigned on 4th January, 2018.

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei performs the function of the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended
31st December, 2019 and 31st December, 2018.

Certain Directors received remuneration from a company which
has significant beneficial interests in the Company. Such company
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group
a management fee, which is included in the management fee as
disclosed in note 46(a), for services provided by these Directors as
well as other management personnel who were not Directors of
the Company. The above-mentioned management fee is calculated
by reference to the time devoted by the management personnel on
the affairs of the Group and can be apportioned to the Directors

mentioned above. The total of such apportioned amounts, which
has been included in the above table, is HK$39,431,000 (2018:
HK$44,833,000).
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1R2.EERSHREEAESHS

BEME

AEBLfUGREHEAL  EP=(=F
—N\F : O REEEER(BEAEETR
mE)  HMEC 8RR LA - AR
ML (ZF—N\F : ) ALHBSNT ¢

12.EMPLOYEES” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
three (2018: four) were Directors including the chief executive of
the Group, whose emoluments are included in note 11 above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2018: one) individuals were as

follows:

2019 2018
T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
e RAMER Salaries and other benefits 4,824 2,124

SRR Performance related incentive
#Be payments 7,579 3,115

RREFETE Retirement benefits scheme

M contributions 108 90
12,511 5,329

ZEANLZBESHIT

The emoluments of the individuals were within the following bands:

2019 2018
EEHE EEEE

Number of Number of

employees employees

5,000,001 7CZ£5,500,000/8 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 = 1
6,000,001/ 7C2£6,500,000/87C HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 2 -

AN B ) Fr B Bl R B R Th 35 £ BOIR 1T 2 K
AR BEEEQRIMERE THRREE - 1MW
EFEEHE  AEEYERAURSME AL
A EEERINARE B AR EEILH
FHEZHE -

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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12.EERSREEAEME (2

BREBEAEME

AEBZ T (ZF—N\F : T ) ERE
BAS  EF+—(ZZ-N\F: +Z6)A
B REZMeEERLRMEN D - &
EE-NFTA=T—BIEFE - H&RX
(=T \F : A AL ZHEWT

12.EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the seventeen (2018: seventeen) senior management of the Group,
eleven (2018: twelve) were the Directors whose emoluments are
included in note 11 above. The emoluments of the remaining six
(2018: five) for the year ended 31st December, 2019 were as follows:

2019 2018

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e REAMER Salaries and other benefits 8,574 5,402
SRR Performance related incentive

#£e payments 9,326 4,758

BRIKEFIETE Retirement benefits scheme
HIR contributions 393 275
18,293 10,435
ZE AN eI Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2019 2018

EEHE EEZE

Number of Number of

employees employees

1,000,000 7L A T HK$1,000,000 or below 1 1

1,000,001 7 & 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1

1,500,001/ L22,000,000/8 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 2

5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 = 1

6,000,0015%7_1:25:6,500,0005%771 HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 2 -

BREEABKBZBERAFRIEZTLD
REBABZBABF | —EIRREE -

The biographies of members of the senior management are disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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13. Bl &R

A SR A 2 SR A R T R 5 B
B

13.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the

owners of the Company is based on the following:

2019 2018
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
87 Earnings
RIAFTBEFIER Earnings for the purpose of
&Rz B basic earnings per share
(KRR FIRR &G (profit for the year attributable
KEFEE @) to owners of the Company) 1,345,942 1,251,202
2019 2018
T Tz
000 ‘000
BE Number of shares
R BEFIRER Weighted average number of
BNz AFE ordinary shares in issue during
DEITEER the year for the purpose of
IR E basic earnings per share 1,506,384 1,506,769

R-E—NEFER-ZT—)\FE  WLELY
EREERN FBAR-_Z—NAEERER-Z
—N\FERILREBITEINBE LR -

No diluted earnings per share for both 2019 and 2018 were presented
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2019 and

2018.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

14. R 2 14.DIVIDEND
2019 2018
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEARERDIRZ Dividend recognised as
IR distributions during the year:
R-E-N\FEDNTERKE Interim dividend (in lieu of
(RERERR) final dividend) paid in
(ZZ—N\F =T —tFE) respect of 2018
(2018: in respect of 2017) 301,354 301,354
BEMREFHARE Interim dividend declared of
%2081 HK20 cents (2018: HK20 cents)
(ZZ—N\F : 208(L) per share 300,129 301,354

RBEHRRE  EFFEMREEE_FT N

F+-AZ+—BULFRFEZHRHBRE (R
BAREKE)BR20BM( ==
i) -

— )\ : 208

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the interim dividend
(in lieu of final dividend) of HK20 cents (2018: HK20 cents) per share
in respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2019 has been

declared by the Board.
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15. 9% - MERRE 15.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EBER
TEZTHRN B &AW
EEEIES RERRE

Owned properties Leasehold
in Hong Kong  improvements,
and the PRC furniture, RE
on medium- fixtures and Motor st
term lease equipment vehicles Total
TEL TET THL THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HAE CosT
R=F-\F—FA—H At 1st January, 2018 219,639 187,549 40,684 447 872
fE 5 A= Exchange adjustments (4,680) (2,537) (839) (8,056)
BE Additions - 1,879 3,194 5,073
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (3,267) - - (3,267)
HERTH Disposals and write-off - (1,192) (2,474) (3,660)
W=E-\E+-A=1-A At 315t December, 2018 211,692 185,699 40,565 437,956
B AR Exchange adjustments (6,589) (3,591) (1,033) (11,213)
BE Additions - 5,029 2,980 8,009
BRNEARE Reclassified as held for sale (16,616) (13,440) (1,332) (31,388)
HEREH Disposals and write-off - (1,394) (1,142) (2,536)
RZE-NE+-A=+-H At 31st December, 2019 188,487 172,303 40,038 400,828
TE DEPRECIATION
WZZ-\F—-A—-H At 1st January, 2018 34,792 124,156 30,053 189,001
[ % Exchange adjustments (749) (1,941) (535) (3,225)
AEEHE Provided for the year 4,550 13,425 3,637 21,612
BEERENE Transfer to investment properties (476) - - (476)
REE R G Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (1,024) (2,244) (3,268)
RZE-\F+-fA=1—-H At 31st December, 2018 38,117 134,616 30,911 203,644
B AR Exchange adjustments (1,302) (3,312) (776) (5,390)
RERHR Provided for the year 4,457 8,272 3,473 16,202
ENNBAGE Reclassified as held for sale (2,482) (12,590) (928) (16,000)
REE R B Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (1,270) (1,037) (2,307)
RZE-NE+-A=+—-H At 31st December, 2019 38,790 125,716 31,643 196,149
IREE CARRYING VALUES
R-E-hE+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2019 149,697 46,587 8,395 204,679

RZE-N\F+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2018 173,575 51,083 9,654 234,312
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16. EREEE 16.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEL i
Leasehold lands
FHET
HK$’000
R=Z2-NF—HF—H At as 1st January, 2019
fREE Carrying amount 40,104
R-ZE—-hF+=-HA=+—8 At as 31st December, 2019
FREE Carrying amount 38,548
BE-Z—NF+-A=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2019
HEER Depreciation charge 889
B REEREP Y Capitalised in properties under development (181)
RZF-NF+=-A=1t—H At 31st December, 2019 708
2019
FET
HK$’000
EGHAHE R EMAEN BB ERE 2R Expense relating to short-term leases and other
BleRHAEAARE+ Z@ARNERNEE leases with terms end within twelve months of
Bz &R the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 7,606
MEMRERLAE Total cash outflow for leases 7,606

AEEEFBEABRMANE - KEB KX
EYEkaz(BREARBEELD ) NEMES
A BEZSYEREHNFIAD —RUEEN -
BRSO FIARE WA E DB - %58
BEMENEEL LT EEBLT

The Group owns several office buildings in the PRC. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying
leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components of these
owned properties are presented separately only if the payments made
can be allocated reliably.
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17. REYHE

AEEUKLERETAHBASHEEE - HBA
= BERAYENTERSE  RAKEGESE - M
REABARRETHHEELERENHRIAR
PASIN o B AGE AFTIEEHR MR - RS 8
EARMEEMERERR - BT TERFHM
BENHERFPHEENR  ZFAERE
THEFEASHMERENANBEENRIEFE
HERE -

AEBARREELHMAZINERR - BAM
BHEYNSEERSANIEERIE -1
SaRTEERERE R HEAEAEHEEE
REREFBEY R REZRE -

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various apartments, offices, commercial
properties and retail stores under operating leases with rentals
receivable monthly with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease contracts
contain market review clauses in the event the lessee exercises the
option to extend. The leases of certain retail stores and hotel contain
variable lease payment that are based on certain percentage of sales
and minimum annual lease payment that are fixed over the lease
term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.
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17.5%EW¥E =) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

2019 2018
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
DREE FAIR VALUE
n—HA—H At 1st January 13,622,280 13,100,399
[E o L Exchange adjustments (378,606) (296,825)
BE Additions 335 4,016
BREAYE  BEL Transferred from property, plant
B and equipment _ 4,991
B A AR AN Transferred from prepaid lease
HEX payments on land use rights = 19,818
EEEERSD Transferred to properties under
LES development (15,063) (61,674)
BEMOBEARFE Reclassified as held for sale (1,398,200) -
HE Disposals (6,917) (11,785)
HEEADRIVE Transferred from inventories of
FE completed properties 208,559 432,920
ERIVMEFEERSE Fair value gain on transfer of
BREWERZ inventories of completed
AREE properties to investment
Weas properties 101,743 229,137
310,302 662,057
RBRBEHZAREE Increase in fair value recognised
140 in profit or loss 246,620 201,283
R+t=—A=+—H At 31st December 12,380,751 13,622,280
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17. 8REY=2)

BRERREWEA11,925,751,0008 T ( ==
—/)\%E : 13,153,280,000/87T) Z 2B TWE N
455,000,000 7T (=& — J/\F : 469,000,000
BIT) 2 BERPWE -

AEBZEEVERBRECRINERFE
ME - BELRERERREECBRR-F
—hFE+ A=t —BZaREBENREHRSE
AEEEETABEENBLISEREETFEA
- EHERFEERAR(ZE-NF &
HEBEFEBERAR)RE AETHNM-E - &
BEEBERKREL  EERTHEHS K AKH
HERHRRAES - LERMEENYEME -
BEYZRS B EERS 2 —REORRNE
EREMSHEENTERZEERLEE - 3t
WERIMEEFR WX BEERERER
REEBREREVMERZIVEMNS @ HEDHE
RIEEZL - BRPREVENBEDRABHRE
FEYBERZENESERBEZHFAE T RMEFA
BRIRT - Wat R FER T FIFER R EER A
MmEE  URMERTHEBREMNEE - BE
FEMABMGET AL EZS) -

REMENRABER  WENRS LRE
Rz SEERAZRNTEHRAR

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Included in the investment properties are completed properties of
HK$11,925,751,000 (2018: HK$13,153,280,000) and properties
under development of HK$455,000,000 (2018: HK$469,000,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties, property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets and as at 31st December,
2019 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on
those dates by Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited (2018: Norton
Appraisals Holdings Limited), the firm of independent and qualified
professional valuers which is not connected with the Group. The
valuation was principally based on investment method by taking
into account the current rents passing and the reversionary income
potential of tenancies. For the properties which are currently
vacant, the valuation was based on each of the property interests by
capitalisation of the hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a
typical lease term and also make reference to the direct comparison
approach. For the properties which were transferred from inventories
of completed properties, property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets to investment properties, the valuation was based on
investment method. The valuations of investment properties under
development were arrived at by the adoption of the residual approach
on the basis that they will be developed and completed in accordance
with the latest development proposals and having taken into account
the construction cost that will extent to complete the development to
reflect the quality of the completed development. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use or expected use.
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17. REWME (&) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
TREHINMEEIEREMENAAEBE
(RRIRMERNMBETNERZE) - RIEAR
EBEAE2H8NIEREE - H%’thfﬁfﬁ.ﬁr;
DBEERABERNTNER(F-—RES

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the major investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised

WHER} o (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

rEEFAER EERER BrER2HH
R&ENR AREE EFEBH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment &Rl Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
IR EER 2 Y5 £=H REA(EBERZE) HPREX(ZEIAULENERBEARR 5%k = 88
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RELSTUROERUANOETERMEE SEHAAEBET

Southern China

(term and reversionary
approach)

TR2HA:
The key inputs are:

) Mz E
(1) Term yield;

2) EREEE R

(2) Reversionary

B %) 51.25% £ 6.50% (=T — \F :
1.50%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.25% to 6.50% (2018: 1.50% to 6.50%)

BURER(ZEIN TR ENFEEN
i i%fﬂﬁﬂﬂz)\&ﬁuﬁﬁ)z%n 75%%E7.00%
(ZZ—\F : 2.00%Z£7.00%)

2

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

18 5 et KA IB AN
CEHFLAEET

s

yield; and Reversionary yield, taking into account The increase in the
annual unit market rental income and unit reversionary yield

3) 1I}”3|J 50 KI5 market value of the comparable properties, would result in a
B of 1.75% to 7.00% (2018: 2.00% to 7.00%)  decrease in fair value

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MSENHSBRERTS A LRYBLE -

jt%ii Bl E M A ER AR - MERLE
- MENNRE - FHATSECEEN
FHBFHARBABARBEEGTIIKEA
360ARE (ZF—N\F: F¥HABA2A
REEZBFHIABA30ARE)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB25 sq.m./month to
RMB360 sg.m./month (2018: RMB25 sq.m./
month to RMB360 sq.m./month)

GBS M
buAgﬁz AEE
0

The increase in the
market unit rent would
result in an increase in
fair value
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17. REWE &) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

rEBFAEE EERER BrBR2 YA
REME MREE FEZH ERRZEREZY AREENEE
Investment Al Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fIRER YR E=R REA(EBERZE) HORER(ZEEIALBENERABARE 2%k R 8958 0
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RELBTFUROERRANOETEMEE SEHAAEBET

Eastern China

(term and reversionary
approach)

E2HR
The key inputs are:

) HEMREE
(1) Term yield;

2) BRAER &
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

(3) ERIERKITIS
Blufid

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MU E %) R1.50%£6.50% (=T —\F :
1.50%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of

1.50% to 6.50% (2018: 1.50% to 6.50%)

EHRkER(ZRITLBEMENFEEN
mEHERARERTE)B1.75%E7.00%
(22— \F : 1.75%%7.00%)

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 1.75% to 7.00% (2018: 1.75% to 7.00%)

misEMESBERTHATLRYALE
WEFB I MEMERNERT - MERKLE
H - EAPDARRE - FETSECEEN
FHETARER2AREEGTHKEA
1050 ARB(ZF—/\F : §FHTAKFA20
AREZEEFIKEA1,050 AR%)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB20 sq.m./month
to RMB1,050 sq.m./month (2018: RMB20
sq.m./month to RMB1,050 sq.m./month)

2

The increase in the
term yield would result
in a decrease in fair
value

5 =
CERALBEN
T

The increase in the

N

reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair value

miZEMHEE Mg
meBRAREE
il

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in an
increase in fair value
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17. REWE &) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rREMER EERER BLERES YN
REME DREE FEZH EREZEHEZY DABENBE
Investment & 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
gl 2 Y% F=M REEZ(EMERZ) HHREX(EEITLBENELRABENARER BEHRaZENe
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RERETUROERRANEEEREE BHLAEBETRE

Northern China

(term and reversionary
approach)

FR2HA
The key inputs are:

) B E
(1) Term yield;

2) BHEKHEE Rk
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

(3) ERIERIH TS

Buifle
(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MR %) B1.75%£6.50% (=T — \5F :
2.00%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.75% t0 6.50% (2018: 2.00% to 6.50%)

BREX(ZRITLBMENFEEN
miﬂﬁﬁﬂ&z?\&ﬁu?ﬁﬁ)2%2.25%;‘57.000/0
(ZZ—\%F : 2.50%%7.00%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.25% to 7.00% (2018: 2.50% to 7.00%)

MSELHSEERET SR LRYELER
I%Fﬁ Bl R E A E R A X - ER I
H - MEXPRE - FTHTHECEEN
FREFTABR2TARBESF T AE
A2IOTAREB(ZF—\F: ¥ KEA
I5TARBEZEFTKEA200T ARR)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB20 sg.m./month to
RMB210 sg.m./month (2018: RMB15 sq.m./
month to RMB200 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

value
mHBEMBELE M
REUD L BES
il

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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17. REWE#) 17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
AEEREE HERER EEBEESHH
REWE DAEE FEZE EZRLEESY ’A AEENEER
Investment & 7l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
RBEBZE E=M BEEZ(HBERE) AR ER(EEINTEBMERARNRE HHEkEXENe
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RERSE TUROEBRANEEEMELE SHLAEBETE

Hong Kong (term and reversionary  BJUE %) 552.00% %2 5.00% ( ZF — )\ F :

approach)

TE2EA:
The key inputs are:

) A
(1) Term yield;

(2) BHEKE
(2) Rever5|onary
yield; and

(3) ERIELHTS
Bufe

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

2.00%%5.00%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
2.00% to 5.00% (2018: 2.00% to 5.00%)

Bl EX(ZRINTHENENFEEN
mEHERAREMNTE)B2.25%E5.50%
(ZZ—\F : 2.50%%5.50%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.25% to 5.50% (2018: 2.50% to 5.50%)

GEMESBEETS A LRYAELE

I%ﬁi‘liﬂ%ﬁfﬂﬁ@fl%l% IR IE
H - EXPDRE - REETREEDE -
TEmSEMEENFAEGTAREA10E
TEBFHIREA2008T(ZF—N\F
FARBA1SETLESFIREA200%TT)
(FEBZ FHTHEMAEL0E 2,008 T
(Z2—N\%F : 8 A2,200%7T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. For the residential and commercial
properties, the range of average market unit
rent is from around HK$10 sq.ft./month to
HK$200 sq.ft./month (2018: HK$18 sq.ft./
month to HK$200 sq.ft./month). For the
carparks, the average market unit rent is
around HK$2,200/month (2018: around
HK$2,200/month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

ERWEXRENEG
BYARBEETR

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

M5 B £ 2 m
eERRAEEE

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

rREfER EERER BErEE2HH
REME ANREE FEZ2H EREZEHREZY AABENBER
Investment % 5Bl Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fRENmEER F=K ERMEDR MEBEUHEER(ERERTSALRY WHEMHEER
FIEEEIA B Level 3 Residual approach TEZEMEREMENER) AEFHK ENEeERQRE
Development site in 10,600 L ARE(ZZ—N\F: BFFHK (EE
Huizhou Huiyang FEZHA: 10,6007 AR )
District The key inputs are: Market unit sales rate, using market direct The increase in the
comparable and taking into account of market unit sales
(1) TiZEBEAHEER location and other individual factors, of rate would result in
B’ R RMB10,600/sq.m. (2018: RMB10,600/sq.m.)  an increase in fair
(1) Market unit sales value
rate; and
ZREOENEREARX(ZRIMENEE) ZRBNENKLE
(2) BEEMENE  830.00%(=F—/\F : 29.00%) REMIEME B H
[\ 2 Developer’s profit and risk rate, taking into A7 {B{E T B&
(2) Developer’s profit  account of the progress of the property, of  The increase in the
and risk rate 30.00% (2018: 29.00%) developer’s profit
and risk rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value
(VAINE A Y ES E=R W AR BERER6.50%(—F—/\F : 6.70%) BBEEEMEEH
Properties in the Level 3 Income approach Discount rate of 6.50% (2018: 6.70%) DREETE

United Kingdom

TR2HR
The key inputs are:

(1) BhERZE
(1) Discount rate;

2) BRX R
(2) Growth rate; and

3) HEMS
(3) Estimated rent

BREERAE? 80%(=ZF—\F :2.70%)
Growth rate of 2.80% (2018: 2.70%)

REHERRBEREHECRANERBEN
EELEE - ERENEBTFIREF43
RBE(Z2-N\F : OBV HREF4RE)
Estimated rent is calculated based on
existing tenancy agreement and takes into
account historical operating records. The
estimated rent is around British Pound 43
sq.ft./year (2018: around British Pound 42
sq.ft./year)

-

The increase in the
discount rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value

EREENSER
R BEEEM

The increase in the
growth rate would
result in an increase
in fair value

HEHReENEE
BAnBEEM
The increase in
the estimated rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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18. FBRY= 18.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT
2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

BRAME AT COST
R—A— Bz Balance at 1st January 4,095,585 3,749,694
PE % Exchange adjustments (117,098) (120,279)
BE Additions 698,924 2,311,356
R Ry Transferred to inventories of

EX¢ properties under development (208,046) (1,845,186)
B EREE Reclassified as held for sale (124,982) -
Rt+-—A=+—HBz&#% Balance at 31st December 4,344,383 4,095,585
R AMORTISATION AND

IE IMPAIRMENT
R—A—Bz#&#% Balance at 1st January 277,252 264,333
PE 5 EE Exchange adjustments (10,225) (6,065)
NF S Amortisation for the year 55,724 26,111
R EERYE Transferred to inventories of

PEASS properties under development (21,773) (7,127)
EHNDBRFE Reclassified as held for sale (15,556) -
VERIE] Impairment 42,368 -
R+-—A=+—Hz&#% Balance at 31st December 327,790 277,252
ERMEE CARRYING VALUES 4,016,593 3,818,333
REBZFRRYE The Group's properties for

BIE development comprise:
PPz BETH Leasehold land in the PRC

KHIF A Long lease 2,210,427 2,410,227

R HRZE A Medium-term lease 787,619 932,194
OSBRI 2 K A RSB i Freehold land in Australia 1,018,547 475,912

4,016,593 3,818,333

AREFBEBEBEZEYED DRIk AEA L The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment
W R AE N A SR E T REEANRAEL  on the properties based on the lower of cost and net realisable
Hb > AT U B S BT R E SRS c ME TRy A]  value of the freehold lands and recoverable amount of leasehold
WeESENIRENR-—"ZE—NE+—-_H=+—8 land respectively. The recoverable amount of leasehold lands were

KB B MEMET - determined based on independent professional valuations at 31st
December, 2019.
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18. 5REYE &) 18.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

RZFBE-—NF+-A=+—8  HELHZF As at 31st December, 2019, right-of-use assets for leasehold land
FREEAESFH2,998,046,0008 THE SRS amounting to HK$2,998,046,000 are included in properties for
BYZEh  RNEZE-_FT—NF+-_A=+—H8 development. During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the
IFEEHE  AEEREMECHESRHBEME  total cash outflow for leases of properties for development is
/108,688,000 C°c H-_ZT—NLF—H—H HK$108,688,000. Effective from 1st January, 2019, the carrying
AR HELTHANREERBEDEIERE  amount of leasehold lands is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost
HEBIE 1 65RIRA ANMERER 25T E RE[E  less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
EEEFE - BENHEET M 25 HE  residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the

BEMETE ° leasehold land component.
19. T i fE FEZENBEER 19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE RIGHTS
2018
FHET
HK$’000
NG [E| + sk PR The Group’s prepaid lease payments on land use
ZENHEREE - rights comprise:
RARELZHE T Leasehold land in the PRC
REITRLY Long lease 33,721
R ERFRAY Medium-term lease 6,383
40,104
MEHEWMELE < DTAT - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
IERBEE Non-current asset 39,212
mEBEE Current asset 892

40,104
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20. ABE N E 2R

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2019 2018
F#ET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
R A B E Z A Cost of investment in associates
(H1az) (Note):
JE LT A F Unlisted associates 3,356,741 3,356,741
FEME U B & 2 Share of post-acquisition
E5iE R HAb losses and other
2EERR comprehensive expense,
BURAR B net of dividends received (465,633) (465,410)
2,891,108 2,891,331

ITEBERTAR _Z-NFE-T-NF+=
A=+—B2Z2EHFHERHEST

Mt - NI ARIRE 2 A BIER IR F E W
BRRIFMEAZEE46,0008 T (2 — \F :
46,0007 7T) °

Details of the principal associates at 31st December, 2019 and 2018
are set out in note 51.

Note: Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of HK$46,000
(2018: HK$46,000) arising on acquisitions of associates in prior years.
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20. REBtE ATl 2w (&) 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

TXHEABBASEBEAKLE RS EMY  Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
HEREE - N EEREE ABIEE S material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
WM EEREB N L QAT EIMEXA RS information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s
B o financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

RENRIIRER AR ZEEFEE VI EK  The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these

AR © consolidated financial statements.
BEAREE AR ZHEERBE Summarised financial information of material associate
Zeta Estates Limited Zeta Estates Limited
2019 2018
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 1,820,853 2,137,521
ERBEE Non-current assets 6,992,901 6,959,884
mENAE Current liabilities (477,567) (686,997)
ERBERE Non-current liabilities (1,331,662) (1,373,666)
WA Revenue 300,793 408,329
REE (BB (Loss) profit for the year (32,218) 100,083
REEZ At 2 mE R Other comprehensive income for the year - -
AEEEE(BA)WEELRE  Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year (32,218) 100,083

AN [E 2K 5 Zeta Estates Dividends from Zeta Estates Limited
Limited A2, during the year = 98,990
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20. ABRE R R Z R (E) 20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
EARBENTIZHBEERBE &) Summarised financial information of material associate (continued)
Zeta Estates Limited (/&) Zeta Estates Limited (continued)

P B E R E RS S RE R ERYY Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Zeta Estates Limited 2 # AR EI(E IR carrying amount of the interest in Zeta Estates Limited recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
FTHEx FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Zeta Estates Limited 2 Net assets of
BESE Zeta Estates Limited 7,004,525 7,036,742
& B Zeta Estates Limite arrying amount of the Group's
AREEH Zeta E Limited Carrying f the Group
2 BREE interest in Zeta Estates Limited
(REEHE#E (Proportion of the Group's
R AR /333.33% ownership interest of 33.33%
(ZE—\F :33.33%)) (2018: 33.33%)) 2,334,842 2,345,581
BRIFERZHENT ZEREH : Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:
2019 2018
FTET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEG 2R The Group’s share of profit 17,149 22,327
REBE NS 2 Hith The Group's share of other
2HER comprehensive expense (6,633) (4,736)
REEELZ The Group’s share of total
FHENE B comprehensive income 10,516 17,591
REE 2 Aggregate carrying value of
g8res ying

BREEE Group's interests 556,266 545,750
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21. REEhEER 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2019 2018
THET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIELEMEEREREY Cost of investment in unlisted joint ventures
A (Bati) (Note i) 3,289,310 3,080,364
FENE UL IE 12 2 3 | K Share of post-acquisition profits and other
Hh 2 WE R comprehensive income, net of dividends
2R S received 1,840,025 1,427,942
5,129,335 4,508,306
BRI aEii) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note ii) 1,397,287 795,939
6,526,622 5,304,245
TEALEMER T —NFER-_F—/\FE+= Details of the principal joint ventures at 31st December, 2019 and
)EJE‘I——EIZﬁﬂﬁ%XK\WEIQ o 2018 are set out in note 52.
HisE - Notes:
(i) A%ﬁ%&ﬁZﬁXKE%EAﬂE¢FWB§AM () Included in the cost of investment of joint ventures is goodwill of HK$291,000
EMEEZEE291,0008 T (ZF—/\F : (2018: HK$409,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures in prior years.
409,000 7T)

(i) 1,061,111,0005% 7t (== — )\ 4 : 459,770,00078 (ii)  The amount of HK$1,061,111,000 (2018: HK$459,770,000) is unsecured, bear

TO) REEREMERK - EMENF10%ZE12% interests ranging from 10% to 12% (2018: at 12%) per annum and repayable
(ZE—N\F : RI2%)ER_TE=_—FRHAZE=Z on May 2021 to September 2022 (2018: May 2021). The remaining amounts
ZZFNA(ZE-N\F: T —FRHA)EE - are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment.

HRTIREREER LERKREEETEERY -

TXFEABBAEEERSEMESEME  Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
HEREE - NI EEREE ARIEEBE  material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
BHREEBBUNELELENERRA TS  information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s

CER financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.
AUPETIIRERFNZEGAME|REA  The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
R - consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

1. AEDE R 2)

BEAGELRCMBERBRE

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

XLZE By (EE)ERL XLZEBH (FE)ERL A
2019 2018
FET FBT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE E Current assets 12,597,862 12,574,638
EMBNEE Non-current assets 7,076,277 6,885,638
nEEE Current liabilities (8,075,691) (10,052,494)
EMBEE Non-current liabilities (7,754,431) (6,602,441)

bz EERBBESREBEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2019 2018
FTHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMReEEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 2,479,223 2,850,284
nBERAaRE Current financial liabilities
(TBREZHR (excluding trade and other
H b ERERF) payables) (1,414,404) (3,189,093)
FERBEHEE Non-current financial liabilities
(TEERH R (excluding trade and other
H At T BRFR) payables) (6,583,744) (5,545,865)
2019 2018
THExT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
YA Revenue 3,971,864 2,403,349
AN v A Profit for the year 1,206,294 468,810
RFEZ Other comprehensive
HEinz2mEEH expense for the year (103,605) (52,833)
RFEE2EPER Total comprehensive income
k] for the year 1,102,689 415,977
RANF E R B R L EHE Dividends from
(RE)BRATMRE REHHEHR(RE)BRAA

during the year 226,542
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

TENFT-A=TRLLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

21. REEEER #)

EXRGEEECUBRERBE
(%)

REBEH () ER A A (%)

ERAFERMBEATIRR

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

XZE T (EF)BERL A (continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

2019 2018

FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e i Depreciation and amortisation 25,430 44,327
B A Interest income 13,064 25,012
pAISk=g::! Interest expense 258,432 272,947
gt & Income tax expense 839,243 585,359

BB E R R E AR A B IR P R AR
RLZBIEH (B AR QR Z AN REES

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in XZHIEH (EE) BR QA

Bk recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2019 2018
FTET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REETEH (LE)BR Net assets of
NAMEEFE REZBIHEW(EE)ER AT 3,844,017 2,805,341
O FEPEIR R Less: Non-controlling interests (158,203) (133,846)
RLBIEH (LB IR Shareholder’s equity of
NAEZ BRI REHIER (EE)ER QA 3,685,814 2,671,495
REBENRZBIHH (RE) Proportion of the Group’s
BIRAR50%HI A ownership interest of 50% in
i S AL (EE)ER QA 1,842,907 1,335,747
EERRBZRZH2 Share of unrealised profit on
REBHEH inter-company transactions (4,380) (4,380)
Hity Others (902) (902)
REBRR L B Carrying amount of the Group’s
(REE)ARARZ interest in KL EHEI (£EH)
e FRE(E BR AT 1,837,625 1,330,465
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

1. AEDE R 2)

EXGELECHBERBME

=)
(%)

YK ZEERERRE (FE)ERA A

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

FYXZEERERRE (FE)ERA A

2019 2018
FEx FHT

HK$’000 HK$'000

MENVE B Current assets 11,848,250 10,628,013
g'zjﬁébﬁgi Non-current assets 3,988,835 2,750,071
nEEE Current liabilities (5,057,201) (2,509,689)
EMBEE Non-current liabilities (9,204,525) (9,688,018)

btz EERBESREFEATIERRE

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2019 2018
FHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMREeEEIAR Cash and cash equivalents 1,000,176 1,046,146
mBERAasE Current financial liabilities
(TEERH R (excluding trade and other
E A FETBRTR) payables) (1,888,224) (705,711)
FRBEHEE Non-current financial liabilities
(TBREZHR (excluding trade and other
H b ERERF) payables) (8,542,889) (9,212,644)
2019 2018
FTET F#&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
YA Revenue 1,626,689 262,911
AEE @A Profit for the year 441,120 153,400
RERZ Other comprehensive
EthzmEER expense for the year (41,563) (31,822)
REL P HEWES Total comprehensive income
#a%E for the year 399,557 121,578
RARFERERNRLFEE Dividends from
REZRR(KE)BERAF FNRELHREREER(KEH)
HIA% 2 AR A 7] during the year — 229,885
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TENFT-A=TRLLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

21. REEEER #)

BEREE X ZMBENRE
(%)

RIXZRRRERRE(KE)ERA A
(%)

ERAREEGENBEATIER

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

FYKXZEERERRE (FE)ERA A

(continued)

The above profit for the year included the followings:

2019 2018

FExT FA&T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e L Depreciation and amortisation 4,076 5,181
FLEHA Interest income 12,661 20,140
FEER Interest expense 398,044 89,382
FR{SHisZ Income tax expense 476,655 180,934

B S E R B R E R A B A IR P RN
RINRLEEREER(EE)ERQR 2 #x
M RRE{E S AR -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in FYNIKLZEELEERE (LB GR
72 7] recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RYNRLEFERE R (RE) Net assets of RYIKEZHERE
BRARNEEFE BER(EE)ERAT 1,575,359 1,180,377
J eI R Less: Non-controlling interests 516 (3,586)
RYNRLZEFRE R (RE) Shareholder’s equity of FIIIK %
BRARZ R ER BREREER(EE)ARLA 1,575,875 1,176,791
REBPIRIIKR L FEZE Proportion of the Group’s
REFR(EE)AR ownership interest of 50% in
NAEI50%H R RYWREZHRERERR(EEH)
1 2 B0 BR AT 787,937 588,395
TERELZ Exchange differences arising on
EHER capital injection (402) (402)
ERRBzRZH2 Share of unrealised profit on
AREBHEA inter-company transactions (85,800) (41,093)
REBURYIRLHERE Carrying amount of the Group’s
BR(EE)ARIRZ interest in JRYIRLZFEERE
S RmEE BR(EE)BRAFR 701,735 546,900

-
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019
21. REEDLE R (®)

EAGELECHBERBME

(&)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

2019 2018
FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

MENEE Current assets 2,102,846 2,043,021
ERBEE Non-current assets 822,038 1,072,575
nEEE Current liabilities (1,793,738) (1,665,382)
ERBAE Non-current liabilities (1,001,011) (1,291,380)

bz EERBESEEEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2019 2018
TET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMReEEIAR Cash and cash equivalents 281,906 279,102
BT AR Current financial liabilities
(TEERZH R (excluding trade and other
H At T BRFK) payables) (1,356,630) (1,067,592)
BT EE Non-current financial liabilities
(TEERH R (excluding trade and other
H b ERERF) payables) (869,336) (1,129,620)
2019 2018
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
YA Revenue 700,930 76,439
REFEE Loss for the year (2,550) (14,784)
REEZ Other comprehensive expense
HEitvzmEER for the year (26,149) (19,481)
REEEHER Total comprehensive expense
Pk for the year (28,699) (34,265)

NAFEE M A Crystal Idea
Manaéement Limited

IR

Dividends from Crystal Idea
Management Limited
during the year




e MB®RWNE (E

FEREREERAT
E 201 9;;& 2 1 1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

21. REERE I ERE T

EXRGEEECUBRERBE
(%)

Crystal Idea Management Limited (/&)

BRAFEEBERERENTER

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

Crystal Idea Management Limited (continued)

The above loss for the year included the followings:

2019 2018

FET THT

HK$’000 HK$’000

PTE R #E Depreciation and amortisation 18,187 23,834
FEHA Interest income 1,664 1,813
B &R Interest expense _ _
B8R H (%) Income tax expense (credit) 29,139 (17,810)

it BA TS B R B B AR A B T R P RE R AR
Crystal Idea Management Limited 2 # 2= #) BRI
B

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Crystal ldea Management Limited
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
TET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Crystal Idea Management Limited Net assets of Crystal Idea
B EFE Management Limited 130,135 158,834

REBE A Crystal Idea
Management Limited
50%HEE ks
Z abtn

BELERBHNE
AR EE
R (HaE)

Proportion of the Group’s

ownership interest of 50%

in Crystal Idea Management

Limited 65,068 79,417
Discounted fair value of profit

forgo by joint venture partner

(Note) 672,586 655,177

REE M Crystal Idea
Management Limited

ZFEst 2 BRE{E

Carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Crystal Idea
Management Limited 737,654 734,594

Bt - Z e BRERB N ZF = FF #Crystal Idea
Management Limited ER B9 45E 7] F 53k A1l 2
REDNEFHERMZER8.5%) ° BCrystal Idea
Management Limited B ZF—tFAAREE
W—RELbEE ZeBEEBENAELEY
HmET -

Note: The amount represented present value of an agreed distributable profit to
be received from Crystal Idea Management Limited in 2020 with weighted
average effective interest rate of 8.5%. The amount has been included in
interests in joint ventures since Crystal Idea Management Limited has become
a joint venture of the Group in 2017.

-
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

1. AEDE R 2)

BEAGELEZMBERBE

(%)

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

RN SR U 35 2 7 R 23 B () R M 2R U 35 2 5 R 23 ] (Note)
2019 2018
FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 2,237,747 3,152,683
ERBEE Non-current assets 2,033,515 1,678,354
mEA G Current liabilities (1,088,679) (1,490,523)
EMBNEE Non-current liabilities (253,373) (329,586)

bz EERBBESREIBEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the followings:

2019 2018
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMBeEFEEAE Cash and cash equivalents 62,861 142,181
mREBTRAR Current financial liabilities
(TEERH K (excluding trade and other
E b EATBRTR) payables) (240,000) (494,253)
ERBERAE Non-current financial liabilities
(F"BEREXHR (excluding trade and other
E A ETERTR) payables) - -
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TENFT-A=TRLLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

21. REE R 2 EE ) 21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BEAGELECHKEERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(&) (continued)
BN I EE R 7 (faF) (&) B MR U BB R A 5] (Note) (continued)
BEFERZE
—T-N\F
+tZA=t1—H
From the
date of capital
injection to
31st December,
2019 2018
THET THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 987,345 201,894
REFE B (E518) % 7 (Loss) profit for the year/period (9,441) 19,525
KEEZ B Other comprehensive expense for
Hin2mEE M the year/period (72,277) -
RNEE,HARE Total comprehensive (expense)
2H(ER) WAL income for the year/period (81,718) 19,525
REFEHERE Dividends from & /M| & 1 7=
BN R IB 30 B2 BBR2AA] during the year/
BRARIHRE period - _
FRAFE RSN EELTEE The above profit for the year/period included the followings:
BEIEEZE
—EF-N\F
+=-A=+—H
From the
date of capital
injection to
31st December,
2019 2018
THET TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
TE R Depreciation and amortisation 106 18
MBHA Interest income 458 215
MNEER Interest expense 15,874 -

TS Income tax expense 272,066 44,155
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019
21. REEDLE R (®)

EAGELECHBERBME

(&)
MR EH R 2 A (BaE) (48)

bt BA R B R B B AR A B A R R RE R RO
FMNRUEBEEBR QR 2 ERmMREEHRR

21.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

BN I BB R 2 7] (Note) (continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in &/ & i EHFR A7) recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BINRIEHEFR QA Net assets of &) SR I i 7=
WEEFE BIRAA 2,929,210 3,010,928
A& BN ER N R IR Proportion of the Group’s
BIRARI50%H) ownership interest of 50% in
AR 2B gFMNR U EBR AR 1,464,605 1,505,464
AR E R BN R U A Carrying amount of the Group’s
BRARIZHERZ interest in &R/ & Ui 2
FREE BRAR] 1,464,605 1,505,464

Mt AEERBE-_T—\F+_A=1+—HLFE
EAR M AR N SR UM EE B IR A B]50%,2 Eam

BERFERAZEEEXCEAES

Note: The Group acquired 50% of equity interest in &/ KU EHFR AR during
the year ended 31st December, 2018.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually
material:

2019 2018
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEREIE ZHEH The Group’s share of profit 126,601 57,371
REBENL 2 Hith The Group’s share of other
2HEER comprehensive expense (13,918) (12,222)
REEESL 2 ZEKA The Group’s share of total
4BRE comprehensive income 112,683 45,149
REB R Z Aggregate carrying value of
IREARE Group’s interests 387,716 390,883
BUER,FEURAR B Dividend received/receivable 105,458 21,269
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

W EBESZSBEAABEEE>SEH 22.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

&E PROFIT OR LOSS
2019 2018
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEETRAES Unlisted equity fund 13,824 14,522
FELMREES Unlisted investment fund = 229,885
MHEBBRE Investment in property project 159,443 100,268
R B E 2 RARE Equity securities listed in the PRC 32,968 -
206,235 344,675
FEMBHMIELZ Analysed for reporting
DT purpose as:
IERENEE Non-current assets 173,267 114,790
mBEE Current assets 32,968 229,885
206,235 344,675

P LB A ARBESE - AREEst  All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
2 2 BERFEENKIE48c fair value measurements are set out in note 48c.

23. ZBEMEPEWNFIRAAEEEE  23.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

ZRATITR OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2019 2018
Bt eE FHET THET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
RED Lz BAES Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (i) 295,442 153,750
R L2 RS Equity securities listed in the PRC (i) 20,849 20,284
JEEFMIRAT A Unlisted equity instrument (i), (ii) 38,705 37,664
354,996 211,698

Bt Notes:

(i) ZERETEFHIEEER MERERIKBAN - (i)  These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term
EEDEERRERATAREEEREBEME strategic purposes. The Directors have elected to designate these investments
HERREBEAREBERE BARESFAR  HREXR in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-
5 ﬁEﬁZJui#hﬁ”_\fﬁF@WmTEﬁEEﬁﬂgﬁ&@ term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be
TAREBRBFAZSERESBRALEEEN consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term
BB purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

(i) ZHBEIE-EFEZREYERENIELTRAIE (i) The amount represents equity interest in an unlisted company, which is principally
Rz o engaged in property investment.

i Lt B A AL BEDIE - ArEEst  All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
22 ERFERKIE48C ° fair value measurements are set out in note 48c.
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

2. MEEFEE

AEEZMETETBURGE - FENEE
SR R AT IR E 2 RIEE DI - A
135,549,000/ 7T (= ZF — /A% : 278,267,000
BT 2 BRBYEEH TR ARE AT
1BAREH -

AEEEEENYETED RAA NI #IRF
B2 BAREEITHHE - IERFEDRER =
E-NF+ A=+ HNBIEXGEENE

ch

24.INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group's inventories of properties are mainly situated in the PRC.
All of the inventories of properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Properties under development with carrying
amount of HK$135,549,000 (2018: HK$278,267,000) are expected
not to be realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting
date.

The management of the Group had carried out assessment on the
inventories of properties based on the lower of cost and net realisable
value for inventories of properties. The net realisable values were
determined based on independent professional valuations at 31st
December, 2019.

25. Hih 7z g 25.0THER INVENTORIES
2019 2018
F#T FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2R Finished goods 1,461 415
26. BN TR 26.AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

ERARFZEER RERREERT
&=

=
R-ZF-NAF+-_A=1+—H
o RBURREELTERE -

C RARRER

A=ZE—\F+=A=+—H - 40,230,000/&
TRERMRMSRK  FHEI%ER-F
—NETZAEE - RTFARREER 28
RARRERRTEE -

EEERPRFIRBERRR T —EARA
Yem e

28. FFEZRERH KX

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

27.AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

As at 31st December, 2019, the amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

As at 31st December, 2018, the amount of HK$40,230,000 was
unsecured, bore interests at 9% per annum and repayable in
December 2019. The remaining amounts were unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

The management expects the amounts would be recoverable within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

28.AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Amounts due from non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.
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29. BIRE R 29.LOANS RECEIVABLE
2019 2018
k=3 TET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
>~ = EIX E AR : e roup’'s loans recelvable comprise:
rEBERKERBE The Group’s | ivabl pri
B AT AR ER Gross amount before impairment:
B Secured (i) & (iii) 623,179 276,987
s wiil Unsecured ii) 1,063,100 1,357,203
1,686,279 1,634,190
L ORE Less: Impairment 48b (278,164) (7471)
1,408,115 1,633,449
FREME HOMIELZ Analysed for reporting
DM purpose as:
FERE Non-current 318,846 264,305
TE) Current 1,089,269 1,369,144
1,408,115 1,633,449

Bzt : Notes:

(i) MUY & 5 55759,000% T (=T — \F : (i) Loan receivable of HK$55,759,000 (2018: HK$172,342,000) bears interest at
172,342,000/ 7T ) » E X E30%(=F— )\ F : 30% (2018: 30%) per annum, is secured by share mortgage of guarantor and
30%) * BAME(R A MRS HEE B R (2 2 A BRI B 2R loans receivable of the borrower, is past due and is classified as current loans
VERER WEBHRE I EARSERER(= receivable (2018: current loans receivable).

T—N\EF  RBEKER)

fE UL B £0200,000,000/8 C( = — )\ 4&F : #&) » F Loan receivable of HK$200,000,000 (2018: nil) bears interest at 18% per
FI=18% » LA—FE A SR IR 3E AR annum, is secured by share mortgage of a listed company and is due for
RoE-TE+ AREEE WS HEATRBEY repayment in October 2020 and is classified as current loans receivable.
FEUE 5£224,905,000/8 L (=T —/\F : &) F Loan receivable of HK$224,905,000 (2018: nil) bears interest at 6% per
FEe% + ATHIEAER R_ZE-ZTFHAT annum, is secured by land and is due for repayment in May 2020 and is

HERE - WD EARHERER - classified as current loans receivable.
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HE—

E-NF+ZA=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

29. BRERR (&)

Hrat - (&)

0]

(i)

(iii)

73‘/\\

(%)

FEWE 97,515, ooo,amf? )\¢ 98,138,000
Br) BEFEMEARI5%(ZZF—/N\F : 15%) °
LAERRAR KB A TZH&%%&W@%%@% CRZE
——E+B(ZE-N\F: —E-—F+7)3HE
BERESERERBERKER(ZT—NF : 3R
FREWER) - BFHRZRMERE 5363,0005 7T
(ZZ—/\4F : 643,00087T) °

ERES 45000000,%7z<_7 NE &) - FF|

Eo% * AERANBEEZ (BSHEEBE _EE
FOFEIEM) - MEREEERER EAfgfg

F+—ARHRE  URSEARSDRKER
TR RE R 5562,000870(ZF— \F : ﬁ%)

A
FFEAN % 5.65% Z=36%

JfE U B 3K 1,063,100,000 3 7T ( —
1,357,203,00078 7T ) °

(ZE—)\F : 475%%36%) @ HEEWT - EP
221 694,000/ 70 ( =ZF — )\ 4F : 166,810,000/ 7T )
DHEEITRSERNERITRN —_E-—F=AF—
fmi-t— B(—E—N\F: —E-ZEFAHAE_
—FHA) BB ERFNENT5.65%ZE12%
(ZZB—N\F : 475%F12%) - EHEZ RERE

277,239,000/ 70( =& —/\4 : 98,0004 7T) °

R-E-—NE+-_A=+—BHEKER
6,507,000 7T * FHEABEABRITRAZEFZM
4% ARHEIKIREA BRI R -_Z—N\FE+=A
=+—BWEIEARBERER - ZZEEREE
—E-NEFE+-_A=1+—BIFEHERE -

E-NER_T-N\F+-A=+—H8F

kZJEHﬁZEﬂWEﬂE%ﬁE@WE%bEP KR

29.LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(continued)

Loan receivable of HK$97,515,000 (2018: HK$98,138,000) carries a fixed
interest rate of 15% (2018: 15%) per annum, is secured by share mortgage of
subsidiaries of borrower, and is due for repayment in October 2021 (2018:
October 2021) and is classified as non-current loans receivable (2018: non-
current loans receivable). Impairment allowance of HK$363,000 (2018:
HK$643,000) has been made.

Loan receivable of HK$45,000,000 (2018: nil) bears interest at 6% per annum,
is secured under a debenture incorporating second fixed and floating charge
over its undertaking, properties and assets of the borrower and is due for
repayment in November 2020 and is classified as current loans receivable.
Impairment allowance of HK$562,000 (2018: nil) has been made.

Loans receivable of HK$1,063,100,000 (2018: HK$1,357,203,000) bear
interests ranging from 5.65% to 36% (2018: 4.75% to 36%) per annum, are
unsecured. Of which HK$221,694,000 (2018: HK$166,810,000) are classified
as non-current loans receivable and are due for repayment from March 2021
to November 2024 (2018: from May 2020 to May 2021) and carry interests
ranging from 5.65% to 12% (2018: 4.75% to 12%) per annum. Impairment
allowance of HK$277,239,000 (2018: HK$98,000) has been made.

Loans receivable of HK$6,507,000 as at 31st December, 2018 bore interest at
Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 4% per annum, was secured by share
mortgage and was classified as current loans receivable as at 31st December,
2018. The balance was settled during the year ended 31st December, 2019.

The loss allowance provision for loan receivables as at 31st
December, 2019 and 2018 is disclosed in note 48b.
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JO.REFREMEWERR - e kHE
=

W) 53K 77 A R UGB IR R B B 1% M 16X
HRIEBE -

BRTHRHEEFTARREMEHENHSHEA
ERBBBENERN  ARE—RETE
FE=+AZ—Ba=1THNEMHRE -

30.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS

Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties and rental income
from lease of properties which are payable in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit
period of 30 days to 120 days to its customers.

RIERR  XPEUERRZREEDITAOT The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of
the reporting period:

2019 2018
FExT FA&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
=@ARN Within 3 months 15,764 8,334
&N E A Between 4 and 6 months = 1,058
+t=+=1@A~ Between 7 and 12 months 1 8
HBiE+—@A Over 12 months 1,306 957
17,071 10,357

R-ZE-NF+-A=+—8 HMEKE
R EERBEAZBEELRSE  BAHER -
ERFMENAREKRES -l BE—F
198,000,000 (=T — N\F : E)WZEEE
ST R BE R AR IZ B E o
RREHRE  ZIREBRE -

As at 31st December, 2019, other receivables, deposits and
prepayments include deposits, prepaid expenses, interest receivables
and rental receivables. The foregoing included a deposit of
HK$198,000,000 (2018: nil) which was paid to a local authority
of the PRC for bidding property for development. That deposit was
refunded after the end of the reporting period.
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MLEZBERBARBEEEEZRAE

31.EQUITY SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
TET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000

FEEE - Held-for-trading:
R B EH 2 IRAZ S Equity securities listed in the PRC 56,898 49,312
HAt Others 75 78
56,973 49,390

B E_E 2 RAES TR AR EEFIE - %
AR EETREEBX SR TSEAE
B

NR.OFAFELEERER

RZZE—hE+—A=-+/\B  AEFEHE—H
REBHS0%E L EITEE W - BRIE
ZEEEWE  AEEREURSARBARE
1,188,100,0007T (F8& 5 1,320,111,00078 7T )
HEENEYEZREN =B RIH100%
B WEBER S TREEZ BB AR
KEEGE R-T—-NAFE+_A=+—8"
ANEE D WEA R 673,518,000 7T (HE H
748,354,000/ 70 ) iR d » Wit AR SR EAM
FEBRTR - R R STEFT R EHRE =
AR °

RIB-hF+-A=+—8  AWITBR
Z=—FHBRRNEERBBC I BEAFESR
ERBERT) - oBBEMS - ZEFX
BRAACERNEENYEZER MY EREF
(RHKfsE6) - HEMBFARKEEREE
EFBER-_T-NFT_A=t—HNKHE
FE - Al - BREXBOBERFTEEERR
AR ARE ERRERR -

Equity securities listed in the PRC are stated at fair value which is
determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the
relevant exchanges.

32.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

On 28th November, 2019, the Group entered into sale and purchase
agreements with a 50% joint venture of the Group. Pursuant to the
sale and purchase agreements, the Group agreed to sell its 100%
equity interest of three subsidiaries, which are engaged in property
development for a cash consideration of RMB1,188,100,000
(equivalent to HK$1,320,111,000) and will result in loss of control of
these three subsidiaries when the transaction is completed. As at 31st
December, 2019, the Group received a deposit of RMB673,518,000
(equivalent to HK$748,354,000) and included in trades and other
payables. The transaction is expected to be completed within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

As at 31st December, 2019, the assets and liabilities attributable
to these three subsidiaries as set out below in this note had been
classified as assets and liabilities held for sale. The operations
were included in the Group’s property development and property
investment as appropriate for segment reporting purposes (see note
6). The proceeds of disposal were expected to exceed the net carrying
amount of the relevant assets and liabilities at 31st December, 2019.
Accordingly, no impairment loss had been recognised upon the
classification of these operations as assets and liabilities held for sale.
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R.IBRFEEERERH)

NERFENTIREERAGEMN(EBEHE
AR

32.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE (CONTINUED)

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal
group classified as held for sale are as follows:

2019
FHT
HK$’000
M - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 15,388
FREEE Right-of-use assets 460
WEME Investment properties 1,398,200
FRREYE Properties for development 109,426
BERTYHEGFE Inventories of completed properties 707,630
R 5 Rk B Ath EUER 5K Trade and other receivables 16,694
RITRETFRRE Bank balances and cash 85,036
DEAFEEE Assets classified as held for sale 2,332,834
R 5 R HMER R Trade and other payables 215,399
BHBE Contract liabilities 20,804
HIRAE Tax liabilities 507
M B Interest-bearing borrowings 653,981
REERK Interest-free borrowings 361
REHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 187,636
BMoMRGEEEZ Liabilities associated with assets classified as
HEARE held for sale 1,078,688

EABEAFEZHEERNERN R SR E
HAh 2 et P R AT AR - FHIF TS ¢

Cumulative amounts relating to the disposal group classified as held
for sale, which have been recognised in other comprehensive income
and included in equity, are as follows:

2019

FHET

HK$’000

VE N F BN Exchange translation reserve (38,502)
A Revaluation reserve 66

(38,436)
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33. X5 R EMEN R

REEfk  XPRNER(BEESSRE
RN RSN BB E A 25 2 BT
T

33.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented
based on the invoice date, which is included in trade and other

payables, at the end of the reporting period:

2019 2018
FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

=E@AA Within 3 months 524,753 682,391
mERE A Between 4 and 6 months 6,467 14,036
+tE=E+ZfEA Between 7 and 12 months 37,171 69,338
BB+ —1@A Over 12 months 253,802 380,462
822,193 1,146,227

RZZT—NE+_A=+—8  HEMEX
FEE—EHE=-HNBARMKN—BEE
12£748,354,0008 L (ZF —/\F : )%
& MR DA TRE B 8 R TR (ST
££32) o

As at 31st December, 2019, other payables included a deposit of
HK$748,354,000 (2018: nil) which was received from a joint venture
for disposal of three subsidiaries and the transactions have not yet
completed at the end of the reporting period (as set out in note 32).

3. 8HEE 34.CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2019 2018
FHT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEHE Sales of properties 1,081,448 1,991,420

RZE—N\F—F—HB AYEBEHEAE
2,491,148,000/8 7T, °

As at Tst January, 2018, contract liabilities was amounted to

HK$2,491,148,000.
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4. 6B BE %) 34.CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
TREATAFEEIDBRAEZ LELEESY  The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
BERMA - the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.
Sales of Sales of
properties properties
2019 2018
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RAF EEBRIA Revenue recognised that was included in the
(BREEENEEZ contract liabilities balance at the beginning
FHEERA) of the year 906,628 2,377,169

REFRTFEFIBEEHRR - —MRKEE  The Group generally receives 30% to 50% (2018: 10% to 60%) of the
F30%%E50%(=F—/\%F : 10%%60%)& contract value as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
REEERE - A - WIEWIHIEN - 0F  purchase agreement. However, depending on market conditions, the
FRAEBTHRIETHMEEZNEENTE ©  Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales
HEEEBELERT - AEEAgEREFERMEIT  price, provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the
e IS MENRFEELEZENAERE  consideration early while construction is still ongoing. The deposits
BT ZBEER - WHREFIGEE®RIY  and advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
FKHPEDI RS - recognised throughout the property construction period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

35. Mt 2 & 35.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
2019 2018
FExT Fi&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
IRITER Bank loans 4,965,180 4,603,250
H AR Other loans 360,505 127,023
5,325,685 4,730,273
HHEA Secured 4,409,625 4,603,250
R Unsecured 916,060 127,023
5,325,685 4,730,273
R|EHR - REBFEN T —HBAMBEAL At the end of the reporting period, the Group has loans payable to a
ZEF - EFERKE46@FT - related party, details of which are set out in note 46(a).
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35. Mt EfE™ ) 35.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
2019 2018
TERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREMEIZ A TEE Carrying amount repayable:
—FRr Within one year 163,275 1,165,228
ZR—F - More than one year, but not
BTHEEMEF exceeding two years 918,603 846,554
ZRME - More than two years, but not
BEAAF exceeding five years 1,729,509 1,672,967
ZRAF More than five years 1,238,969 882,717
4,050,356 4,567,466
BEMRERER Carrying amount of bank loans
EREVIRITE K that contain a repayment on
ZHREE demand clause:
—FR Within one year 1,075,329 67,130
ZR—F - More than one year, but not
(ERNEHEEES exceeding two years 200,000 17,741
ZRME - More than two years, but not
BErEEREF exceeding five years - 59,323
ZNIF More than five years - 18,613
1,275,329 162,807
5,325,685 4,730,273
B BB BES Less: Amounts due within one
—FRNEEZ year shown under current
=] liabilities (1,438,604) (1,328,035)

— BB H 2 FRIE Amounts due after one year 3,887,081 3,402,238
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35. it &Rk (&)

AEEEHZESERMREHNE T ZEHA
(HEFHEER)WT :

35.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual
maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:

2019 2018
THERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERER Fixed-rate borrowings:
—FR Within one year 513,990 1,323,357
ZR—%F - More than one year, but not
BAZRME more than two years 909,021 837,197
ZME - More than two years, but not
BAZR=4%F more than three years 819,212 553,486
ZR=5F - More than three years, but not
(ERER IS more than four years 267,458 400,037
SRS - More than four years, but not
BRZRESF more than five years 205,586 287,786
ZREF More than five years 1,238,969 882,717
3,954,236 4,284,580

BEoN - REEZF BE3451,626,00078 (=
T — )\ 4 : 445,693,000/ 7T) * 419,823,000
BT (ZE—\F : ) %500,000,000%7T(=
T-N\F  E)DRIRGEBERITRERENE
DH1.30%(ZZF—/\F : BEBERTTRERE
MBEDL1.30%) « —BRITARZFIZRME D
[£0.60%(=ZZ—\F : TEA) REBIRITH
ERBINBEDE1.80%(ZF—/\F : TEA)
AEMNE - FMES—REA(ZE—N\F : §—
BA)EHTE -

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowings of
HK$451,626,000 (2018: HK$445,693,000), HK$419,823,000 (2018:
nil) and HK$500,000,000 (2018: nil) which carry interest at London
Interbank Offered Rate plus a percentage of 1.30% (2018: London
Interbank Offered Rate plus a percentage of 1.30%), interest rate
quoted by a bank plus a percentage of 0.60% (2018: N/A) and Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a percentage of 1.80% (2018: N/A)
respectively. Interest is repriced every month (2018: every month).




226

Annual Report 2019

e MB®RWNE (&

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-ZT-hF+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

35. Mt EER &)

AR BEAEGEERA DA =) E
T

35.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2019 2018

BRI -

Effective interest rate:
ERER
Fixed-rate borrowings
FEER

Variable-rate borrowings

2.50%%10.00%
2.50% to 10.00%
2.01%£4.45%
2.01% to 4.45%

3.80%%£10.00%
3.80% to 10.00%
2.03%

2.03%

AEBK SERZERER N E¥HE - The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:
BT HEE BT

ARK®¥ Hong Kong British  Australian st

RMB Dollars Pound Dollars Total

FET FET F#&T FTHET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E—-hEF 2019

RITREMEF  Bank and other loans 3,842,372 505,000 451,626 526,687 5,325,685
—T-N\F 2018

WITREMER  Bank and other loans 4,207,875 5,000 445,693 71,705 4,730,273

R-Z-hF+-A=+t—8  ZEEFIAT
B R E

YR FB_BFE_F=NF
(ZF— \E R-IB-NFE_T="%)3

H - ISR ARAREREN R L EER
5o

As at 31st December, 2019, the loans bear interest at market rates
and will be matured from 2020 to 2034 (2018: from 2019 to 2032).
The proceeds were used to finance the acquisitions of properties and
operating activities of the Group.
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36. REMEN 36.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS
2019 2018
FTERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEASTBSE & R B 5RIE Amounts due to associates 17,251 7,431
JERT& R E IR Amounts due to joint ventures 1,372,202 943,170
KB IR Advances from non-controlling
fE K interest 161 167
1,389,614 950,768
BREEEA TEE Carrying amount repayable:
RRBBEET On demand or within one
FEE K year shown under current
%—FN liabilities 1,389,614 950,768
AEBRBERZFEEER TIIEEEE The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:
BT
AR Hong Kong et
RMB Dollars Total
FERT FERT FTHER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E—-hEF 2019
EBEER Interest-free borrowings 1,372,363 17,251 1,389,614
—E-NF 2018
BEER Interest-free borrowings 915,403 35,365 950,768

ETIEIEER pERREERTES - The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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37. IR& 37.SHARE CAPITAL
EBERROBE &
Number of ordinary shares Share capital
2019 2018 2019 2018
THER FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BREITRAR Issued and fully paid:

RAREL] At beginning of year 1,506,769,491 1,506,769,491 3,788,814 3,788,814

Rt 188 2 Shares repurchased and
i cancelled (6,122,000) - - -
RARER Atend of year 1,500,647,491 1,506,769,491 3,788,814 3,788,814

ANEE BB BB X AT BB E 6,122,000/% B (5 (=
E-NF &)  WERGIYXHESEA
21,120,900 (= —N\F : &)  WEHKZR
FHE AP IR o AT BRI BT o

RBE_Z-—NAF+_A=+—HLFEH
B ARREBRAEELERRAT

The Group acquired 6,122,000 (2018: nil) of its own shares through
purchase on the Stock Exchange. The total amount paid to acquire the
shares was HK$21,120,900 (2018: nil) which has been deducted from
retained profits. All the repurchased shares were cancelled.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Company
repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as

follows:

ACIf:: ExMHRERE

TERHA  SRWEBRE (RET AR AD)

Number of Purchase Aggregate

ordinary shares consideration  consideration paid
repurchased per share (before expenses)

BT THET

[l B Date of repurchase HK$ HK$’000
—E-NFTZAAR 9th December, 2019 6,122,000 3.45 21,121
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38. s

AEENHEMBREIZEENBEFEERM—
B EAR AR Ea S E (WL A KREME
) MERAKERIEEEFELZE -

EREFEMRLZHERR] - BERARREE
X EAERPBEEINZ Rata AR E
HEAHLE - WRFZERRARBMSERE 25

38.RESERVES

Other reserves of the Group mainly comprise the change in net assets
attributable to the Group in relation to changes in ownership interest
in a subsidiary without losing of control in prior year.

The remittance outside of the PRC of retained earnings of the
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is
subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of

KEE B e o foreign currencies generated and retained by these companies.
rEBZE-FHE Revaluation reserves of the Group
MEEMLRE REEMRAE
Property Investment
revaluation revaluation et
reserve reserve Total
FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-_ZF—)\F—H—H At Tst January, 2018
(R27) (originally stated) 12,123 49,264 61,387
SHBESENTE Effect on changes in accounting policy - (77,903) (77,903)
WZZE—N\F—HA—H At Tst January, 2018
(E51) (restated) 12,123 (28,639) (16,516)
FBEMEEKEE Net change in fair value
AREEREZRATEA  of equity instruments
DAEEZFE at FVTOCI - (64,955) (64,955)
FRE M P EW IR Deferred tax effect on
AR BEREZRATA change in fair value of
RRABEZESZ an equity instrument
EEBIANT 2 at FVTOCI - 3,603 3,603
RERDIREMER 2 Surplus on revaluation properties and
W RIANEER prepaid lease payment upon transfer
Eppeel a3 to investment properties 3,156 - 3,156
NEBEEREMER 2 Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
M E 2 RIERIER properties upon transfer to
2 investment properties (4,527) - (4,527)
R EFEREM P ERE Transfer of investment revaluation
BARBEREZRA reserves to retained earnings
TARBRKRESR upon disposal of equity instrument
REERFT A at FVTOCI - 4,601 4,601
RZE—N\F At 31st December,
+=-—A=+—H 2018 10,752 (85,390) (74,638)
FREMEEEREAR Net change in fair value of
BEEEIRATE equity instruments
DREBEIFEY at FVTOCI - (65,419) (65,419)
FREMPEREGERA L Deferred tax effect on
BEREZKRATA change in fair value of
AREEZEHZ an equity instrument
EERBNFE at FVTOCI - 1,210 1,210
R-ZZE—NEF At 31st December,
+=ZB=+—H 2019 10,752 (149,599) (138,847)
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39. —BHEFZEEZHEESWA

BER-_ZTZ _iuTiZTﬂfTﬁJ ;=ZZZ
F 2 IEFUEET » 130,625,000 7T 2 AR

RS WA jUz:z_Y TRFRTEFHESR
NEHEFTABEAEABESWA - RZF
—NWEFE+-A=+—H8 R—FRzFABFZ
—ZMPZEER WA E7,991,0007%8 T (=
= — )\F : 8,267,000 L) EBIEERH RE
oA BR A

IEFERIH

—ETH

RAFRERBEFEERNERELH ARG
(BE)REZZHWT :

39.DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A TENANT

Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered in 2002 and revision of
terms in 2005, HK$130,625,000 was classified as deferred rental
income and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term of 17 years from 2005. At 31st
December, 2019, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$7,991,000 (2018: HK$8,267,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.

40.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised

and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

RRAEE HB#EEHA
ZEHBR IEAPA
fE % AAHER
Adjustments Elimination
toconformto R KEH of inter-
EHAH the Group’s ~ 2REH  company
Business accounting  Withholding  charges in
combinations  Ef§#1%  policies taxon  properties
(Bfeti) Revalwationof — (Hfsfii) undistributed (i)  HEEE Rt &t
(Notei)  properties (Note ii) earnings (Note iii)  Tax losses Others Total
TiEn TR TR TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-/\§-A-H At Tst January, 2018 114,676 2,087,768 102,198 234,070 (26,751) (426) 1290 2,513,025
EiEE Exchange adjustments (639) (36,432) (8,1601) - - - - (47,232)
RERERENR Charge (credit) to profit or
(Bm) loss for the year 500138082 (19257) 47,884 - - (52) 166,662
RENEEfFE (Credit) charge to revaluation
(BE) B reserve for the year (843) 6,882 (3,603) - - - - 2,436
RZE-\E+ZA At 31st December,
=1-H 2018 113,401 2,194,300 777 81,954 (26,751) (428) 238 2,634,891
[ AR Exchange adjustments (904) (70,128) (2,434) - - - - (73,460)
RERBRE (Credit) charge to profit or
(B )i loss for the year 7) 111,514 (6,029) 31,314 - 1m 156 137,060
RERBER Credit to revaluation reserve
HRED for the year - - (1,210) - - - - (1,210)
BN EAGE Reclassified as held for sale - (176,520) (11,116) - - - - (187,636)
R=B-NE+=R At 31st December,
=1-H 2019 112,490 2,059,166 50,388 313,268 (26,751) (316) 1394 2,509,639
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=1+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

it -

(i) ERBMHBARKEEENBBNRIEFELAR
Efﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ?izﬂﬂvﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬂlﬁ%@ ©

(i) BEETHEBRRSZBAKERARRRYHER
BREAENMez BERE B B EHRABMmAELZ
ERERNOHATE - EP Bt EEN 2+
REMISHEE T RRDE 2 EHIES 2 B
ERIBATE -

i) FHHBRAARCAHBARGEREE - 238
TR ERIANERE 2 AR ERTEEY
HRERBEYE -

ETEERBEENBERERSMBARNEK
2 REMELIEE - AT AEERIREHRT
1EEA TSRS AR EH DT

40.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)  This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities upon
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(i) This includes the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
adjustments to management accounts of certain subsidiaries to conform to
the Group’s policies of revenue recognition and capitalisation of property
development cost, which includes tax effect of the temporary difference arising
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax saving on LAT and amortisation of properties
for development.

(iii) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
the elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of
properties under development, inventories of completed properties and
investment properties of subsidiaries.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

2019 2018
TExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 2,821,032 2,751,853
IR IE & A Deferred tax assets (311,393) (116,962)
2,509,639 2,634,891
NEREER - AEEEAAEE RIS 2 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses

ﬂi%bﬁﬁwﬁéﬁm 100,688,00078 7T ( — & — /\
F :1,132,269,0007%87T) © L ARB) A IEEIE
21,913,000 70 (=& — J\F : 2,594,000
B BERABEEHRIEEE - AREEAN
RACH TR M - BERT 2 1,098,775,0007%8 7T
—ZT— )\ :1,129,675,000/8 T) W EFERH
RERIBEE - RERBEBREEEN_-Z
ZVHF 2 Bl B Bl 2 B518470,325,000%
TL(ZZF—/)\F : 484,890,000/87C) ° EAbE
BRI AR R BARER -

RIFERAR AEEEATNRCEREERS
787,817,000/ 7T (== — J\4F : 718,552,000
BIT) o SRR IRT KT BE B JE R B F) K 88
AIBAZANREREE - WASEWER I
AMBEREZBERELEHRIELE -

of HK$1,100,688,000 (2018: HK$1,132,269,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$1,913,000 (2018: HK$2,594,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$1,098,775,000 (2018: HK$1,129,675,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$470,325,000 (2018: HK$484,890,000) that
will gradually expire until 2024. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$787,817,000 (2018: HK$718,552,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2019

41.FHEZHE 41.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

NEEAEHEAR The Group as lessor
RIBEER - B TREWERE AR ERE
TAARBKEZBREE A =+HF ' I
REERTERSEL TEANENELE -
& DIEEBEAZ WA (BEHRIGER) <& T
K WHEREFHES - EMREMEZ
HEBN T —Z=2+FERARZHBEEWELS T
FAANERBLIBIRE -

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of 35 years from the date of commencement
of operation of a lessee that occupies the properties, without given
any renewal priority at the end of the lease. The rentals are calculated
at a certain percentage of the revenue (net of value added tax) of the
lessee, with a minimum annual rental. Other investment properties
were leased out for periods ranging from 1 to 10 years and the
majority of the leases do not have any renewal priorities given to the
lessees.

HEPRKHEREFRENT

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2019

TET

HK$’000

—FZA Within one year 421,065
EF In the second year 283,601
E=F In the third year 196,985
EUtEES In the fourth year 147,128
BERE In the fifth year 114,764
RFEZ®% After five years 792,732
1,956,275

2018

THETT

HK$’000

—FZR Within one year 405,546
F_FEERF(RREEEMT) In the second to fifth year inclusive 589,628
HFEZ% After five years 787,184
1,782,358

HAFR S S EBEBNNSERENAEEER
AU AR EEE 536,556,000 T( —F—/)\4F :
34,567,000 7T) °

Contingent rents which is linked to the lessee’s turnover recognised
in income for the year amounted to HK$36,556,000 (2018:
HK$34,567,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

41. HEZH#)
KEBMBAEMER
RERR - NEBEBEYE A HIEN L

EHRER TR E 8 2 R RS E R IE A
BN

41.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2018
TAT
HK$'000

—F2ZR

Within one year 1,915

REMEFANDEAEEHRETHAEYE
ZENES - KRENHER/S—FE=F
REEEE -

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for a term
ranging from 1 year to 3 years at fixed rentals.

42, 8 AR 42.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2019 2018
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BB E Capital expenditure in respect of
-+ b AR kE contracted commitments for
N gcquisition of land use rights
BARX in the PRC 98,967 109,552
BARAZFEBER Capital contribution to a
BAREBERELZ financial asset at fair value
TREE through profit or loss 4,771 8,141
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HE-T-NF+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

43.HEBEE

@ AEER-_ZF-NFt+-_A=1T—HKZ=

E-N\F+_A=t—HZEFROT :

43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) At 31st December, 2019 and 31st December, 2018, the Group

had guarantees as follows:

2019 2018
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IMEBERERZ Guarantees given to banks in
RIS E R MIRTT respect of mortgage loans
e 2 R granted to property purchasers 14,160 597,469
MEEDEERRK Guarantees given to banks in
B ZRTT respect of banking facilities
EERRTT granted to and utilised by joint
B Z R ventures 619,167 611,379
A EhERERE Guarantees given to banks in
AR 2 $RAT respect of banking facilities
EERIRITIED granted to but not yet utilised
R by joint ventures 18,056 59,770
MEERIBRM Guarantees granted in respect of
M~ AR e utility supplies and government
IR tR authorities for the property
2R development works 545 3,364
b HAEBEZALCEFEMBEMEEL (b)) Two pieces (2018: two pieces) of properties for development

88,627,000/ 7C(=ZF—/)\4F : 74,340,000
BIL)HME(ZZE—N\F : MIB)FEE
MEARBARR 2 —HBARRZAEM
8R T (B #37,865,00078 7L ( = — \4F :
35,050,000/ 0) ) —IBfF R EIEWHE
HEEE TR E T AL - ZEmEeED
(EMBARFA 2 L HBEES TR
FAE - BTN EAREEBAT
BRI BRI HBERD EEKK
IEERE -

AN mAREZ Z—RHALLEREMm
BRE{E 49433,044,000/8 T(Z T — )\ & :
755,496,000/ 7T ) 2 FFERME D HE H
BENDE ARSI - —HIE RET
BEERAEETK @ M_HBERERAE
ERA -

that are held by joint ventures of the Group with carrying value
of approximately HK$88,627,000 (2018: HK$74,340,000) and
a property for development that is held by a subsidiary of the
Company with carrying value of approximately HK$37,865,000
(2018: HK$35,050,000) are under idle land investigation by
the local authorities. These pieces of lands owned by the joint
ventures and the subsidiary were held under several land use
right certificates. The development of more than half of the pieces
of lands were either completed or under development, except for
the portions which are retained for the remaining development of
the whole projects.

Further, property for development that is held by another joint
venture of the Group with carrying value of approximately
HK$433,044,000 (2018: HK$755,496,000) had been identified
as idle land by the local authority. The construction works for the
first phase of development has been completed this year while
the second phase of development has started during the year.
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43. HBEE#E)

(b)

(%&)

RBEERE  BARBIZ B —EHERQ
75 5 M BR E B 49 12,380,000 7% 7T A 20
HEERRYECHEWREIBELEEE L
# o REZMBARIFAMNZR T HE b
EBCETRE  BRTATHEEAR(EIER
BRTIERIN RO—FHITHBEREEE
ﬁ)zo

AEBERIEBEEGIEZFLETRE L
HAERN L BRAERDERFEL
W ERER RS e A DD LE % F L D
HE T AR - BREE KRN %
RAETRZAITH - REBEZRER  A&E
EHABRABELE  YRASRELH
WARTEHE - REEENER - Bl
ERREESEEER RN TR -

ERBERIIMEN—BYEER - AKX
RELHEEEREMAREE  MAAEE
H—REE D ERBEREL12,875,000%
TCRLER R o HAEEERERH - M
VHEERERNAEEANRD EFF o R M
TEFERER - AEBEEFHZRELR
BZRENGRERT TS HRE PR
REESATE -

—EEeERCHASEN—HAZEhXERE
HOARRD  RERNHOHRENZESR

F - AR #32,499,00058 TIFFE =R 8
HAF B R B3R o 32 A & 1B ZE R AT AU 4 FE AN
LI EBEEEAI11,390,000/8 7T ° %=1
MEEERER - AEBEEFHZRETR
BRRENRRERT TS HERE MR
REESEATE -
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43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(continued)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a portion of
property for development that is held by another subsidiary of the
Company with carrying value of approximately HK$12,380,000
had been identified as idle land by the local authority. The land
owned by the subsidiary has been developed by several phases
and approximately half of them were completed, except some
phases which retained for the remaining development of the
whole projects.

The Group is currently working diligently to prevent the possible
classification as idle land for those under idle land investigation
and taking remedy action to prevent from prosecution for those
had been identified as idle land, including negotiating the
feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on
legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that
the idle land confiscation can be reversed. In the opinion of the
Directors, the economic outflows caused by above cases are not
probable.

A property purchaser who previously purchased properties in
Shenzhen initiated legal proceedings against a joint venture of
the Group for a claim of approximately HK$12,875,000 due to
the failure to arrange issuance of the ownership certificate of the
properties. The judgement was held in favour of the joint venture
and the property purchaser appealed during the year. The case is
still pending trial by the court. The Group has assessed the claim
and considers that the final outcome of the claim will not have
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

A contractor has initiated legal proceedings against a joint venture
of the Group claiming for outstanding supply and installation
costs together with overdue interest and penalty of approximately
HK$32,499,000 which are being disputed. Full amount of supply
and installation costs of approximately HK$11,390,000 were
accrued by the joint venture. The case is still pending trial by the
court. The Group has assessed the claim and considers that the
final outcome of the claim will not have material effect on the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

43. HFRE#E)

(e)

—XRIRTEHAEEN —HEELEER
BRAZ —IRBEZFD - REKREED
BN A B H£49238,813,0008 7T © %ZIRTT
EHNZEREEAEBKBESE ¥ E
WA AR ZA ERERNRIIRE « 72572
FRDERNERE - AEEDFHZR
EREERANEEHZREFRMA N
MK - MRRET TS HEETHIRE
EEEATE-

ETHEBEEARRz —HEWBARR
FEVEEEREA - REARNT 411,493,000 7T
GHEFEMNEERR - E{E%719,069,000
BRI EMEREREE - ZRXGHNF
EBRRIE - AEBE B EZRETREZ
RENTEERT TS HEE W BRERE
FEARY

7

i3

o

AEEN—MBEQARMNERHABEET
2 WEREMELOKA @ ZHEARE
BB M % A A IR H AR R A A E K
BUETREA % REEEEKA115,179,0007%
JC o R - MIREHIRE - ZBAHRE
mAEBENBERFRERF  RERE
THEELERMANHGEEFE2IER
SRFNIB K 4144,726,000568 7T © AR
IMDERVIEARE - "EBEDFEZRE
R AR B RT (Al RE M B (T H E AR 15
Eo

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

43.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

(8)

A bank has initiated legal proceedings against a joint venture of
the Group as one of the guarantors claiming for outstanding loan
and interest of totally approximately HK$238,813,000. The bank
reported that the loan was granted to a former shareholder of the
joint venture before the acquisition of interest in that joint venture
by the Group. The legal proceeding is still in initial stage. The
Group has assessed the claim and in the opinion of the Directors,
the Group has rigid grounds against the claim and the claim will
not have material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Certain subcontractors have initiated legal proceedings against a
subsidiary of the Company claiming for outstanding construction
costs of approximately HK$11,493,000 which are being
disputed. Investment properties of approximately HK$19,069,000
equivalent was held in the custody of the court. The case is still
pending trial by the court. The Group has assessed the claim
and considers that the final outcome of the claim will not have
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

The main contractor of an associate of the Group suspended
works and requested to increase the contract cost, the associate
has refused and initiated legal proceedings against the main
contractor for the cancellation of the construction contract and
compensation for the loss, approximately HK$115,179,000.
However, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the main
contractor has counterclaimed against the associate of the Group
claiming for outstanding construction costs, penalty and loss
suffered from the construction schedule delay of approximately
HK$144,726,000 which are being disputed. The legal proceeding
is still in initial stage. The Group has assessed the claim and
considers that it is too early to assess the possible liability at this
stage.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-T-NF+-A=1+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

44. R RERIETE

AEE2EBRBERERAG RIS 2 ER
HRETEI([BERAEE ) B ERAIRN =
ZERF+ AR zaE e 8 ([REEE
2 - ZEABZEERAEE 2 EED R
B UEHRBEERAERZES - £RES
FTEIIL 2 AT - RABERERAEIKE 2BE
ARBRES BRI I EERE St
2 MAER_ZTTFE+ - —HIUAKH
ABZREASZEBEDE -

HRARESHEIKE EERASEE 2HEK
BEEFABBAKRAZS%  BEIMHELERA
3000087 MEIBAZELRGF BB
30,000/87C © ANEE IV 1EL 5%, fFEHR

BERAKFENESRESEERAEEZ
BARK BEZHFIEBELRHFEZ0%E
5% + MAKEZHFEAZEENAEEZ R
BEENT5%E10% - WEREETERA
R 2B HRERATR HBERAGE - ZFE
Bz AR FT B A S B Z B HR - R=F
“NEFT_A=FT—HLEFEAR-_T-N\F
TZA=+—HLEFER - WELKRHZAE
R - RBEHR - WERESRHBX
RRET IR Wz (5K VEH0IR 8 2 2 FE A £

Eon
N

AR BEK 2 KB R R REE =+ BIK
fTEE 2 BREERABHFEZKE - %F
MERRER—ELPINTEEBIERHR -
MMEZ R ERFTEI 2 ES o BNZRIKER
AtEl - AEEE-RIREHEERHRK -

REBEE-ZE—NE+-_A=+—RHIEERXN "
NEEDHFA30,451,000/8 0 ( ZF—\4F :
31,406,000/ 7T ) 2RREHETE

44.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$30,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$30,000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. During the years ended 31st
December, 2019 and 31st December, 2018, there were no forfeited
contributions used to offset contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31st December, 2019, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$30,451,000
(2018: HK$31,406,000).
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

45. TEFRERF 45.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

HE—ZT-hhE+-_B=+—HI-FEHH - During the year ended 31st December, 2019, a joint venture declared
—EALPESMIKE226,542,000 TS dividend of HK$226,542,000 to the Group and the Group directly
FAER  MALEEEERAZBRETZAE  contributed the dividend as capital contribution to that joint venture.
EEREREZA o

46. EREA T 2R 5 K iEek 46.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
REBHEGEEAT CERAZ S MEBRIAT ¢ The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties
as follows:
2019 2018
FERx T
HK$’000 HK$’000

@ EAEAFENZ

ARABEEHER

A ME(FE)BRAT

(MBaHE R
H BN R K&
HERERARR
H SR ER AR

(@) A major shareholder of the
Company with significant
influence

Allied Properties (H.K.)
Limited (“APL”) and its
subsidiaries and its ultimate
holding company and
subsidiaries of its ultimate

pdi)=YNC] holding company
—MAEE — Rent, property

WHRRIHSE - management and air-

MEEIE R conditioning fees

= RER charged to the Group 4,576 5,035
— AR B UWEREY — Management fee charged

ERE to the Group 51,555 57,340
— [AIZR SR EUER Y — Interest expenses charged

MEEBR to the Group 3,896 3,839
— [R)ZN£5 E U ER A — Sundry expenses charged

HihE MR to the Group 992 611
— H AR X — Other payable 5,880 10,179
—ENER (A — Loans payable (Note i) 155,711 122,062
— R TAEE — Loan facility granted to

1B = AR EY but not yet utilised by

EEE the Group 100,321 38,610
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HE-_T-HhF+-_A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2019

46. EHEEA LT 2R G R

46.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

() (CONTINUED)
2019 2018
THERT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(b) BE&HhE 2 —FH (b) A subsidiary of APL, Sun
MEBLAR —FEERRLF Hung Kai & Co. Limited
(IFUBE ) R HKIE AR (“SHK”) and its subsidiaries
— &= E BRER — Rental and property
o ® & management fee income
MEEREWA earned by the Group 2,579 3,427
— AR5 B BRER ) ~ Interest income earned by
BSYON the Group 5,900 5,522
— R E R (B 52ii) — Loan receivable (Note ii) 78,000 116,465
— HAth A RRFX — Other payable 1,712 1,952
c TE2EEEAER (c) Key management personnel
o compensation
—Fa LHMEH — Salaries and other short-
t=wl term benefits 63,474 69,151
—RKENE A — Post-employment costs 723 701
(d) BERRIRaERE (d) Associates and joint ventures
—AEERRHES — Rent earned by the Group 1,419 1,904
— 7R 5% B R — Interest income earned by
FLEWA the Group 25,975 8,008
— REE R — Property management fee
MEERE income earned by the
WA Group = 1,833
—AEED SRR - Dividend received or
EUR B A receivable by the Group 332,000 350,145
— [A) 255 W ER Y — Property management fee
MEEEE charged to the Group 6,482 5,785
— A E R AR B - Consultancy fee income
L ON earned by the Group 21,727 19,812
—MAREEWIRERE — Consultancy fee income
WA charged to the Group - 22,989
— 75 B BRER A — Merchandise trading
HmR 5 income earned by the
WA Group 997 -
—HEEEEER — Financial guarantee given
NMEERZHRIT to banks in respect of
EEMRITIEL banking facilities granted
Z TS HELR to and utilised by joint
ventures 619,167 611,379
—EEPEERE — Financial guarantee given
A BRAT to banks in respect of
EERRITIEL banking facilities granted
Z T RR to but not yet utilised by
joint ventures 18,056 59,770
— HAth SRR K — Other payable 409 823
— MY BB A F U ER - Deposit received on
Cpfirga disposal of subsidiaries 748,354 -
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46. EREAN LT 2R Z RERR

(%)

BRARBIEMEME L RRER AR ZE
FIITBURTS & E TR ARG 0 # ek - AN~ A gk
BHEZREERARKBaE BB A
BRI 2 7 TR 1 as o AN SR B ST IR A 2 — Rl Y
BABRIMZEEARI - A ENBREAL
ZRZWAREKA R FIRYE LT AR BIFT R E R
FEmERS -

REEEABHMNZFBENMEEI1 512 -
AEEETEIEEEBABR —REAART
BERER#EGZ ARWRME - ZAFRALE
BRERMHERRY - UZFABREMIALIEAR
SEZTEEREASMRERNRYE - mA%
BEUWRERER  ZEEERCRBEEAWMTE
@B ARELERERT o

Lz EBBNEREEEABRNEBEBHE
NHEZEEE  YAoREE LM FEEE
BAB - OB £%A41,793,0008 T(=F
—)\4F : 47,641,000/ 7T) * WEBIE Lz E
EEREABHFMA -

(i) ENERREERER  FAER2.5%E4.6%(=
T—N\F :3.8%24.6%)WER_FT-_ZFHAZE
RA(ZE—N\F : —E—NAFNHAENAEE -

(i) BUEXSEBEMENR  FHNEB575%(=F
—N\F 475%)AFR_F-_AF+—A(=F
—N\F: T —FRA)EE -

46.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Apart from the renewed sharing of administrative services and
management services agreement entered into by the Company with
the ultimate holding company of APL, sub-tenancy agreements
entered into by the Company with the ultimate holding company of
APL and a subsidiary of APL, and leasing agreement entered into by
the Group with a subsidiary of SHK, none of the above related party
transactions constitutes a continuing connected transaction as defined
in the Listing Rules.

Details of compensation of key management personnel are set
out in notes 11 and 12. Certain key management personnel of the
Group received remuneration from a company which has significant
beneficial interests in the Company. Such company provided
the management services to the Group and charged the Group a
management fee, which has been included in management fee as
disclosed in part (a) of this note, for services provided by those
personnel as well as others who were not key management personnel
of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$41,793,000 (2018: HK$47,641,000).

Notes:
(i)  The loans payable bears interest ranging from 2.5% to 4.6% (2018: from 3.8%
to 4.6%) per annum, is unsecured and repayable from April to May 2020 (2018:

from April to June 2019).

(i) The loan receivable bears interest of 5.75% (2018: 4.75%) per annum, is
unsecured and repayable in November 2024 (2018: May 2021).
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47 .PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2019, the following assets were pledged:

(a)

Bank deposits, property, plant and equipment (including assets
classified as held for sale), properties for development (including
assets classified as held for sale), properties under development,
inventories of completed properties (including assets classified
as held for sale) and investment properties (including assets
classified as held for sale) of certain subsidiaries with carrying
values of HK$592,521,000 (2018: HK$550,000,000),
HK$54,533,000 (2018: HK$132,064,000), HK$53,296,000
(2018: HK$1,833,181,000), HK$1,258,064,000 (2018:
HK$1,218,719,000), HK$1,044,059,000 (2018: HK$996,359,000)
and HK$9,749,514,000 (2018: HK$9,408,392,000) respectively
were pledged to banks for banking facilities granted to the Group
and the subsidiaries classified as assets classified as held for sale.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$121,000 (2018:
HK$125,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$545,000 (2018:
HK$2,538,000) were pledged for guarantees in respect of utility
supplies and government authorities for the development works.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$11,111,000 (2018: nil)
were pledged for banking facility granted to a joint venture of the
Group.
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483. €T H

482, SR T B Z3EH

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

48a. Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
FET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EWEE Financial assets
BBIBSIE A BEERE FVTPL
BHIA BB IL N (BT E Mandatory measured at FVTPL
—BIEEE — Held-for-trading 56,973 49,390
—Hh — Others 206,235 344,675
263,208 394,065
FREHM P EPERA R BERR Equity instruments
ZIRATE at FVTOCI 354,996 211,698
HEBEN T ENSREE Financial assets at amortised
cost 7,696,500 6,970,860
8,314,704 7,576,623
o a=Li Financial liabilities
HBENAFTEZ Financial liabilities at amortised
TRIAE cost 7,847,990 7,098,877
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
48b. Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at
FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI, equity securities at FVTPL,
amounts due from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling
interests, loans receivable, trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and
interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and
change in prices of equity financial instruments (see below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of interest rate changes on fixed-rate loans receivable and
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at interest rate quoted
by a bank plus a certain percentage, Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered
Rate or London Inter-bank Offered Rate plus a certain percentage.
The Group will continue to maintain a reasonable mix of floating
rate and fixed rate borrowings and take actions to hedge against any
foreseeable interest rate exposure, if necessary. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of bank and other borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 35.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk management (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable
rate loans receivable and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s profit after tax would have increased by nil (2018:
HK$98,000).

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable rate
borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit after tax would have decreased by HK$22,903,000 (2018:
HK$6,685,000).

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable rate bank balances is insignificant.

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Other
than Hong Kong, the Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC and
certain bank balances, receivables, payables and other loans of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors the related foreign exchange exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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48. ERIT B (%) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48h. I EREEBERBER (&) 48b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

AR () Market risk (continued)

(i) INERBRERE) (i) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

REIREEIR - NREBANGESELSIMIEZ  The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
EEEENEEaEZERENT ! are denominated in a currency other than functional currencies of
entities at the end of the respective reporting periods are as follows:

2019 2018
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EE Assets

EIH United States Dollars 425,392 192,140
BT Hong Kong Dollars 3,079,355 3,432,202
BRI Australian Dollars 368,279 116,094
S British Pound 22,649 7,285

aE Liabilities
ETT United States Dollars 366 444
BT Hong Kong Dollars 601,989 174,306
SEIT Australian Dollars 540,466 76,769

L British Pound 452,539 446,026
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to United States Dollars, Australian
Dollars, British Pound and Hong Kong Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings as well as
bank balances and cash. A positive (negative) number indicates an
increase (a decrease) in profit before tax where the RMB strengthens
against the relevant currency. If there is 5% increase in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies, the decrease in the profit before tax is
shown as below:

2019 2018
FET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
ETT United States Dollars
R AR B AR A Decrease in profit before tax (21,251) (9,585)
BT Hong Kong Dollars
M F R FE Decrease in profit before tax (123,868) (162,895)
YRIT Australian Dollars
B B A g A 0 Increase (decrease) in profit
CRtA) before tax 8,609 (1,966)
5&% British Pound
RO INEAlE=pill Increase in profit before tax 21,495 21,937

EEERS - BRED T TERRAEINER
B AAFRERILTRBREREANRER -

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

— revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by HK$35,500,000
(2018: HK$21,170,000) (before any tax effect) for the Group
as a result of the changes in fair value of equity instruments at
FVTOCI.

—  profit before tax would increase/decrease by HK$26,321,000
(2018: HK$39,407,000) for the Group as a result of the changes
in fair value of equity securities at FVTPL and financial assets at
FVTPL.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2019, other than those financial assets whose
carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure to credit
risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group arising from the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees provided by the Group
disclosed in note 43(a).

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are carried
out to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of HKFRS 9 on financial assets
at amortised cost. With respect to financial guarantees provided to
banks to secure the banking facilities granted to subsidiaries by the
Company and to joint ventures by the Group, the Directors consider
the credit risk is limited because the subsidiaries and joint ventures
have strong financial positions. The management considers the credit
risk exposure to financial guarantees provided to banks to secure
the banking facilities granted to property purchasers is also limited
because the facilities are secured by the properties and the market
price of the properties is higher than the guaranteed amounts. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loans receivable
are advanced to a few independent third parties and a related party. As
at 31st December, 2019, the loans receivable that have not yet past
due will be matured ranging from May 2020 to November 2024 (2018:
February 2019 to October 2021) while the past due loans receivable
are repayable on demand. Loans receivable of HK$297,152,000
(2018: HK$104,002,000) are secured by share mortgage, loans
receivable of HK$44,438,000 (2018: nil) is secured by properties and
assets of the borrower, loans receivable of HK$55,759,000 (2018:
HK$172,342,000) is secured by share mortgage of guarantor and loans
receivable of the borrower and loans receivable of HK$224,905,000
(2018:nil) is secured by land. The management had assessed the
credit rating of the borrowers for the remaining unsecured loans
receivable of HK$785,861,000 (2018: HK$1,357,105,000).

The Group also has a concentration of credit risk on the amounts
due from certain joint ventures which are engaged in property
development. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts, if any.
The management considers the credit risk exposure is limited.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers

As at 31st December, 2019, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of lifetime ECL provision for trade receivables with gross
carrying amount of HK$17,071,000 (2018: HK$10,357,000) which
are not credit-impaired. Trade receivables from customers are
considered to be credit-impaired when the customers are in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery and
are assessed individually.

Management assessed the expected loss on trade receivables from
customers based on provision matrix grouped by the ageing of the
trade receivables, taking into account the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (continued)

In addition, the Directors are of the opinion that there has no default
occurred for trade receivables aged over 90 days as, based on
historical credit loss experience, the probability of default of trade
receivables is low and the Group generally receives deposits from
customers for leasing of properties.

Impairment assessment on loans receivable

The Directors are of the opinion that significant increase in credit risk
occurred when the principal and interest repayment of the loans are
overdue and when some credit risk and events are observable on the
borrowers. The loans receivable are considered to be defaulted when
significant credit risks and events are observable. Loans receivable
past due more than 90 days are not considered as in default as the
loans receivable are secured by sufficient collaterals.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for loans receivable with
gross amount of HK$1,188,714,000 (2018: HK$1,250,042,000)
on 12m ECL basis except for loans receivable amounting to
HK$55,758,000 (2018: HK$384,148,000) which considered to be
past due but not default and HK$441,807,000 (2018: nil) which
considered to have significant increase in credit risk or default events
observed since initial recognition and assessed at lifetime ECL (non
credit-impaired) and lifetime ECL (credit-impaired). The expected loss
of loans receivable is assessed individually, taking into account the
repayment histories, collaterals provided to the Group and internal
credit rating of the debtors as well as forward-looking information, as
appropriate.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on deposits and other receivables/pledged
bank deposits/bank balances/amounts due from joint ventures/
associates/non-controlling interests

The Group assessed the loss allowances for deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and amounts due
from joint ventures/associates/non-controlling interests with gross
carrying amounts of HK$168,905,000 (2018: HK$130,446,000),
HK$604,298,000 (2018: HK$552,663,000), HK$2,942,277,000
(2018: HK$2,293,386,000) and HK$1,158,547,000 (2018:
HK$1,554,620,000) respectively, on 12m ECL basis. The management
of the Group considers the pledged bank deposits and bank balances
deposited with the financial institutions with high credit rating to
be low credit risk financial assets. The management of the Group
considers these pledged bank deposits and bank balances are short-
term in nature and the probability of default is negligible on the basis
of high-credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

In determining the ECL for deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-controlling interests,
the management of the Group has taken into account the historical
default experience and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
There had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded that
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding deposits and other
receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-
controlling interests is insignificant.

Impairment assessment on financial guarantee contracts

The Group assessed the loss allowances for financial guarantee
contracts of HK$651,383,000 (2018: HK$1,268,618,000),
representing the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under
the respective contracts, on 12m ECL basis. When assessing the ECL,
the Directors has taken into account the historical default experience
and financial strength of the guaranteed entities, as appropriate.

As at 31st December, 2018, the ECL allowance on the Group’s
financial assets at amortised cost and financial guarantee contracts
are insignificant.
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48. €MI E (%) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48h. I EREEBERBER (&) 48b. Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

= ERERRBERE TG (E)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

T%E¥L$El%i&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%)@ﬂ%?ﬁmé

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's

BMEE(BEBEERER - BEQRIRK financial assets including loans receivable, amounts due from
R - FEERERA - B {’ET&#Z%ETT associates, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from non-
TR BOEERBEMI SR EMEREE  controlling interests, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash
PFESHREERM : and trade and other receivables, which are subject to ECL assessment:
IEREES
BHEEER “E-nEREAE —3-\FRELE
12m or lifetime ECL 2019 Gross carrying amount 2018 Gross carrying amount
it TAR AR TAL TAL
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
IER Loans receivable 29 NEAZHEESE
(EEHE)
12m ECL
(not credit-impaired) 1,188,714 1,250,042
RIRBEERE
(FEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) 55,758 384,148
RERHEERE
(EERE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired) 441,807 1,686,279 - 1,634,190
AT Amounts due from associates 26 NEARHEERR
12m ECL 92,792 202,792
ARMERT Amounts due from 21,27 NERBHEEER
joint ventures 12m ECL 2,445,264 2,129,376
JERES Amounts due from non- 28 NEAABREESE
R& controlling interests 12m ECL 17,778 18,391
RIEERZ#1T Pledged hank deposits 47 NEARHEEER
R 12m ECL 604,298 552,663
BOEERRS Bank balances and cash NEABHEESE
12m ECL 2,942,277 2,293,386
REENES Trade receivables 30 REBEEEFE
(FEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) 17,071 10,357
G Other receivables 30 NEARBEERR
12m ECL 168,905 130,446
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48. TR IT E (&) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
48h. IR EEBERBER (&) 48b.Financial risk management objective and policies

(continued)

EEEREREAEREREFE(E) Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

TRBTREERNEWEREIEEE 2 Bk - The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has
been recognised for loans receivable.

REAH
FEEE
128 A 88 (EERE)
=EFR Lifetime ECL At
12-month ECL (credit-impaired) Total
TR THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
R-FT-N\F—-A—H As at 1st January, 2018 - - -
REETRIER Impairment loss recognised 741 - 741
RZE-NFt+_A=1+—H As at 31st December, 2018 741 - 741
AR ERER Impairment loss recognised 562 277,239 277,801
EE R Impairment loss reversed (382) - (382)
P& 5 R Exchange adjustment 4 - 4
R-B-hE+=-A=t+—H As at 31st December, 2019 925 277,239 278,164
B 1R R Liquidity risk

AREBEE N EFIREMIREGEEEAEEE The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash

BRERHHIKE  BAREBZ&ERMEES equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the

MREEeREFHITE - BEIREILEFIIETT  Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

ERZER RERETERZIEK - flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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48h. MR EEEFERBEKE)

HE R ()

TRFVNAEBNIETE SR B BERIBER
THHFIBREHER - ZXEEERBEZR
BIRIREMEBWRBEAEEAELNR 2 HT
Elﬁﬂxfﬁi cRERBPEMERARE ZREM

cHFBRERZER  KMRESB|RARN
#E%%XZ%U% g

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and financial
guarantee arrangements. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate at the end of the reporting period.

EZXTRE Wtz
HMER RER =t+-A
ELIF= Repayable on REHBAE ZREE
Weighted ~ demand or SEAEIE Total Carrying
average less than 123f8A 3 months 1258 5L undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tmonth 13 months to 1 year 1-5years  over5 years cash flows ~ 31st December
TEn Thn TEn TEn Thr TEn TEn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZB-NE 2019
HiESRaE Non-derivative financial liabilities
RHREMENES Trade and other payables - 1,132,691 - - - - 1,132,601 1,132,691
KSR Interest-bearing borrowings
-8 ~ fixed rate 6.21% 84,979 91,847 670,091 3,260,839 1,675,571 5,783,327 3,954,236
-8 ~variable rate 2.95% - - 959,885 458,041 - 1,417,926 1,371,449
S8R Interest-free borrowings - 1,389,614 - - - - 1,389,614 1,389,614
HBERAR Financial guarantee contracts = 651,383 = = = = 651,383 =
3,258,667 91,847 1,629,976 3,718,880 1,675,571 10,374,941 7,847,990
ZB-N\E 2018
HiESRER Non-derivative financial liabilities
RERAMERER Trade and other payables - 1,417,836 - - - - 1,417,836 1,417,836
RS Interest-bearing borrowings
-E8 - fixed rate 5.18% 731,181 90,678 715,294 2,519,512 1,052,787 5,109,652 4,284,580
-8 ~variable rate 2.03% - - 13,728 461,162 - 474,890 445,093
4867 Interest-free borrowings - 950,768 - - - - 950,768 950,768
HBERER Financial guarantee contracts - 1,268,618 - - - - 1,268,618 -

4,368,403 90,678 729,022 2,980,674 1,052,787 9,221,764 7,098,877
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48b. MR EE B ERBE(Z)

TEMEE SR (E)
TRIBENER DY ZBEEEKEE - £

RRERXTEEERRZERER B -
ZEFRRBREAAONEAENMEH - E
b REFRBBR ERBBAMAIIER
SKTMEESR AR VE R IR EE AP E 2=
R ERFAKRE BN - BEFL AR
RITE AT BET TR B AR F SR BN B 5K - i%*@

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of term loans with a
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments
set out in the agreements. The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were
greater than the amounts disclosed in the “repayable on demand or
less than 1 month” time band in the maturity analysis contained in
the table above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position,

EZETHEZBBEATERWZEAMY 2 the Directors do not consider that it is probable that the banks will
B EERBEER exercise their discretion to demand immediate repayment. The
Directors believe that such term loans will be repaid in accordance
with the following scheduled repayment dates set out in the
agreements:

i

AERRE t-A=1-H

RERE ZIRE{E

Si{E A 3EAZEIF Total Carrying

Less than 1£38A 3 months 12855 5L E  undiscounted amount at

1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5years  over 5 years cash flow 31st December

THET TR TR TR TR THET TR

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2019 4,012 5,958 1,115,177 211,000 - 1,336,147 1,275,329

2018 2,078 2,715 69,038 91,754 19,410 184,995 162,807

it etz MBERERZEESMHEROR
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ AEBERBELFFTRFENEE
%&m TR RENBEPRR ALY - &
%@%%ﬁﬁ SRAXTE RIS
K %ﬁ AR RFRZE S IRBEERED
REMAIEEMNE - ZREASRZETHE
RERN S BEMRTEZEERRAEMLEN
KB o

AREZFTESRERE
T RIE BN R B B
Z?UH&#Z%EWE&“ °

ETEZ®
RS H ﬂiﬁ;{

52
E=
3F

Z
3

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts that the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed to suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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48h. MR EEEFERBEKE)

B E b EE

AEEEREEEARURRARE 2 BEEASAH
Bz WEBBLCEBRESZZTE - Bk

Joi= B =)

RFEREALR

AEBZ EREBEREETY - EBERKE3S
NM36WBEZER - HRRITEFMIRERAR
AR E(h s - BN R o

EETHMEHNELLRE - ERZBMAZ B
7 BEEREARANREZHERNEARRHZ
Bk - AREHREESZERNUERER
SASBR ~ BITHEAR S BB M A AD DA B I (B S
SBORGEHM FPOEREBENERS -

A« ARE BEERA TR .

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48b.Financial risk management objective and policies
(continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
the borrowings disclosed in notes 35 and 36, net of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt, if necessary.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair

value of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the

end of each reporting period. The following table gives information

about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined

(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well

as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to
which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

RARER EiBEsY
Fair value as at BNLEEYBE
-8-4f “T-\E  ALEE Relationship of
tZA=t-8 tzA=t- &N EERIBRSY unobservable
315t December,  31stDecember,  Fairvalie  fERERIESY Significant inputs for
2019 2018 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs ~ unobservable inputs fair value
TEn TEL
HK$'000 HKS$'000
MEREERERM BRRE BAESL 56,898 9312 F-F RERTITRCEAR T TR
BT REES Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/ N/A
Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
equity securities at FVTPL
MRAEBANEENEROABEREL 20,849 084 FR RERDSFEZEAE TR TR
RATEzEwE iz fAEs Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A N/A
Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
equity instruments at FVTOCI
PRBEBANEENERD A BRREL 295,44 15750 B NEERRAHZEAR TiEH il
RATEZRER LT BARS Level T Quoted bid prices inan active market N/ NA
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong classified as
equity instruments at FVTOC
PEREERERN BERA EREARL 32,968 - BB NEBEDSHEZEAR T TR
EhE LW RARS Level T Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A NIA

Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
financial assets at FVTPL
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48. €MI E (%) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

e TMITAZAREBENEE)

48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

MEER BtBRSY
Fair value as at BALBEYBE
E-AE B\ MR Relationship of
tZA=t-B fZR=t-R AW EZEERESY unobservable
315t December, 31t December,  Fairvalue  fEEFEREESY Significant inputs for
2019 2018 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs  unobservable inputs fair value
Tin ThR
HK$'000 HK$'000
AEREBRRRIABERE AR 13,624 U EZR AEMBERUNER TR TR
Frmkase Level 2 Price provided by financial institutions /A NIA
Unlisted equity fund classified as
financial assets at FVTPL
MEREAANENERD N BEREL 38,705 Weed  E=R AEERE EEMRE(ZEIM AN ARNEENENe
RATEZ HRATE Level 3 Asset based approach RERIRMRERA TR SHOLBETR
Unlisted equity instrument classified as equity TEABE: WRANANRELFAELS  Theincreasein
instruments at FVTOC! The key inpus ae: BEE)B300%E350%(=  the term yield
Z-\F  3.00%F3.50%) would resultin a
(1) HERE Term yield, taking info account ~~ decrease in fair
(1) Term yield; of yield generated from value
() BEkEE: comparable propertes and
(2) Reversionary yield; adjustment to reflect the
() wEENEE R certainty of term income
(3) Market unit rent; and secured and to be received,
) RZIEBATRES 2% of 3.00% to 3.50% (2018:
(4) Discount for lack of control and 3.00% t0 3.50%)
lack of marketability
ERhER(ZEImAnE  EBlhERNENg
WERENTAEENAR EHONERTR
BTHE)E350%E400%  Theincrease in the
(ZB-N\F 3500% reversionary yield

400%)

Reversionary yield, taking into
account annual unit market
rental income and unit market
value of the comparable
prapertes, of 3.50% to 4.00%
(2018: 3.50% to 4.00%)

would result ina
decrease in fair
value
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e TERTAZAARBETERE)

48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

MEER

Fait value as at
5-nE Z5)\E
tZA=t- tZA=1-A
31t December, 315t December,
2019 2018
TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000

RARE
2Rl
Fair value
hierarchy

{FERERTESY

Valuation techniques and key inputs

ERELRESY
Significant
unobservable inputs

BEERSY
BALEEZBE
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs for

fair value

(e LR
T i T
{oBFIRE - ERKER - 1
FRMIREE « TITBEL
EENFOETIRERE
REEFIREAI00ET(=
-0\ §YAREANE
nESTAREA7SAT)

Market unit rent compares with
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities.
The range of average market
unit rent is from around
HK$30 5q.t/month to
HKS180 sq.ft/month (2018:
HK$30 5q.ft/month to
HK$175 5q.ft/month)

2 EHNmEET LT
(BREMIANELR)
B205%

(ZF-N\F: 205%)

Discount for lack of control
and lack of marketability,
taking into account median
control premiumm, of 20.5%
(2018: 22.5%)

RSN
S8y L7 ERE
il

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
anincrease in fair
value

HeEHATERE
LEEIE
EYRLEETH

The increase in the
discount for lack
of control and lack
of marketability
would result in a
decrease in fair
value
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48. €MI E (%) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

e TMITAZAREBENEE)

48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

DREER 18528
Fair value as at ADAEEZBE
2E-0F 0 ZE-\E 0 QAEE Relationship of
tZB=t-8 tZA=t-B BN EZRIEESY unobservable
31t December,  31stDecember,  Fairvalue  fEEREREESH Significant inputs for
2019 2018 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs unobservable inputs fair value
TR TEn
HK$'000 HK$'000
ARBRRRERALEEREL 159,443 00268  EZH  BEEEND BAREHREIEARATE  MRROENEEH
SRAEIMERERE Level3  Discounted cash flow AR R R, MhEETE
Investment in property project classified (Z5-NE20%) The increase in the
as financial assets at FVTPL Discount rate used in discounted rate
discounting the estimated would result in a
cash flows to the net present decrease in fair
value of 20% (2018: 20%) value.
BRHERREGRSEE  REREhined
USU00ET(ZE-NE:  HRrEELN
35,78 000£70) The increase in
Cash flows used to calculate the -~ the cash flows
net present value, amounted would result in
to AU$34,514,000 (2018: an increase in fair
AU$35,778,000) value
BNTESRENEERBIE  EERBTREL
FRIE4ER (Z5-NE: SEHLRER
45208R) T
Remaining duration of the The inc're'ase inthe
project used to calculate the femaning
duration of the
net present value of T year .
project would
and 4 months (2018: 4 years resultina
and 2 months) decrease in fair
value
HERRRRRRLAEERSL - 0988 F=H EEEARE T ol G 3 A 15 4
SREEZFLARERS Level 3 Asset based approach FETNEEN §7%) ERDANMETR
Unlisted investment fund classified as N/A (2018: liquidity The increase in the
financial assets at FVTPL discount of 21.87%). liquidity discount

would resultin a
decrease in fair
value,
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483. eI H (&) 48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48c. EMIT A AREBEERE) 48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

REB-NF+ZA=F+—-HZAAEERH

Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2019

2019
B gt B #ct
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TET FTET TERT TER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
FBEBRIEAAEE  Equity securities at FVTPL
BRIR 2 BRANFE 55
—RPEEmZ — Equity securities listed in
IRANTE 5 the PRC 56,898 = = 56,898
FiBBIEL A AEE  Financial assets at FVTPL
BRI eREE
—RHPE FTZ — Equity securities listed in
MR ANFE 5 the PRC 32,968 = = 32,968
— 3 EmBRAES — Unlisted equity fund — 13,824 — 13,824
—MRKRE — Investment in property
HH project = = 159,443 159,443
32,968 13,824 159,443 206,235
FiBHMEMmWER  Equity instruments at FVTOCI
NRBEREZ
BATA
—RHREEHZ — Equity securities listed in
PGS 5 the PRC 20,849 = = 20,849
—REBE LT — Equity securities listed in
N Hong Kong 295,442 = = 295,442
—JEETRATIA — Unlisted equity instrument = = 38,705 38,705
316,291 - 38,705 354,996
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

B ERMTEZAREBEFEZ) 48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

REBE—NFE+ZA=+—HZARBERH Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2018

2018
F—R E_H FE=M wst
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THEE Financial assets
FBERIZAAEE  Equity securities at FVTPL
gE i N
—RHE LT — Equity securities listed in
IR ATE the PRC 49,312 - - 49,312
FBERWAAEE  Financial assets at FVTPL
RIS MEE
—JELETRAES — Unlisted equity fund - 14,522 - 14,522
—3F I EES - Unlisted investment fund - - 229,885 229,885
—ERIREERA — Investment in property
project - - 100,268 100,268
- 14,522 330,153 344,675
Hib2mUssiL  Equity instruments at FVTOCI
RABEREZ
BARTHE
—RHE L — Equity securities listed in
IR ANTE the PRC 20,284 - - 20,284
—-REELETZ — Equity securities listed in
IR A& Hong Kong 153,750 - - 153,750
—JEETMIRATA — Unlisted equity instrument - - 37,664 37,664
174,034 - 37,664 211,698

REZE-_ZT—NF+_A=1+—HILFEH During the year ended 31st December, 2019, a financial asset at
f —HEHAREREAABERIEZEBMEE FVTPL has been transferred from level 3 to level 1. There were no
DME-REREE—H - WAREER - IR other transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.
BHEME—R - F-RMRE=FR 2 EHOEE -

REBEE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—HILFEH During the year ended 31st December, 2018, there were no transfers
f - Ixxﬁ%—i& E_MRE=—RENE  between Levels 1, 2 and 3.
% o
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48.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

48c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

EoRALEETEZEH R Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
#EiB
ZiBERz Hth2EWE
BAREE BARERE
BEZ BEZ
SRMEE BATE
Financial Equity
assets  instruments et
at FVTPL at FVTOCI Total
FET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-ZF—)\F—H—H At Tst January, 2018 - 77,080 77,080
BIEE Total losses:
—RiEEA — in profit or loss (70,203) - (70,203)
—REMEE — in other comprehensive
ERA expense - (7,132) (7,132)
BE Purchases 396,855 - 396,855
BARIRE Return of capital - (28,919) (28,919)
EHER Exchange differences 3,501 (3,365) 136
RZZE—NF+=-_A=1+—H At 31st December, 2018 330,153 37,664 367,817
BUA Total gains:
—RERA — in profit or loss 71,133 = 71,133
—REMZE — in other comprehensive
WAR income = 1,041 1,041
BE Purchases 23,130 = 23,130
BARRE Return of capital (222,222) - (222,222)
B =i (i) Transfer out of level 3 (Note) (32,968) = (32,968)
fER =R Exchange differences (9,783) = (9,783)
R=F— j'L¢ At 31st December,
+=-A= 2019 159,443 38,705 198,148
Biet: REE_Z-NAF+_A=+—-HILFE Note:  The capital of a financial asset at FVTPL has been returned to the Group

B —REBEREARE @EﬁZ%mﬁﬁF
MERERETARE - MAHE EHZARA
ESERPERDR - At - ZEBRERRK

/D\jﬂ ERECEREECHF=-ABRES
_I%&c
EER/RBHKRAIIAZR AP BERERTHE

mirﬁéé)}i@mﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ@,v\/A/‘Efﬂﬁ

and equity securities listed in the PRC has been provided as return during
the year ended 31st December, 2019. Therefore, that financial asset at
FVTPL has been transferred out from level 3 to level 1.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

49.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

49. MEFHELENEBHIR

TRAASEREEHELNABEZBFS
BRRGIIFASES BEIDELNERE
DRBREREXBRRASRERNAEEGZEH
ERBDEOVBABEEDRSRENEE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
BEEHM
BRI AR
EERE
Interest
payables M B A
included in Interest- REMERK
other bearing Interest-free et
payables  borrowings  borrowings Total
(KtzE35) (K1at36)
(note 35) (note 36)
FET FHET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZE—N\%F At Tst January,
—H—H 2018 12,769 4,379,130 20,281 4,412,180
MERLRE Financing cash flows:
ERFLE Interest paid (203,961) - - (203,961)
e RIT R E A New bank and other loans
N raised - 1,557,395 - 1,557,395
ERRIRTT R Repayment of bank and other
Hh &R loans - (1,087,483) - (1,087,483)
KEFZNRER Advances from associates - - 6,128 6,128
KEEEPEER Advances from joint ventures - - 932,111 932,111
HREERE Repayment to
B joint ventures - - (3,128) (3,128)
B T IR R Dividend paid to non-
&% & controlling interests - - (77,670) (77,670)
(203,961) 469,912 857,441 1,123,392
FREMBEE - Non-cash flow items:
JEET B Accrued interest 206,261 - - 206,261
BEMIRETIFER  Dividend declared to non-
0 Ty ¥ controlling interests - - 77,670 77,670
SNEHAE Foreign exchange translation - (118,769) (4,624) (123,393)
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49.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

49. MEFBELENEEHRGED

BEEHM
FE{S BRFR A Y
B FIE
Interest
payables B SfE R
included in Interest- REER
other bearing Interest-free et
payables  borrowings  borrowings Total
(H1EE35) (Kiz£36)
(note 35) (note 36)
THET THET FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZTE—)\F At 31st December,
+=-—A=+—H 2018 15,069 4,730,273 950,768 5,696,110
AZE—NF At 1st January,

—H—H 2019 15,069 4,730,273 950,768 5,696,110
BMERERE - Financing cash flows:

EAFLE Interest paid (245,903) = = (245,903)
FERIT R EAM New bank and other loans

B% raised - 3,341,890 - 3,341,890
FEBRTR Repayment of bank and

HER other loans - (1,959,288) - (1,959,288)
REAEE R RIEK Advances from associates = = 9,820 9,820
RKEBETERER Advances from joint ventures = = 496,362 496,362
FEASELEMEBR Repayment to joint ventures - - (35,531) (35,531)
B T IR E R Dividend paid to non-

R B, controlling interests - - (31,068) (31,068)

(245,903) 1,382,602 439,583 1,576,282
FBEREEE ¢ Non-cash flow items:
JEET B Accrued interest 244,569 = — 244,569

DR FIEEA  Dividend declared to non-

AR B controlling interests = = 31,068 31,068
B EARTE Reclassified as held for sale = (653,981) (361) (654,342)
HINEBE Foreign exchange translation - (133,209) (31,444) (164,653)
RZE—NF At 31st December,

+=-—A=+—H 2019 13,735 5,325,685 1,389,614 6,729,034
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

50. X EME A TS 50.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
501 MIBAR—RER 50.1 General information of subsidiaries

MBAERBIN BB RARIHESSLMA  Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are
URFEEEBLE  FEOAT operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated
are as follows:

BERITEBRRE
dMERZED
ERTHRE Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/registered capital
EHREMER AR
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREE EEEES
WEARAR share capital/Paidup ~ Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TBER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
BEMERRAR HK$681,899,000 74.96 74.96 74.96 7496 MERE - MFMER
Asiasec Properties Limited NEER
Property investment,
property leasing and
estate management
EREAEEABERAA" US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 MEFRIEE
Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Property development and
Apartment Co., Ltd. " investment
Best Perspective Asian Real Estate  US$1 100 100 100 100 YHEHE
Fund Limited ™ ¢® Property investment
RERREHEREERAR" RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERE
Changchun Tian An Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd. "
EMRZHHRERBRAR" US$2,650,000 100 100 100 100 MEER
Changzhou Tian An City Property development
Development Co., Ltd. "
EMRZTREHERRERAR" US$32,300,000 100 100 100 100 WEER
Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng Property development
Real Estate Development
Company Limited"
RYARRAW US$1 100 100 100 100 MEHRE
Cheerchoice Limited "™ Property investment
ERERARRA HK$200 100* 100* 100 100 REZR

Chinaland Management Limited Investment holding
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

50. X EME A RSB (Z) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
500 MBAR—RERZE) 50.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BRTEBERRE/
HAMERZED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA share capital/registered capital
EAREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEARRE FREES
HEAREH share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEXR
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
AENMEER(LB)ARAAE"Y  US§620,000 100 100 100 100 MEERRREER
Cornell Properties Services Property management and
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd." investment holding
REXLZEHERZERAFY  US$6,800,000 60 60 60 60 MEEE
Dalian Tian An Property Property development

Development Co., Ltd. "

AERZERAERRAR" US$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEBERRE
Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd. " Property development and
investment

ETREBRAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 WERE

Grand Kings Limited " Property investment

ETESERAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 #ERE

Grandview Square Limited " Property investment

EIESBERAR" HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 YEHRE

GRP VI Limited " Property investment

BEERARD" US$1 100 100 100 100 MERE

Hing Yip Holdings Limited "* ™ Property investment

BMTEB RIS HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 DEBEERNKE
BRAERARY Property development and

Huizhou Huiyang Danshui investment

Xinyangcheng Construction
Company Limited "

ERFRARAF HK$2 100 100 100 100 HUfERRE
Join View Development Limited Money lending services
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50. X EME A RIFE(Z) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
501 B AR —RER(Z) 50.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
ERTEBRRE
aM&ExZzED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/registered capital
ERREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREE REEER
HEAREE share capital/Paidup ~ Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
ARAHEXERAR" US$13,500,000 100 100 100 100 MEBERERE
Nanjing Tiandu Industry Property development and
Co., Ltd. @ investment
MRAREERBRAR" US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEEE
Nanjing Tianning Real Estate Property development
Co., Ltd. "4t
FRAZYEHELARLA" RMB134,696,700 100 100 100 100 MEEE
Nantong Tian An Cyberpark Property development
Development Company
Limited (ii) & (vii)
LESEERBRAR" RMB275,933,200 100 100 100 100 MEERREE
Shanghai Greentree | Property development and
Company Ltd. investment
LEsEEXERAR" RMB266,315,300 100 100 100 100 MEERREE
Shanghai Greentree I Property development and
Company Ltd. investment
LEBREXBRAR" RMB260,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERE
Shanghai Haibo Real Property investment

Estate Limited ™

EEERMELEARAAY  RMB37,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MFRE
Shanghai Haiguang Real Property investment
Estate Holdings Limited

EERBEEBRBAR RMB 140,000,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
Shanghai Haisen Real Property investment
Estate Limited ™
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For the year ended 31st December, 2019

50. X EMB A RS ®) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

500 MBAR—RERZE)

50.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEBERRE/
HAMERZED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA share capital/registered capital
EAREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEARRE FREES
HEAREH share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEXR
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
LEggsLaRLa" RMB66,000,000 100 100 100 100 YFEHRE
Shanghai Haiyi Real Property investment
Estate Limited "
FERZROARERAR" US$28,000,000 98 98 98 98 MEEERKE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Property development and
Building Co., Ltd. ™ investment
EERZARREERAR" RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 9 MEFRKRA
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Property development and
Co., Ltd. ™ investment
FEXREREBR AR RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERKEE
Shanghai Tianyang Real Property development and
Estate Co., Ltd. " investment
HERERBR AR Uss$1 100 100 100 100 HERE
Sing Hing Investment Limited " *' Property investment
MemARAA" US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERRERRELER
Sun Hai Tung Co., Ltd. Property development and
investment holding
TAC OPP | (The Lennox) Pty AU$100 100 - 100 - EEE
Limited Property development
Tian An Australia Limited AU$290,149,000 76.70 76.70 76.70 7670 YEERE

Property development
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50. X EM B A RS @) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

500 MBAR—RER(Z)

50.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

ERTEBRRE
aM&ExZzED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/registered capital
ERREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREE REEER
HEAREE share capital/Paidup ~ Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
REFEELERAT] HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 REZRRESEE
Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and
securities dealing
AR PEBERHERERRAR  HKS2 100* 100* 100 100 HEER
Tian An China Hotel and Property Investment holding
Investments Company Limited
REEE(RI)BRAR" HK$360,000,000 100 100 100 100 MFRARBALER
Tian An Investments Property investment and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ™ investment holding
AZ (KL REBRAF HK$2 100* 100* 100 100 RAZER
Tian An Pearl River Company Investment holding
Limited
A& (LB BEBRRA US$30,000,000 100" 100" 100 100 MEREALER
(IXZz L&) REER
Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Property development
Co., Ltd. (“TASH") @ and investment and
investment holding
BHAZESHEFARDA" RMB197,174,341 100 100 100 100 #MEEE
Tianan Intelligent Park Properties Property development
(Wuxi) Co., Ltd. &
BHLERBRAR" US$5,000,000 95 95 95 95 WEER

Wusxi Redhill Properties Co., Ltd "

Property development
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50. X EME A RSB (Z) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
501 EAR—RER (2 501 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BRTEERRE/
HAMERZED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA, share capital/registered capital
EHREMES NG
Paid up issued ordinary HEARRE KEBRERL
HEAREE share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2019 2018 2019 2018
% % % %
BHXEEXARLA" US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
Wuxi Tianxin Properties Co., Ltd. Property development
HEBREREHEFRLE" US$50,000,000 D900 99.99 99.99 99.99 WIEER

Property development

HESRMEEZREERARY  RMB900,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEEE
Property development

KR ER AR AR AT RMB6,975,000 100 100 100 100 $ERE
Property investment

RREREFRARAT"  US$30,000,000 100 - 100 - DEEE
Property development

R ORI EEABRAR"Y RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 ERE
Property investment

mERIEERAERAR" RMB10,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEHE
Property investment
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50. X EME A RIFE(Z)
500 MBAR—RER(Z)

Wizt -

() FEEFEELEE-

(i) TEAR B SZ F B BlAL M -
(i) ERBERESTMAL -

(iv) FEERBGEEE-

(v) AERINFEMAIZ I = BRI AL & EE -

vi) AAREERFERL LB60%ER @ MR T 240%
SRR — M BARIEE -

(vii) BANMIE32FTHERE - AKER=_T—NF+—A
ZHN\BEASEN—MEECEIVEERE -
BIEZEEE RS ASBERELHSHEEZ =R
BATINI100%Ez - R-T—hAhE+-A=+—
A BRZ-FNBRARAMNEERBREESEAR
EEERAR -

AEFRSIEETEERREAEE 2 XERE
ERIZFEZMBLRR - EERRIILEM
MBARZFEESERBRIE -

BEAFREIRA TFAIMERRREENER

é%/(\/ o
Az

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

50.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(i)  Operating principally in the PRC.

(ii) Established and operating principally in the PRC.

(iii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(iv) Operating principally in the United Kingdom.

(v) Incorporated and operating principally in Australia.

(vi) The 60% interest in TASH is held directly by the Company and the remaining
40% is held by a subsidiary.

As disclosed in note 32, on 28th November, 2019, the Group entered into
sale and purchase agreements with a joint venture of the Group. Pursuant to
the sale and purchase agreements, the Group agreed to sell its 100% equity
interest of these three subsidiaries. As at 31st December, 2019, the assets and

(vii

liabilities attributable to these three subsidiaries had been classified as assets
and liabilities held for sale.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.
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50. X EMB A RS ®) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

0 MEERFZEREZNIELZEHWE 502 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
ARIFE material non-controlling interests

TRINHAEE S EAIEREZEMIEERE  The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of

NN = the Group that has material non-controlling interests:
FERERFECRT
LERRARD L
RIUBERFEEEME  Percentage of ownership BA(ER) 2B
Place of incorporation of issued ordinary share ERERER R ERER
WEARER and principal place of capital held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
THET FERT THET FERT
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
GEMERERAN([REME]) BE 25.04 25.04 14,514 28,185 1,158,802 1,176,975

Asiasec Properties Limited (“ASL”)  Hong Kong

Tian An Australia Limited (“TIA") &M 23.30 23.30 (4,695) (20,171) 134,088 140,372
Australia

BAFFERER . ER
FEANBATF
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests (189) (1,105) 51,305 52,586

9,630 6,909 1,344,195 1,369,933
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50. X EME A RIFE(Z)

0 BEEERFERBESENFZENE
ACIEICE )

AR AREE—HEEE R EDNIEE
BB ARMMEEMBAMNT o Tt
BERERBENEHRISE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

502 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

EEE R BN L () ASL and its subsidiaries (Note)
2019 2018
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVEE Current assets 365,512 482,558
EMBEE Non-current assets 4,298,092 4,236,906
nRBEE Current liabilities (52,282) (34,750)
EMBBE Non-current liabilities (170,856) (171,651)
RABRREGEZ Equity attributable to owners
- of the Company 3,281,664 3,336,088
IR B 2 Equity attributable to
Eas non-controlling interests 1,158,802 1,176,975
WA Revenue 55,944 58,454
AR EREN Profit attributable to owners
il of the Company 43,464 84,404
IR R EAS Profit attributable to
i A non-controlling interests 14,514 28,185
N [ 5 A Profit for the year 57,978 112,589
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50. X EMB A RS ®) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

0 MEERFZEREZNIELZEHWE 502 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
UNGIE-1E D) material non-controlling interests (continued)

R E R BB L (FaE) (&) ASL and its subsidiaries (Note) (continued)

2019 2018
TET THTT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RNRAFIRREG Other comprehensive
Hfb2m expense attributable to
ZH owners of the Company (4,850) (3,072)
IR SR BN Other comprehensive
Hfbzm expense attributable to
ZH non-controlling interests (1,619) (992)
REFEAEE Other comprehensive expense
g8 for the year (6,469) (4,064)
KRR RIRREG Total comprehensive income
2 EKEE attributable to owners of
Rk the Company 38,614 81,332
SRR R LS Total comprehensive
2EER income attributable to
1B non-controlling interests 12,895 27,193
RERE R HEWES Total comprehensive income
4R for the year 51,509 108,525
SRNRIE = O S Dividend paid to
A% B, non-controlling interests 31,068 77,670
KEEEXH LIRS Net cash inflow from operating
MAHE activities 26,499 17,686
REREEBZRE Net cash inflow from investing
MAHE activities 108,254 37,715
AREEEB RE Net cash outflow used in
mEFEE financing activities (114,286) (304,135)
WERACRL ) FE Net cash inflow (outflow) 20,467 (248,734)

Biet : M EBBEMNSHER —S—NFRETEEY
WE - BEREEREREEER

TEHI A% -

Note: The amounts disclosed above have been adjusted for the fair value
adjustments on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets upon

acquisition of ASL in 2016.
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50. T EMf B A FEE) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
0 MEERFEZEREZENIEZENE 502 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
NEIFHEE) material non-controlling interests (continued)
TIAREW/& 24 7] TIA and its subsidiaries
2019 2018
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEVEE Current assets 25,521 51,795
IERBEE Non-current assets 684,877 627,540
mENEE Current liabilities (9,406) (76,770)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (125,402) -
RABIREREG Equity attributable to owners
- of the Company 441,502 462,193
FEEAR S e S Equity attributable to
I non-controlling interests 134,088 140,372
2019 2018
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 8,360 12,123
AR FELS Loss attributable to owners of
518 the Company (15,460) (66,414)
SRR R RS Loss attributable to
B non-controlling interests (4,695) (20,171)

REEEE Loss for the year (20,155) (86,585)
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50. X EME A RSB (Z) 50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

0 MEERFZEREZNIELZEHWE 502 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have

UNGIE-1E D) material non-controlling interests (continued)
TIARERB L a(#&) TIA and its subsidiaries (continued)
2019 2018
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RRABIRREG Other comprehensive
Htt 2| expense attributable to
B8 owners of the Company (5,231) (57,132)
FEIRI R RS Other comprehensive
Hibzm expense attributable to
=33 non-controlling interests (1,589) (17,352)
RFEEEMEE Other comprehensive expense
B for the year (6,820) (74,484)
A RIRERFE(GS Total comprehensive
THEMA expense attributable to
Rk owners of the Company (20,691) (123,546)
SRR AL Total comprehensive
HEM expense attributable to
kL] non-controlling interests (6,284) (37,523)
AFEETHER Total comprehensive expense
Pk for the year (26,975) (161,069)
ST IR R Dividend paid to non-controlling
[585) interests = -
(AR)REEEESZ Net cash (outflow used in)
Re(RE)RAFE inflow from operating activities (13,847) 4,656
ARREXB R Net cash outflow used in
mEFE investing activities (54,341) (194,638)
KERMEFH RS Net cash inflow from financing
MAFE activities 54,840 75,468
WL FE Net cash outflow (13,348) (114,514)
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51. X EBE N TRFHE 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RIMERR - NEBR T EZHZ QRIS At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
s following principal associates:
BB b
EXEDH
TEREHE Percentage of
BENTEE Principal place registered capital held TEER
Name of associate of operation by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
% %
EEEXARAR" B0 37.48 37.48  WMEEE
Kin Tong Land Investment Hong Kong Property investment
Company Limited ?
Zeta Estates Limited ” B8 24.99 2499 YEBEREE
Hong Kong Property development and
investment
LBEERLRREERIT & 30 30 MEER
Shanghai Property development
Hat - Note:
(i) EHED BB RE B X G AR KZeta Estates (i)  50% and 33.33% registered capital of Kin Tong Land Investment Company
Limited 50%%33.33%MFMER « MALKERFH Limited and Zeta Estates Limited respectively are held by ASL which

TEEMER74.96%(=F— \F :74.96%) Kz approximately 74.96% (2018: 74.96%) interests are held by the Group.
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5. TEEEEFE 52.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
RIWERR » NEBERTHEZSZEMEHES At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
B BRRAREN  ZERECEREPE  following principal joint ventures which are corporate joint ventures
FEM AR S A B 1 established in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
A KMo
EXEOL
TERE M Percentage of
EELEEE Principal place registered capital held TEEHR
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
% %
Crystal Idea Management Limited HEATES 50 50  HBER
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
RERLZSTRBRNSELTBRATF E S 75 75 RESBRRE
Dongguan Changan Jinyu Golf Club Dongguan Golf course operation
Co., Limited
BMmEBHEMNEERERLR" #B 50 50 WMEERERE
Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Panyu Property development and
Ecological Park Development Co., Ltd." investment
RERZZHRERBEERARAY R 50 50 YEREREERE
Tianjin Tian An Science Parks Tianjin Property development and
Development Limited™” investment
BNAREHEREERAR 1w 50 50 WMEEE
Beijing Property development
EMRLZEBHEXZAR AR #M 50 50 WMEEREKRE
Changzhou Property development and
investment
BERTEBHAR LAY BE 50 50 WEREREERE
Chonggqing Property development and

investment
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5. X ESEIEFEE) 52.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
A& B AT R
EXRBSL
TERLHE Percentage of
EHLELE Principal place registered capital held TEXEK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
% %
REMALZHBERERAFY R 39 39 YEZERLEE
Dongguan Property development and
investment
REmBEALEERAR AR R 45.05 45.05 WEEREREE
Dongguan Property development

and investment

Bl R L BERAR LR Bl 50 45 PERFRRKRE
Foshan Property development and
investment
TRRRYBHERFRAR" Ik 50 50 WMEERIKRE
Jiangyin Property development and
investment
FNARLZEBERELERAF A 50 50 WMREEMREER
Shenzhen Property management and

investment holding

A mRERZEETHERAR"Y el 50 50 WMEREBERMRE
Shenzhen Property development and
investment
RIRLZEEREZR(EH) el 50 50 WMEREBERMRE
BERR A Shenzhen Property development and
investment
AR LEAREERBR AR A 50 50 WMEERIRE
Shenzhen Property development and
investment
AL BB (ER) BRAA A 50 50 WMRBERAMRER
Shenzhen KREER

Property development and
investment and investment
holding
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5. FEREMEFEE )

52.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

(CONTINUED)
AEE G
EXBOH
TEREWH Percentage of

EHL¥ELE Principal place registered capital held TEXEK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
% %
RERZYEWAR DAY RE 50 50 WIEBEMLE
Tianjin Property development and
investment
SEARLYBEHERARY 58 50 50 WEBRIEE
Qingdao Property development and
investment
EOB(EAEHEREARAF] Il 60 60 MEEE
Nanjing Property development
MR EERR A BN 50 50 WIEERE
Suzhou Property development
Hiet - Notes:
() RESEEZHNARWE  AEEEEMEES (i) Based on the contractual agreements between the venturers, the Group and

HALREREZ BB REERRES HKRZS

1 o

the above joint ventures.

other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating policies of

(i) ZARA—HABCECRLHEM®(ELE)BRZA (i) The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, XZEi5H (£ B) B R A 7.

)2 WBAT -

(i) AT R—HEEERHE(Crystal Idea Management (i) The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, Crystal Idea Management

Limited) Z i@ A 7] °

Limited.

(ivy ZARIR—EaEEORNIRLHEEREZERE(E  (iv) The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, JRYI X LEEREER(EE)A

B)BRAR)ZHBAF

LEYNCIR

V) BZAFTRHEZZ-—NFTZA=+—HILFEH (v The company was acquired during the year ended 31st December, 2018.

s -
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53. A A B MR R K FHEE

53.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

¥INYNETL 3 O S The Company’s Statement of Financial Position
2019 201 8
HK$’000 HK$’000
RBEE Non-current assets
M - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 38,957 38,928
RIB AT 2 IRE Investments in subsidiaries 143,852 148,813
M A RIRER Amounts due from subsidiaries 12,813,862 13,204,136
REBhELRE Investments in joint ventures 9,816 10,154
13,006,487 13,402,031
REEE Current assets
YRR - Other receivables, deposits and
R R prepayments 1,591 2,510
BEBERK Amounts due from joint ventures 1,553 1,553
RITEEFERRE Bank balances and cash 901,641 760,972
904,785 765,035
mEBE Current liabilities
Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%m Other payables 24,549 27,764
FESTHT B A BI5RIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,171,565 2,677,745
WmEBE Tax liabilities 33,192 33,403
3,229,306 2,738,912
REBAEFE Net current liabilities (2,324,521) (1,973,877)
BEERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 10,681,966 11,428,154
AR i Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 3,788,814 3,788,814
(ki Reserves 6,893,152 7,639,340
10,681,966 11,428,154

RAFBFEMRARER T _ZTFAHNB The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
BEEeRBIIRETE - WHTHEEREKXE  authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 6th April, 2020 and is
E signed on its behalf by:

Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau
FRE R

Director Director

EF EF
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53. RRIMBMRR KRR HEiE D)

53.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

AR ERE R Movement in the Company’s reserves
BRER ERFE
(3] s
Special Exchange R2I0EF
capital  translation Retained et
reserve reserve earnings Total
THET T THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZE—-NF—H—H At 1st January, 2018 1,417,669 779,309 5,607,060 7,804,038
REEFF Profit for the year - - 403,158 403,158
BMEMEL L Exchange difference
ERE=R arising from translation - (266,502) - (266,502)
BEDE Dividend recognised
as distribution - - (301,354) (301,354)
RZE—N\F At 31st December,
+=—RA=+—H 2018 1,417,669 512,807 5,708,864 7,639,340
REFEEIE Loss for the year - - (51,076) (51,076)
BMEMREELZ Exchange difference
fERER arising from translation - (372,637) - (372,637)
BB E Dividend recognised
as distribution - - (301,354) (301,354)
&t (Bl B Repurchase of shares
(K15t37) (note 37) - - (21,121 (21,121)
RZZE—NF At 31st December,
+= )E]E+ 2019 1,417,669 140,170 5,335,313 6,893,152

R-ZE—HE+-_A=+—0 ' XATADIE
T IR 2 & AR = F5,335,313,0007% 7T
(=ZZ—)\4 : 5,708,864,000/87T) °

ERFRITHRESEERR Z S FHER
NEBIRR D EERRE - SLEBDRR D EE
MESZEREREFREARE  EAQA
RZZEZTMF=ANAZAEE2IEERN @ It
BETEEEDERE - R=_Z—NLF+=A
=t+—8 &2 TﬁAfj TNME=ZANHER
rEZBER - 15 14,064,0008TL(ZZF— N\
F 1 14,064,000 7C) WARIFIE °

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31st December, 2019 represent the retained earnings of
HK$5,335,313,000 (2018: HK$5,708,864,000).

When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region stipulated that the credit arising on the
reduction be transferred to a special capital reserve, and that reserve
was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the liabilities of
the Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were
settled. At 31st December, 2019, liabilities of the Company included
HK$14,064,000 (2018: HK$14,064,000) in respect of liabilities in
existence at 9th March, 2004.
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54. HEHREIR

(i)

(ii)

R-ZE-TF—F-H AAREBAEE
BERAR(HMEEE]) (BMEthELEE
f& ) FT S 1T AR TS & B B AR 7S o # o i
(ZZ2=2FRLR%HE]) 0 RiEE
EHEBMAEETYNBEZREEEMA
GRS E( S SF DM ERZ])

RE-Z_ZFRLZRGHE - ARFH
BEEIAEREBEGEBEHITLNHHRT
B B -TF A —A®E-_FT_—
F+ZA=+—HIEAB=F ' ERITK
AR R ERRETES 2 KA ENEE &
B Rz -_—_F+=-_A=+—H1t
—EYREEERBEERG 2 FEE LRE
2 7l /& 63,000,000 7T 69,300,000 7T
76,300,000 T °

BIE - - TFOEMERZS DR ME
BEESIMMEREBASEBET I NHRT
B A -TF—A—HREZZT=_—
F+_A=Z+—HILABH=F KBB4
SERGEMEREWEARRHERNSS
ERNEBRENERREES 2K A
ENBEER - RBEE-_T-_—_F+—
B=Z+-—BULEZEAVRFEZ2FELR
15  Bll &360,0007 7T ~ 396,000 7% 7T &
436,000/ 7T °

BT NFHFEERARE([FT-NF
MAERRS ) EERNEE - PEBA
HEBRNREERANEMERR_-F
“TEFENEROKERS - ARAKE
REPEBLRTE - BT _FTF— A
EHARBENEBERBRBEEARTE - &
HHBEEMENSNMSEEHRKAEY
&R —E-NFHUBRRERE
HEBZTEMSENBRAERE - RLFR
BUBHRREENR A - EFDENS
—E-NEHUERRSHEUAEER
REVER B B TS IRR BRI TR E

XL ERERRAR
201955k
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54.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

(ii)

On 2nd January, 2020, the Company entered into a sharing of
administrative services and management services agreement
(“2020 TACI Services Agreement”) with Allied Group Limited
(“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of APL; and ASL entered into
an internal audit services and management information system
services agreement (“2020 ASL Services Agreement”) with AGL.

Pursuant to the 2020 TACI Services Agreement, the Company
agreed to renew and extend the terms of an agreement entered
into with AGL for a period of three years commencing from Tst
January, 2020 and expiring on 31st December, 2022 and to
reimburse AGL the costs incurred in respect of the administrative
services and the management services. The relevant annual cap in
respect of the management services for each of the three financial
years ending 31st December, 2022 shall be HK$63,000,000,
HK$69,300,000 and HK$76,300,000.

Pursuant to the 2020 ASL Services Agreement, ASL agreed to
renew and extend the terms of an agreement entered into with
AGL for a period of three years commencing from 1st January,
2020 and expiring on 31st December, 2022 and to reimburse
AGL the costs incurred in respect of the provision of the internal
audit services and the management information system services
by AGL to ASL and its subsidiaries. The relevant annual cap for
each of the three financial years ending 31st December, 2022
shall be HK$360,000, HK$396,000 and HK$436,000.

The outbreak of the 2019 novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) in the
world and the subsequent quarantine measures imposed by the
Chinese government as well as the travel restrictions imposed by
other countries in early 2020 have had a severe negative impact
on the operations of the Group since January 2020, as most of
the Group’s operations are located in the PRC. It has a negative
impact on the market sentiment of the property market in the
PRC. In addition, the outbreak of COVID-19 also has a negative
impact on the retail market in Hong Kong. The Directors are still
assessing the financial impact that the COVID-19 will have on
the Group’s future consolidated financial statements as at the date
that these consolidated financial statements are authorised for
issue.
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
THT THT THT THT FAT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
ES: | RESULTS
N Revenue 1,029,359 1,894,465 1,112,881 3,291,719 2,221,904
FRARERRENE Profit for the year attributable to
il owners of the Company 2,600,020 5,712,954 2,054,142 1,251,202 1,345,942
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 31,561,142 33,691,834 37,156,441 39,014,757 41,049,624
Bak Total liabilities 14,406,804 11,640,439 12,271,401 13,761,746 15,454,453
ESlg 4 Non-controlling interests 16,008 538,184 1,459,760 1,369,933 1,344,195
AARIREIENS Equity attributable to owners
P 3 of the Company 17,138,330 21,513,211 23,425,280 23,883,078 24,250,976
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
REREE PER SHARE BASIS
FREREF(EIL) Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 172.56 379.15 136.33 83.04 89.35
FiARE (B Dividend per share (HK cents) 15 32.5 20 20 20
(Hit)
(Note)
ARRRREN 2 Net assets per share attributable
BREEFEGET) to owners of the Company (HK$) 11.4 14.3 15.6 15.9 16.2
Hiaz - Note:

BHEEF100R AR RN ED K13 T FHER D 2
2% EYH IR S RS T E HE 2 195,880,0348% A%

IDERRRIARE -

A special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in ASL on
the basis of 13 ASL Shares for every 100 shares of the Company.
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